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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K contains predictions, estimates and other forward-looking statements within
the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
and in reliance upon the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Readers should not put undue reliance on
these forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, some of which cannot be predicted
or quantified. Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s actual results may differ materially from the results projected in the forward-looking statements.
Factors that might cause such a difference include, but are not limited to, those discussed in this Report, including the “Risk Factors” in “ITEM 1 –
Business”, and in “ITEM 7 – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included in PART II.
Unless the context otherwise requires, all references to the “Company”, “we”, “us”, “our”, “Spectrum” and “Spectrum Pharmaceuticals” refer to
Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its subsidiaries, as a consolidated entity. We primarily conduct all our activities as Spectrum
Pharmaceuticals.
PART I
Item 1.

Business

Corporate Background and Business Strategy
Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. is a Delaware corporation which was originally incorporated in Colorado as Americus Funding Corporation in
December 1987, became NeoTherapeutics, Inc. in August 1996, was reincorporated in Delaware in June 1997, and was renamed Spectrum
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in December 2002. We are a pharmaceutical company engaged in the business of acquiring, developing and
commercializing proprietary and generic drug products which have a primary focus on the treatment of cancer and related disorders.
Our business strategy since August 2002 has two principal components: first, what we refer to as our Oncology Strategy, to acquire rights to
clinical-stage oncology drug candidates and either alone, or through alliances with other companies, develop and eventually commercialize those
drugs; and second, what we refer to as our Generic Drug Strategy, to seek to generate revenues from the sale of generic versions of drugs whose
patent protection expires in the near term. Prior to August 2002, when we announced a shift in our strategic focus, we were primarily engaged in
the discovery and development of neurology drugs as well as functional genomics research.
Our Oncology Strategy focuses on the acquisition, or in-licensing, and continued development of clinical-stage, novel drugs for the treatment
and supportive care of cancer patients. We currently have three drug candidates in clinical development: satraplatin, EOquin™ and elsamitrucin.
Of these product candidates, satraplatin is being co-developed by a third-party pharmaceutical company under an exclusive license, and the
others are being developed by us. We also plan to continue to pursue acquisitions, or in-licensing, of additional clinical-stage cancer drugs from
other companies and institutions. We believe that this method of drug development is a cost effective business strategy. However, to date our
Oncology Strategy has not produced any marketable products. We intend, either alone, or through alliances with other companies, to market our
oncology drug candidates if our clinical trials are successful and we obtain regulatory approval of our drug candidates.
The strategic focus on clinical stage drug candidates (those eligible for human trials) is designed to address certain risks of drug development
by shortening the timeline to marketability, and reducing the risk of failure, both of which are higher with an early stage product. Further, in order to
reduce our future financing needs to fund our oncology research and development, our plan is to generate revenues from the sale of generic
versions of drugs coming off-patent over the next several years.
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Our Generic Drug Strategy is to identify and acquire distribution rights for selected generic drugs both directly and through alliances with third
party companies, apply our expertise and experience to further develop and pursue regulatory approval for those drugs, then either directly or
through third party alliances, market and distribute those generic drugs into retail and institutional channels. During 2003, we filed with the United
States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) three Abbreviated New Drug Applications (ANDA) for the generic drugs ciprofloxacin, carboplatin and
fluconazole. We intend to file several additional ANDAs during 2004 and beyond. We have entered into product supply and distribution alliances in
order to manufacture and sell our generic drug candidates and intend to enter into additional alliances in the future.
We also have several neurology drug compounds that we intend to out-license for further development because we are not pursuing internally,
and do not presently intend to pursue internally, further development of these drug compounds, which include: AIT-034 for dementia, SPPI-339 for
attention deficit disorders, SPPI-356 for psychosis, schizophrenia and other mood disorders and Neotrofin™ for neurodegenerative (degeneration
of the nervous system) diseases.
Drug Candidates
Our drug candidates, their target indications, and status of development are summarized in the following table:
Drug Candidate

Target Indication

Satraplatin

ONCOLOGY
Hormone Refractory Prostate Cancer

EOquin™

Superficial Bladder Cancer

Elsamitrucin

Radiation Sensitization
Refractory non-Hodgkin’s Lymphoma

Ciprofloxacin
Carboplatin
Fluconazole

GENERICS
Anti-bacterial
Anti-cancer
Anti-fungal

Development Status

Phase 3 clinical trial began in September
2003; FDA granted fast track status in
September 2003
Phase 2 clinical trial began November
2003
Pre-clinical
Phase 2 clinical trial expected to begin in
2004
ANDA filed January 2003
ANDA filed October 2003
ANDA filed December 2003

While other indications have not yet been identified, some of our drug candidates may prove to be beneficial in additional disease indications
as we continue to study and develop these drug candidates.
Oncology Strategy
Cancer is the second leading cause of death in the United States, accounting for approximately 25% of all deaths. In the United States,
approximately 1.4 million new cancer cases are expected to be diagnosed in 2004 and over 563,000 persons are expected to die from the disease
in 2004. Accordingly, demand for improved and novel cancer treatments is very high.
Cancer occurs when abnormal cells divide without control. These cells can invade nearby tissues or spread through the bloodstream and
lymphatic system to other parts of the body. 5 to 10 percent of all cancers are believed to be due to inheriting a faulty gene. The remaining 90 to
95 percent are believed to be caused by damage to the genes during a person’s lifetime. These damaging agents can be internal, such as
hormones or an altered immune system, or external, such as viruses, tobacco, and exposure to chemicals or harmful ultraviolet sunrays.
Sometimes ten or more years may pass between exposure and cancer detection. Cancer is treated by surgery, chemotherapy, radiation therapy,
hormonal therapy and immunotherapy.
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We believe that traditional chemotherapeutic agents are likely to remain the mainstay therapy for cancer for the foreseeable future. However,
we continue to seek additional novel drugs, delivery methods and combination therapies that address cancer or cancer related indications with
significant unmet medical need. Accordingly, we are actively seeking novel and proprietary oncology drug candidates that:
• have demonstrated initial safety and efficacy in clinical trials;
• target oncology, or cancer, indications with significant unmet medical need, where current treatments either do not exist or are not effective;
and
• we believe are acquirable at a fair value based on our judgment of clinical and commercial potential.
We believe that our strategy of in-licensing late-stage oncology drug candidates (with prior test data) rather than developing early-stage
oncology drugs, enables us to better select drug candidates with promising potential. Since these drug candidates are further along the typical drug
development timeline, we are better positioned to potentially generate product revenues earlier, if our clinical trials are successful and we obtain
regulatory approval of our drug candidates.
To date, we have in-licensed three clinical-stage oncology drug candidates discussed below. We believe these drug candidates have the
potential to be effective therapeutic agents with less adverse side-effects than drugs currently on the market for the same indication. Our goal is to
develop and, if successful, commercialize these drugs in the United States and worldwide.
Satraplatin: Satraplatin, a third generation (the first and second generation being cisplatin and carboplatin, respectively) orally administered
platinum-derived chemotherapy agent, is being developed by our co-development partner GPC Biotech AG (Frankfurt Stock Exchange: GPC) as a
second-line chemotherapy treatment for its initial indication, hormone-refractory prostate cancer (HRPC). Cancer is referred to as refractory when it
has not responded or is no longer responding to previous treatment.
Prostate cancer is the second leading cause of cancer deaths in men. According to figures released by the American Cancer Society,
approximately 230,110 new cases and 29,990 deaths will occur in the U.S. during 2004. The initial treatment of prostate cancer includes surgery
along with radiation therapy and hormonal therapy. Although hormonal therapy is generally very effective, and produces a response in most
patients, it is non-curative. The average duration of response to initial hormonal treatment is eighteen months. Once the disease progresses after
the initial hormonal treatment, it is considered hormone refractory. For those patients failing hormone therapy, treatment currently involves
chemotherapy which is also non-curative and is limited to improvement of symptoms of cancer without any significant prolongation of survival.
Platinum compounds, like satraplatin, continue to represent one of the most widely used classes of chemotherapeutic agents in modern
cancer therapy and are typically used in combination with other chemotherapeutic agents for the treatment of various types of cancer including
prostate cancer.
While the platinum compounds currently on the market are intravenously administered, satraplatin is an orally administered compound. We
believe an orally administered platinum-derived chemotherapeutic agent may offer important clinical and commercial advantages over platinum
drugs that need to be intravenously administered in a hospital setting, including ease of administration and patient convenience. These
advantages, in turn, could potentially lead to improved patient compliance as well as potential cost savings to patients and the healthcare system.
A pivotal Phase 3 trial, the SPARC (Satraplatin and Prednisone Against Refractory Cancer) trial for satraplatin in HRPC, was initiated by GPC
Biotech in September 2003, following completion of an assessment by a special committee of the FDA. Also in September 2003, the FDA granted
fast track designation to satraplatin as a second-line chemotherapy for patients with HRPC. In February 2004, GPC Biotech announced the receipt
of a Scientific Advice Letter from the European Agency for the Evaluation of Medicinal Products (EMEA) enabling the Phase 3 pivotal trial on
satraplatin to proceed in Europe using the SPARC protocol.
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The decision to pursue HRPC as the initial indication for satraplatin was based, among other things, on results from a randomized, 50-patient
study initiated in June 1998 in first-line chemotherapy for HRPC sponsored by Bristol-Myers Squibb that were presented at the American Society
of Clinical Oncology Annual Meeting in June 2003. The data demonstrated statistically significant improvement in time to disease progression and
doubling of progression-free survival in the satraplatin-treated group compared to the control group
In addition to HRPC, satraplatin has shown initial indication of anti-tumor activity in ovarian and small cell lung cancer, among others, in
Phase 2 trials conducted to date.
In August 2001, we in-licensed satraplatin from its developer, Johnson Matthey PLC, in exchange for an upfront fee, additional payments to be
made based upon achievement of certain milestones and royalties based on any net sales, if and when a commercial drug is approved and sales
are initiated.
In September 2002, we entered into a co-development and license agreement with GPC Biotech for further development and
commercialization of satraplatin. Under the terms of this agreement, GPC Biotech agreed to fully fund the development expenses for satraplatin,
and to pay us an initial license fee of $4 million, including $2 million received upon signing, and $1 million in cash and $1 million as an equity
investment in shares of our common stock received in the fourth quarter of 2003, following the initial dosing of the first patient treated in the
ongoing Phase 3 study. We may receive additional payments based upon achievement of certain regulatory and commercialization milestones, as
well as royalties on any future sales. The development plans for satraplatin are established by a joint development committee with members from
both Spectrum and GPC Biotech, however, members from GPC Biotech represent a majority of the committee and the final procedures are
effectively decided and implemented by GPC Biotech. We have the ability to perform additional studies, if so desired, at our expense.
EOquin™: EOquin (EO9, apaziquone), a synthetic prodrug (an inactive drug compound) which is activated by certain enzymes present in
higher amounts in cancer cells than in normal tissues, is currently being developed for its initial indication, superficial bladder cancer, or cancer
which has not invaded the muscle of the bladder wall.
The American Cancer Society estimates that there will be 60,240 new cases and 12,710 deaths from bladder cancer in 2004 in the
U.S. Superficial bladder cancer accounts for 75 to 80 percent of all cases of bladder cancer at first diagnosis. The initial treatment of this cancer is
surgical removal of the tumor. Because of the high frequency of early recurrences of the tumor, patients are usually prescribed additional therapy
to prevent or delay such recurrences. This additional therapy generally consists of immunotherapy or chemotherapy drugs instilled directly into the
bladder.
Since EOquin is activated preferentially within tumor cells, we believe it carries a lesser risk of killing or harming normal body cells. During the
fourth quarter of 2003, we initiated a multi-national, multi-center Phase 2 clinical trial. The decision to initiate Phase 2 trials in this indication was
based, among other things, on results from Phase 1 trials that demonstrated that EOquin was safe, with no systemic toxicity, and was well
tolerated at the dose level chosen for the Phase 2 trials. More importantly, EOquin demonstrated an initial indication of anti-tumor activity against
superficial bladder cancer, as evidenced by six of eight patients showing a complete response (complete disappearance of the tumor as confirmed
by biopsy) after receiving six treatments with EOquin over a period of six weeks. Of these six patients, none has experienced a recurrence, and
two were free of tumor recurrence at the end of 12 months. One of the purposes of the ongoing Phase 2 trials is to determine the level of antitumor activity in a larger number of patients.
We have also initiated an investigation of whether EOquin may have potential utility as a radiation sensitizer in the treatment of certain
cancers. Radiotherapy along with chemotherapy has been the primary treatment for a number of cancers. Certain types of cancer cells can be
primed through pre-treatment by a radiation sensitizer to respond better to radiation therapy.
In 2001, we in-licensed EOquin and numerous related derivates from the NDDO Research Foundation in the Netherlands, in exchange for an
up front fee, additional payments based upon achievement of certain milestones and a royalty based on net sales, if and when a commercial drug
is approved and sales are initiated.
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Elsamitrucin: Elsamitrucin, an anti-tumor antibiotic that acts as a dual inhibitor of two key enzymes involved in DNA replication,
topoisomerase I and II, is currently being developed for its initial indication, refractory non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma.
Non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma is a tumor arising from the lymph nodes. According to the American Cancer Society, an estimated 54,370 new
cases and 20,730 deaths will occur from non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma in 2004 in the U.S. In early stages, localized diseased lymph nodes can be
treated with radiation therapy. Later stages of this disease are treated with chemotherapy or with chemotherapy plus radiation and highly specific
monoclonal antibodies depending on the type of non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma. We believe elsamitrucin may prove to be an important addition in
treating refractory non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma patients because it has shown some activity when used alone and it has exhibited a relatively low
level of associated toxicity.
By inhibiting the activity of the two key enzymes involved in DNA replication, elsamitrucin is thought to lead to DNA breaks that prevent the
correct replication of DNA and ultimately result in cancer cell death. We plan to initiate an approximately 80 patient, Phase 2 trial in patients with
refractory non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma, during the second quarter of 2004. In clinical trials conducted to date, elsamitrucin has also demonstrated a
favorable side effect profile, notably, minimal toxicity to bone marrow.
We in-licensed elsamitrucin from its developer, Bristol-Myers Squibb, in 2001, in exchange for an upfront fee, additional payments based upon
achievement of milestones and a royalty based on net sales, if and when a commercial drug is approved and sales are initiated.
Generic Drug Strategy
As a result of the number of branded pharmaceutical products coming off patent over the next decade, combined with the aging
U.S. population and cost-containment efforts by the U.S. Federal Government and private insurance payors, we believe the U.S. market for
generic drugs will display continued growth. We hope to capitalize on that growth and generate revenues to help fund our oncology research and
development.
Once we identify a generic drug candidate and secure a possible supplier of either the active pharmaceutical ingredient of the drug or the
dosage form, we begin our own development and initiate regulatory approval processes. For generic drugs, the regulatory approval process
includes preparation and submission to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) of an Abbreviated New Drug Application (ANDA).
The ANDA is a process created by the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 for the accelerated approval of
generic drugs. Among the many topics that must be covered in an ANDA is a demonstration that the generic drug has both bio-equivalence, which
means that the rate and extent of absorption of the generic drug in the body is substantially equivalent to the previously approved branded drug,
and chemical equivalence to the reference listed brand-name product, and that distribution of the generic drug will not infringe any existing
patent(s) or is otherwise lawful.
During 2003, we filed ANDAs for ciprofloxacin, carboplatin and fluconazole. We have identified additional generic drugs that we believe
represent desirable market opportunities and we intend to file several additional ANDAs during 2004 and beyond. Future ANDA filings may be
prepared directly through our internal development program, or jointly with current or new business alliance partners. The success of our Generic
Drug Strategy depends significantly upon our relationships with our active pharmaceutical ingredient or dosage form suppliers based in India and
other countries and our ability to develop and expand distribution channel relationships in the United States because we currently have no internal
manufacturing or distribution capabilities. We believe our relations with our existing partners to be good, and we believe those relationships provide
a good foundation for launching our Generic Drug Strategy. The long term success of our Generic Drug Strategy, however, depends in significant
part on our ability to continue to improve and expand our existing relationships and establish new relationships with additional drug source and
distribution partners, and otherwise enlarge and enhance our generic drug distribution capability, particularly in the United States.
5
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Business Alliances
In seeking business alliances in connection with our Generic Drug Strategy, we have focused, in particular, on seeking alliances with active
pharmaceutical ingredient and dosage form companies based in India that have demonstrated expertise and capability to produce high quality
products cost effectively with sufficient production capability to supply a distribution program in the United States. In addition, we have focused on
seeking alliances with distribution companies with the necessary experience and expertise to market and distribute our generic drug candidates.
During 2004 we will continue to seek new alliances (in India and elsewhere) to expand the portfolio of generic drug candidates available to us and
advance our overall Generic Drug Strategy.
The following are our current business alliance partners:
J.B. Chemicals & Pharmaceuticals Ltd. (JBCPL) operates 11 manufacturing facilities in India, which produce active pharmaceutical
ingredients, intermediates (“building blocks” in chemical compounds), finished dosage form pharmaceuticals and herbal remedies. JBCPL’s
products are marketed in over 50 countries. JBCPL has been a participant in the pharmaceutical industry for more than 25 years.
In 2002, Spectrum and JBCPL formed a joint venture named NeoJB LLC, a Delaware limited liability company. NeoJB is 80% and 20% owned
by Spectrum and a subsidiary of JBCPL, respectively. In conjunction with the formation of NeoJB, we granted a five-year warrant to JBCPL to
purchase up to 4,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $11.25 per share, equal to the market price of our common stock on the
date of grant. Through NeoJB, we intend to utilize JBCPL’s drug manufacturing capabilities to produce selected generic drug products and to
market those generic drugs in the United States.
In 2002, NeoJB entered into an agreement with JBCPL under which JBCPL granted NeoJB an exclusive license to obtain regulatory approval
for market and distribute certain products, including ciprofloxacin and fluconazole, within the United States. The agreement contemplates, and the
parties expect, that additional products may be added to the agreement from time to time. The agreement provides that we, or NeoJB, will bear all
costs of regulatory approvals for the products and that JBCPL will manufacture and supply to NeoJB the products in such quantities as NeoJB
may require at prices reasonably acceptable to both parties. The agreement provides that JBCPL shall not enter into any distribution or sale
arrangement or grant any license with respect to any product covered by the agreement in the United States unless it first offers to enter into a
supply agreement with NeoJB pursuant to certain procedures and conditions. In addition, the agreement provides that NeoJB shall not, for 5 years
from the later of the termination of the agreement or expiration of the applicable patents, market in the United States any products which would
compete with the distribution, marketing or sale of the products covered by the agreement. The agreement continues so long as JBCPL or any of
its affiliates is a member of NeoJB or until jointly terminated by the parties.
Under our alliance agreement with JBCPL, an entity affiliated with JBCPL agreed to invest $1 million in our common stock. The first $250,000
was invested in 2003 following acceptance by the FDA of our ANDA filing for ciprofloxacin, for 125,565 shares of our common stock at a price per
share of $1.99 (equal to the closing price of our common stock on the date immediately prior to the date of acceptance of the ANDA by the FDA),
and the remaining $750,000 will be invested if and when the ANDA is approved, at a price per share equal to the closing price of our common
stock on the date immediately prior to the date of approval of the ANDA by the FDA.
FDC Limited, based in Mumbai, India, has been manufacturing pharmaceuticals for over 60 years. FDC Limited manufactures, among other
products, active pharmaceutical ingredients and certain oral, ophthalmic and otic drugs at their manufacturing facilities, and is actively selling
certain active pharmaceutical ingredients produced at their FDA approved facilities in India into the United States market.
In 2003, Spectrum and FDC Limited entered into an agreement under which Spectrum, on behalf of FDC Limited, will prepare and file with the
FDA one or more ANDAs for certain ophthalmic drugs manufactured by FDC, and thereafter, if the ANDA is approved by the FDA, market those
products in the United States as FDC’s exclusive distributor either directly or through third parties. The agreement
6
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contemplates, and the parties expect, that additional products may be added to the agreement from time to time. The agreement provides that all
product registrations and ANDAs for drugs covered by the agreement shall be obtained by us in FDC’s name at our cost and that FDC will
manufacture and supply to us the products in such quantities as we may require at prices reasonably acceptable to both parties. The agreement
continues until jointly terminated by the parties. However, either party may terminate the agreement upon material breach by the other party or
upon the failure to reach certain milestones within specified time periods. In addition, either party may terminate the agreement upon failure to
agree to a mutually satisfactory supply price with respect to the products, in which case FDC is prohibited from selling such products within the
United States for a price less than that offered to us under the agreement.
Lannett Company, Inc., based in Philadelphia, is a pharmaceutical manufacturing and distribution company that markets and distributes
generic drugs. In August 2003, we entered into an agreement with Lannett under which it will be our exclusive distributor for ciprofloxacin in the
United States. The agreement provides that the parties shall mutually agree on an annual minimum amount of ciprofloxacin that Lannett must use
its commercially reasonable efforts to market and sell in the United States. The agreement contemplates, and the parties expect, that additional
products may be added to the agreement from time to time. Lannett agrees that if it decides to distribute any products other than ciprofloxacin
under this agreement, that it will not, without our prior written consent, market, distribute or sell any product that competes with such additional
products. The agreement continues for 18 months after the date upon which we are first allowed to sell ciprofloxacin in the United States, unless
renewed by mutual agreement.
Generic Products
The following are our current generic drug candidates:
Ciprofloxacin. Ciprofloxacin is a synthetic, broad-spectrum anti-bacterial agent that is indicated for the treatment of infections caused by
susceptible strains of microorganisms in certain diseases. Ciprofloxacin is available in multiple dosage forms including tablets, oral suspension,
otic, intravenous infusion and ophthalmic preparations. In March 2003, through our affiliate NeoJB and on behalf of JBCPL (our joint venture
partner in NeoJB), we filed an ANDA for ciprofloxacin tablets. Although no assurance can be given, we hope to receive FDA approval during 2004.
Our ciprofloxacin tablets will be manufactured by JBCPL utilizing its FDA approved facility in India.
The total U.S. market size for the branded form of ciprofloxacin, Cipro®, is estimated at over $1 billion dollars. However, because the brand
name company retains some portion of the unit market for the branded product post-patent expiration and may introduce innovative dosage forms
of the branded product such as extended release forms before or immediately following patent expiration of the branded drug, the market size for
the generic drug is usually smaller than the market for the branded form of the drug. The U.S. patent for Cipro®, held by Bayer Pharmaceuticals
Corp. expired in December 2003. The FDA granted pediatric exclusivity (discussed below under “Patents and Proprietary Rights”) to Bayer which
expires in June 2004. We intend to begin marketing and selling the tablet dosage form of ciprofloxacin through our alliance with Lannett if and when
ANDA approval is given by the FDA and following the expiration of the pediatric exclusivity period.
Carboplatin. Carboplatin is an anti-cancer drug indicated for the initial treatment of advanced ovarian cancer in combination with other
approved chemotherapeutic agents and for the palliative treatment of patients with ovarian cancer recurrent after prior chemotherapy, including
patients treated with cisplatin, another chemotherapeutic agent. In October 2003, we filed an ANDA for an injectable form of carboplatin.
The total U.S. market size for the branded form of carboplatin, Paraplatin®, is estimated at over $700 million. The U.S. patent for Paraplatin®,
held by Bristol-Myers Squibb Co., expires in April 2004. If FDA approval for our ANDA is obtained, we intend to begin marketing and sales of
carboplatin immediately following such approval and the expiration of the patent. We will likely use one or more third party distributors with
particular experience distributing injectable oncology drugs to carry out our distribution plan. We cannot at this time, however, provide any
assurance that we either will establish distributor arrangements with third party distributors or will be able to acquire the necessary quantities of the
drug from our supply sources on commercially feasible terms or terms otherwise acceptable to us.
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Fluconazole. Fluconazole is a synthetic anti-fungal agent indicated for the treatment of localized and systemic fungal infections. Fluconazole
is available in multiple dosage forms including tablets, oral suspension and intravenous infusion. In December 2003, through NeoJB, we filed an
ANDA for fluconazole tablets on behalf of JBCPL. We have entered into a supply agreement with JBCPL pursuant to which JBCPL will
manufacture fluconazole for NeoJB utilizing JBCPL’s FDA approved facility in India.
The total U.S. market size for the branded form of fluconazole, Diflucan®, is estimated at over $600 million. The original patent for Diflucan®,
held by Pfizer Inc., expired on January 29, 2004. The FDA granted pediatric exclusivity to Pfizer until July 29, 2004. Following the expiration of the
pediatric exclusivity period and subject to FDA approval of our ANDA, we intend to begin marketing and selling fluconazole using one or more
third-party distributors with experience selling generic drug products into retail and institutional channels. We cannot provide assurance at this time
that we will successfully establish distributor arrangements with a qualified third party distributor for this generic drug product.
Patents and Proprietary Rights
The Patent Process
The United States Constitution provides Congress with the authority to secure for limited times to inventors the exclusive right to their
discoveries. Congress codified this right in United States Code Title 35 which gave the patent office the right to grant patents to inventors and
defined the process for securing a U.S. patent. This process involves the filing of a patent application that teaches a person having ordinary skill in
the respective art how to make and use the invention in clear and concise terms. The invention must be novel (not previously known) and nonobvious (not an obvious extension of what is already known). The patent application concludes with a series of claims that specifically describe
the subject matter that the patent applicant considers his invention.
The patent office undertakes an examination process that can take from one to five years depending on the complexity of the patent and the
problems encountered during examination. Generally, the less novel an invention is, the longer the examination process will last.
In exchange for disclosing the invention to the public, the successful patent applicant is provided a right to exclude others from making, using
or selling the claimed invention for a period of 20 years from the filing date of the patent application.
Under certain circumstances a patent term may be extended. Patent extensions are most frequently granted in the pharmaceutical and
medical device industries under the Drug Price Competition and Pricing Term Restoration Act of 1984, to recover some of the time lost during the
FDA regulatory process, subject to a number of limitations and exceptions. The patient term may be extended up to a maximum of five years,
however, as a general rule, the average extension period granted for a new drug is approximately three years and approximately 18 months for a
new medical device. Only one patent can be extended per FDA approved product and a patent can only be extended once.
Generic Drugs and Pediatric Exclusivity
As an incentive for pharmaceutical companies to research the safety and efficacy of their brand name drugs for use in pediatric populations,
Congress enacted the Food & Drug Administration Modernization Act of 1997 which included a pediatric exclusivity for brand name drugs. This
pediatric exclusivity protects drug products from generic competition for six months after their patents expire in exchange for research on children.
For example, if a pharmaceutical company owns a patent covering a brand name drug they can only exclude third parties from selling generic
versions of that drug until that patent expires. However, if the FDA grants a brand named drug pediatric exclusivity the FDA will not approve of the
sale of any generic drugs for six months beyond the patent term covering the brand name drug. Thus, the pediatric exclusivity effectively extends
the brand named company’s patent protection for six months. This extension applies to all dosage forms and uses that the original patent(s)
covered.
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Our Patent and Proprietary Rights
We in-license from third parties certain patent and related intellectual property rights. In particular, we have licensed rights with respect to
satraplatin, EOquin and elsamitrucin from Johnson Matthey PLC, the NDDO Research Foundation (in the Netherlands) and Bristol-Myers Squibb,
respectively, in each case for the remaining life of the applicable patents. Our agreements provide us with exclusive worldwide rights to, among
other things, develop, sublicense, and sell the drug candidates. We are responsible for all development, patent filing and maintenance costs
(except with regard to patent filing and maintenance costs for satraplatin), sales, marketing and liability insurance costs. Our protection,
preservation and infringement-free commercial exploitation of these patents and related intellectual property rights is very important to the
successful execution of our Oncology Strategy.
In connection with our Generic Drug Strategy, we have filed ANDAs for ciprofloxacin and fluconazole on behalf of JBCPL. JBCPL will own the
ANDAs and we will have the exclusive license to market and distribute those drugs within the United States. We filed our own ANDA for
carboplatin and we plan to file other ANDAs in the future for our own account and on behalf of others.
We also hold U.S. and foreign patent rights related to our neurology drug candidates. All neurology patents were assigned to us by the
inventors, including Dr. Alvin Glasky (a former Chairman and CEO of the Company) and McMaster University, for certain royalty payments. We
intend to out-license these patent rights for further development because we are not pursuing internally, and do not presently intend to pursue
internally, further development of any products based on the neurology patents.
In addition to the specific intellectual property subjects discussed above, we have filed for certain trademark protections. In conducting our
business generally, we rely upon trade secrets, know-how, licensing arrangements and appropriate and customary practices for the protection of
our confidential and proprietary information.
Please also read our discussion of patent and intellectual property matters in the “RISK FACTORS” section of this report.
Competition
The pharmaceutical industry is characterized by rapidly evolving technology and intense competition. Many companies of all sizes, including a
number of large pharmaceutical companies as well as many specialized pharmaceutical companies, engage in drug development activities and
generic drug marketing activities similar to ours.
Our Oncology Strategy competitors that have products on the market or in research and development that are in the same clinical focus as us
include Amgen, Inc., Bayer AG, Eli Lilly and Co., Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation, Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, Glaxo SmithKline,
Biogen-IDEC Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Guilford Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Cephalon, Inc., Aventis Pharmaceuticals Inc., Pfizer, Inc., AVI Biopharma,
Inc., Chiron Corp., Corixa Corp., Genta Inc., Imclone Systems Incorporated, MGI Pharma, Inc. and SuperGen, Inc., among others. Many of our
competitors are large and well capitalized companies such as Eli Lilly and Co. and Bristol-Myers Squibb focusing on a wide range of diseases and
drug indications, and have substantially greater financial, research and development, human and other resources than we do. Furthermore, large
pharmaceutical companies have significantly more experience than we do in pre-clinical testing, human clinical trials and regulatory approval
procedures, among other things.
Technologies under development by these and other pharmaceutical companies could result in treatments for diseases and disorders for which
we are developing our own treatments. Several other companies are engaged in research and development of compounds that are similar to our
research. In the event that one or more of these programs is successful, the market for some of our drug candidates could be reduced or
eliminated.
Companies that have a significant generic presence include American Pharmaceutical Partners, Bedford Laboratories, Barr Laboratories,
Sicor, Inc., Teva Pharmaceuticals and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Some
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additional competitors in the generics market include Eon Labs, Inc., Pliva, Inc., Impax Laboratories, Inc. and Akorn, Inc., a competitor particularly
in the field of generic ophthalmic drugs. The generic market is particularly price sensitive and price competitive and success in the generic
business is dependent upon many factors, including: FDA approval, ability to launch at patent expiration of the brand name drug product and the
number of generic competitors entering the market. Although we believe that our Generic Drug Strategy, and particularly our alliances with Indiabased pharmaceutical companies who are able to manufacture drugs at their FDA-approved plants, provides us an opportunity to compete in the
generic drug markets we have identified, we have not yet sold any generic drugs, or had any approved, and can not provide any assurance that our
entry into these markets will be successful or profitable.
Any product for which we obtain FDA approval must also compete for market acceptance and market share. For example, cisplatin and
carboplatin are the most prevalent platinum-based derivatives used in chemotherapy and are the primary treatment for many of the cancer types
we are pursuing. Our drug candidate, satraplatin, if the FDA approves it for sale, would likely compete against these drugs directly. Unless
satraplatin is shown to have better efficacy and is as cost effective, if not more cost effective, than cisplatin and carboplatin, it may not gain
acceptance by the medical field and therefore never be successful commercially. Competition for branded drugs is less driven by price and is
more focused on innovation in treatment of disease, advanced drug delivery and specific clinical benefits over competitive drug therapies.
We expect technological developments and improvements in the fields of our business to continue to occur at a rapid rate and, as a result,
expect competition to remain intense. Please also read our discussion of competition matters in the “RISK FACTORS” section of this report.
Sales and Marketing
In previous years we did not have any products or services to market, and therefore, had no marketing, sales, or distribution organization. In
anticipation of FDA approval of our ANDAs for our generic drugs, in 2003 we entered into an agreement with Lannett Company to market and
distribute our first generic drug, ciprofloxacin, if and when our ANDA is approved by the FDA. We also intend to seek alliances with other third
parties to assist us in the marketing and sale of our other drug candidates. In addition, in 2003 we hired a vice president of marketing and sales
and intend to hire additional sales and marketing personnel in the future, as needs dictate.
Research and Development
From our inception through September 2002, we devoted substantially all of our resources and efforts to early stage drug research and
development. Commencing with the launch of our new business strategy in August 2002, we eliminated early stage drug research and
development and focused our research and development efforts on development of later stage drug product candidates that are already in or about
to enter human clinical trials. Research and development expenditures are expensed as we incur them and were approximately $4 million in 2003,
$12 million in 2002, and $21 million in 2001.
Governmental Regulation
The production and marketing of our oncology and generic drug products are subject to regulation for safety, efficacy and quality by numerous
governmental authorities in the United States and other countries. In the United States, drugs are subject to rigorous regulation. The Federal Food,
Drug and Cosmetics Act, as amended from time to time, and the regulations promulgated thereunder, as well as other federal and state statutes
and regulations, govern, among other things, the testing, manufacture, safety, efficacy, labeling, storage, record keeping, approval, advertising and
promotion of our proposed products. Product development and approval within this regulatory framework, including for drugs already at a clinical
stage of development, can take many years and require the expenditure of substantial resources. In addition to obtaining FDA approval for each
product, each drug manufacturing establishment must be registered with, and approved by, the FDA. Domestic manufacturing establishments are
subject to regular inspections by the FDA and must comply with Good Manufacturing Practices. To supply products for use in the United States,
foreign
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manufacturing establishments must also comply with Good Manufacturing Practices and are subject to periodic inspection by the FDA or by
regulatory authorities in certain of such countries under reciprocal agreements with the FDA.
General Information about the Drug Approval Process
The United States system of new drug approval is one of the most rigorous in the world. Only a small percentage of compounds that enter the
pre-clinical testing stage are ever approved for commercialization. Our Oncology Strategy focuses on in-licensing clinical stage drug candidates
that are already in or about to enter human clinical trials. This strategic focus on clinical stage drug candidates (those eligible for human trials) is
designed to address certain risks of drug development by shortening the timeline to marketability and reducing the risk of failure, both of which are
higher with an early stage product.
The following general comments about the drug approval process are relevant to the development activities we are undertaking with our
Oncology drugs.
Pre-clinical Testing: During the pre-clinical testing stage, laboratory and animal studies are conducted to show biological activity of a drug
compound against the targeted disease and the compound is evaluated for safety.
Investigational New Drug Application: After pre-clinical testing, an Investigation New Drug Application is submitted to the FDA to begin human
testing of the drug.
Phase 1 Clinical Trials: After an Investigational New Drug Application becomes effective, Phase 1 human clinical trials can begin. These trials,
involving small numbers of healthy volunteers or patients usually define a drug candidate’s safety profile, including the safe dosage range.
Phase 2 Clinical Trials: In Phase 2 clinical trials, controlled studies of volunteer human patients with the targeted disease are conducted to
assess the drug’s effectiveness. These studies are designed primarily to determine the appropriate dose levels and to evaluate the effectiveness
of the drug on humans, as well as to determine if there are any side effects on humans.
Phase 3 Clinical Trials: This Phase usually involves large numbers of patients with the targeted disease. During the Phase 3 clinical trials,
physicians monitor the patients to determine the drug candidate’s efficacy and to observe and report any adverse reactions that may result from
long-term use of the drug on a large, more widespread, patient population. During the Phase 3 clinical trials, the drug candidate is compared to
either a placebo or a standard treatment for the target disease.
New Drug Application: After completion of all three clinical trial phases, if the data indicates that the drug is safe and effective, a New Drug
Application is filed with the FDA. We estimate that approval of a New Drug Application for a cancer drug generally takes six months to three years.
Fast Track Review: The FDA has established procedures for accelerating the approval of drugs to be marketed for serious diseases for which
the manufacturer can demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical needs. One of our drug candidates, satraplatin, has been given a fast
track designation for the hormone refractory prostate cancer indication.
Abbreviated New Drug Application (ANDA): The Abbreviated New Drug Application is particularly relevant for our Generic Drug Strategy. An
ANDA is the abbreviated review and approval process created by the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 for the
accelerated approval of generic drugs. An ANDA applicant must certify that the generic drug does not infringe on existing patent(s), that the
relevant patents have expired and no further patent protection is afforded to the innovator, or that the relevant patent(s) for the brand name product
is invalid. The ANDA must also demonstrate both chemical equivalence and bio-equivalence (the rate and extent of absorption of the generic drug
in the body is substantially equivalent to the previously approved brand name drug), unless a bio-equivalence waiver is granted by the FDA in the
case of an injectable generic drug to the brand name product. The ANDA drug development and approval process generally takes less time than
the NDA drug development and approval
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process since the ANDA process does not require new clinical trials establishing the safety and efficacy of the drug product. We estimate that
approval of an Abbreviated New Drug Application generally takes one to two years.
Approval: If the FDA approves the New Drug Application, the drug becomes available for physicians to prescribe to patients for treatment. The
marketing of a drug after FDA approval is subject to substantial continuing regulation by the FDA, including regulation of manufacturing practices
and the advertising and promotion of the drug.
Failure to comply with FDA and other governmental regulations can result in fines, unanticipated compliance expenditures, recall or seizure of
products, total or partial suspension of production and/or distribution, suspension of the FDA’s review of NDAs, ANDAs or other product
applications enforcement actions, injunctions and criminal prosecution. Under certain circumstances, the FDA also has the authority to revoke
previously granted drug approvals. Although we have internal compliance programs, if these programs do not meet regulatory agency standards or
if our compliance is deemed deficient in any significant way, it could have a material adverse effect on us. See “Risks Factors – Any failure to
comply with extensive governmental regulation could prevent or delay product approval or cause governmental authorities to disallow our products
after approval and subject us to criminal or civil liabilities.”
The Generic Drug Enforcement Act of 1992 established penalties for wrongdoing in connection with the development or submission of an
ANDA. Under this Act, the FDA has the authority to permanently or temporarily bar companies or individuals from submitting or assisting in the
submission of an ANDA, and to temporarily deny approval and suspend applications to market generic drugs. The FDA may also suspend the
distribution of all drugs approved or developed in connection with certain wrongful conduct and/or withdraw approval of an ANDA and seek civil
penalties. The FDA can also significantly delay the approval of any pending NDA, ANDA or other regulatory submissions under its Fraud, Untrue
Statements of Material Facts, Bribery and Illegal Gratuities Policy.
As part of the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003, companies are now required to file with the Federal
Trade Commission and the Department of Justice certain types of agreements entered into between branded and generic pharmaceutical
companies related to the manufacture, marketing and sale of generic versions of branded drugs. This new requirement could affect the manner in
which generic drug manufacturers resolve intellectual property litigation and other disputes with branded pharmaceutical companies, and could
result generally in an increase in private-party litigation against pharmaceutical companies. The impact of this new requirement, and the potential
private-party lawsuits associated with arrangements between brand name and generic drug manufacturers, is uncertain and could adversely affect
our business.
Continuing studies of the proper utilization, safety and efficacy of pharmaceuticals and other health care products are being conducted by
industry, government agencies and others. Such studies, which increasingly employ sophisticated methods and techniques, can call into question
the utilization, safety and efficacy of previously marketed products and in some cases have resulted, and may in the future result, in the
discontinuance of their marketing.
Employees
As of December 31, 2003, we had sixteen full-time employees, of which four hold M.D. degrees and one holds a Ph.D. degree. We anticipate
hiring additional personnel as needs dictate to implement our growth strategy. We cannot assure you that we will be able to attract and retain
qualified personnel in sufficient numbers to meet our needs. Our employees are not subject to any collective bargaining agreements, and we
regard our relations with our employees to be good.
Available Information
We file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports
on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports, proxy statements
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and registration statements. The public may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth
Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may also obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC
at 1-800-SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC maintains an internet site at http://www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements
and other information regarding registrants, including us, that file electronically.
We also maintain a website located at http://www.spectrumpharm.com, and electronic copies of our periodic and current reports, and any
amendments to those reports, are available, free of charge, under the “Investor Relations” link on our website as soon as practicable after such
material is filed with, or furnished to, the SEC.
For financial information regarding our business activities, please see “Item 8 – Financial Statements.”
RISK FACTORS
An investment in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects can be
impacted by a number of factors, including, but not limited to those set forth below and elsewhere in this report, any one of which could cause our
actual results to differ materially from recent results or from our anticipated future results. As a result, the trading price of our common stock could
decline, and you could lose a part or all of your investment. You should consider these risks carefully before deciding to invest in our common
stock. Factors that may affect our business, financial condition, operating results, and prospects include:
Our losses will continue to increase as we expand our development efforts, and our efforts may never result in profitability.
Our cumulative losses since our inception in 1987 through December 31, 2003 were in excess of $150 million, almost all of which consisted of
research and development and general and administrative expenses. We lost approximately $10 million in 2003, $18 million in 2002 and $28 million
in 2001. We expect to continue to incur losses in the future, particularly as we continue to invest in the development of our oncology drug
candidates, and expand the scope of our generics operations. We currently do not sell any products or services and we may never achieve
revenues from sales of products or become profitable. Even if we eventually generate revenues from sales, we nevertheless may continue to incur
operating losses over the next several years.
Our business does not generate the cash needed to finance our ongoing operations and therefore, we will need to raise additional
capital.
Our business does not generate cash from operations needed to finance our ongoing operations. We have relied primarily on raising capital
through the sale of our securities, and/or out-licensing our drug candidates and technology, to meet our financial needs. Our existing cash and
investment securities are sufficient to fund our current planned pharmaceutical operations for the next two years based upon our current operating
expenses. Therefore, we expect that we may need to seek additional capital within the next two years, through public or private financings,
including equity financings, and through other arrangements to continue operating our businesses and to support the research and development of
our potential products long-term. In addition, if we choose to expand our operations beyond what is currently planned, or should our anticipated
operating expenses increase, we will have to raise capital sooner.
We may not be able to raise additional capital on favorable terms, if at all. Accordingly, we may be forced to significantly change our business
plans and restructure our operations to conserve cash, which would likely involve out-licensing or selling some or all of our intellectual,
technological and/or tangible property not presently contemplated and at terms that we believe would not be favorable to us and/or reducing the
scope and nature of our currently planned research and drug development activities. An inability to raise additional capital would also impact our
ability to expand operations.
13

Table of Contents

Our existing oncology drug candidates may not prove safe or effective.
Each of our existing three oncology drug candidates, satraplatin, EOquin and elsamitrucin, are in various stages of clinical trials. The principal
purpose of such trials is to research and, hopefully, verify the safety and efficacy of the drug candidates in treating a particular disease or
symptom. Clinical trial data may indicate that any or all of our drug candidates either are not sufficiently safe for human use or do not have a
meaningful beneficial effect in the treatment of a particular disease or symptom. If we, or a regulatory body such as the FDA, conclude that any of
our drug candidates either are not safe or have no beneficial effect, then the value of that drug candidate will be materially diminished or lost
entirely. If and when we acquire additional oncology drug candidates, they also will be subject to these same risks and uncertainties.
Our oncology drug candidates may not be more effective, safer or more cost efficient than competing drugs and otherwise may not have
any competitive advantage.
Oncology drugs produced by other companies are currently on the market for each cancer type we are pursuing. Even if one or more of our
oncology drug candidates ultimately received FDA approval, we cannot provide any assurance that our drug candidates will have better efficacy in
treating the target indication than a competing drug, have a more favorable side-effect profile than a competing drug, be more cost efficient to
manufacture or apply, or otherwise demonstrate a competitive advantage over competing therapies. Accordingly, even if FDA approval is obtained
for one or more of our drug candidates, we can provide no assurance that it will gain acceptance by the medical field or become commercially
successful.
The development of our lead drug candidate, satraplatin, depends on the efforts of a third party.
In September 2002, we entered into a co-development and license agreement with GPC Biotech AG for the development and
commercialization of our lead drug candidate, satraplatin. GPC Biotech has agreed to fully fund development and commercialization expenses for
satraplatin. We will not have control over the drug development process and therefore, the success of our lead drug candidate will depend upon the
efforts of GPC Biotech. There is no assurance that GPC Biotech will be successful in the clinical development of the drug, the achievement of any
milestones such as the acceptance of a NDA filing by the FDA or the eventual commercialization of satraplatin.
Our efforts to acquire or in-license and develop additional oncology drug candidates may fail.
The long-term success of our Oncology Strategy depends in part on obtaining clinical stage drug candidates in addition to our existing portfolio
of satraplatin, EOquin and elsamitrucin. We are actively seeking to acquire or in-license additional clinical stage oncology drug candidates. We can
give no assurance, however, that we will be successful in locating and acquiring or in-licensing additional desirable drug candidates on acceptable
terms.
Price and other competitive pressures may make the marketing and sale of our generic drugs not commercially feasible and not
profitable.
We have not yet successfully obtained regulatory approval of any of our drug candidates. Even if we obtain regulatory approval to market one
or more generic drug products in the United States, we cannot provide any assurance that we will be able to complete a transfer price arrangement
with the manufacturer of the drug product that will allow us to market the drug(s) in the United States on terms favorable to us, or at all. In addition,
the generic drug market in the United States is extremely competitive, characterized by many participants and constant downward price pressure
on generic drug products. Consequently, margins are continually reduced and it is necessary to continually introduce new products to achieve and
maintain profitability.
If we obtain regulatory approval to market one or more generic drug products in the United States, then we may face opposition from the
producers of the branded versions of these drugs. Branded pharmaceutical companies have aggressively sought to prevent generic competition,
including the extensive use of litigation.
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In addition, many branded pharmaceutical companies increasingly have used state and Federal legislative and regulatory means to delay
generic competition. These efforts have included:
• Pursuing new patents for existing products which may be granted just before the expiration of one patent, which could extend patent
protection for a number of years or otherwise delay the launch of generics;
• Using the Citizen Petition process to request amendments to FDA standards;
• Seeking changes to the United States Pharmacopoeia, an organization which publishes industry recognized compendia of drug standards;
and
• Attaching patent extension amendments to non-related federal legislation.
In addition, some branded pharmaceutical companies have engaged in state-by-state initiatives to enact legislation that restricts the
substitution of some generic drugs. Some of these initiatives could have an impact on products that we will seek to introduce into the United
States. We have limited resources, and may not be able to effectively respond to these or other measures that may be taken by pharmaceutical
companies that produce the branded version of our generic products.
We may not be successful in establishing additional generic drug supply relationships.
Long-term success of our Generic Drug Strategy depends in part on our ability to expand and enhance our existing relationships and establish
new relationships for supplying generic drug products. We do not presently intend to focus our research and development efforts on developing
active pharmaceutical ingredients or the dosage form for generic drugs. In addition, we currently have no capacity to manufacture generic drug
products and do not intend to spend our capital resources to develop the capacity to do so. Therefore, we must rely on relationships with other
companies to supply our generic drug products. We cannot provide any assurance that we will be successful in expanding or enhancing our
existing relationships or in securing new relationships. If we fail to expand relationships, our ability to expand our generic drug business will be
harmed.
We may not be successful in expanding our generic drug distribution capabilities in the United States.
Many of our competitors have substantial, established direct and indirect distribution channels. We have not yet undertaken the marketing and
distribution of a generic drug product and we currently have no direct sales and marketing organization and our limited sales and marketing
resources our devoted to establishing and enhancing our third party distribution relationships. The long-term success of our Generic Drug Strategy
depends in part on our ability to enlarge and enhance our generic drug distribution capability in the U.S. We cannot provide any assurance that we
will be successful in expanding or enhancing our existing distribution channel relationships, establishing new, additional distribution channel
relationships or establishing a direct generic drug marketing capability sufficient to effectively and successfully compete.
Once approved, our supply of a generic drug product is dependent upon the production capabilities of our supply sources.
We have no internal manufacturing capacity for our drug product candidates, and therefore, we will be dependent on our manufacturing
partners for our supply of products. The manufacture of certain generic drug products, including the acquisition of compounds used in the
manufacture of the finished generic drug product, may require considerable lead times. Further, sales of a new generic drug product may be
difficult to forecast. Also, we will have no control over the production process. Accordingly, there could arise circumstances in which market
demand for a particular generic product could outstrip the ability of our supply source to timely manufacture and deliver the product, thereby
causing us to lose sales.
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We are dependent on third parties for clinical testing, manufacturing and marketing our proposed products.
We may not conduct some clinical trials ourselves, and we will not manufacture any of our proposed products for commercial sale nor do we
have the resources necessary to do so. In addition, we do not have the capability to market our drug products ourselves. We intend to contract
with larger pharmaceutical companies or contract research organizations to conduct such activities. In connection with our efforts to secure
corporate partners, we may seek to retain certain co-marketing rights to certain of our drug candidates, so that we may promote our products to
selected medical specialists while our corporate partner promotes these products to the medical market generally. We cannot be certain that we
will be able to enter into any partnering arrangements on this or any other basis. If we are not able to secure adequate partnering arrangements, we
will have to hire additional employees or consultants with expertise in marketing, since our current employees have no experience in these areas.
We cannot be certain that sufficient employees with relevant skills will be available to us. Any increase in the number of our employees would
increase our expense level, and could have an adverse effect on our financial position.
In addition, we cannot be certain that we or our potential corporate partners can successfully introduce our proposed products or that such
proposed products will achieve acceptance by patients, health care providers and insurance companies. Further, it is possible that we may not be
able to secure arrangements to manufacture and market our proposed products at prices that would permit us to make a profit. To the extent that
clinical trials are conducted by corporate partners, we may not be able to control the design and conduct of these clinical trials.
Our limited experience at managing and conducting clinical trials ourselves may delay the trials and increase our costs.
We may manage and conduct some future clinical trials ourselves rather than hiring outside clinical trial contractors. While some of our
management has had experience at conducting clinical trials, we have limited experience in doing so as a company. If we move forward with selfconducted clinical trials, our limited experience may delay the completion of our clinical trials and increase our costs.
Rapid technological advancement may render our drug candidates obsolete.
The pharmaceutical industry is characterized by rapidly evolving technology. We cannot provide any assurance that a competitor may not
develop a new technology, product or therapy that has better efficacy, a more favorable side-effect profile or is more cost effective than one or
more of our drug candidates or generic products and thereby cause our drug candidate or generic product to become commercially obsolete.
Competition for patients in conducting clinical trials may prevent or delay approval of a drug candidate and strain our limited financial
resources.
Many pharmaceutical companies are conducting clinical trials in patients with the cancer types that our drug candidates target. As a result, we
must compete with them for clinical sites, physicians and the limited number of patients who fulfill the stringent requirements for participation in
clinical trials. Also, due to the confidential nature of clinical trials, we cannot be certain how many of the eligible cancer patients may be enrolled in
competing studies and consequently not available to us. This competition may increase costs of our clinical trials and delay the introduction of our
potential products.
We are a small company relative to our principal competitors and our limited financial resources may limit our ability to develop and
market our oncology drug candidates and our Generic Strategy drug products.
Many companies, both public and private, including well-known pharmaceutical companies and smaller niche-focused companies, are
developing products to treat all of the diseases we are pursuing, or distribute generic drug products directly competitive to the generic drugs we
intend to market and distribute. Many of these companies have substantially greater financial, research and development, manufacturing,
marketing
16

Table of Contents

and sales experience and resources than us. As a result, our competitors may be more successful than us in developing their products, obtaining
regulatory approvals and marketing their products to consumers.
We may need additional expertise in marketing and other areas in order to achieve our business objectives and we may not be able to
attract additional skilled personnel.
Competition for qualified personnel among pharmaceutical companies is intense, and the loss of key personnel, or the inability to attract and
retain the additional skilled personnel required for the expansion of our business, could significantly damage our business.
We may not be successful in obtaining regulatory approval to market and sell any of our oncology or generic drugs.
Before our drug candidates can be marketed and sold in the United States, regulatory approval must be obtained from the FDA and
comparable foreign regulatory agencies. Following successful completion of Phase 3 clinical trials, a comprehensive New Drug Application
(NDA) must be filed with the FDA. The review and approval, or denial, process for an application can take years. We can give no assurance that
the FDA, and comparable foreign regulatory agencies, will timely, or ever, approve an application. Among the many possibilities, the FDA may
require substantial additional testing or clinical trials or find our drug candidate is not sufficiently safe or effective in treating the targeted disease.
Further, we cannot provide any assurance that a competitor may not develop a competing drug or therapy that impairs or eliminates the
commercial feasibility of our drug candidates.
We plan to use our management’s experience with the regulatory approval process in the United States to prepare, file and prosecute
appropriate Abbreviated New Drug Applications (ANDAs) for our current and future generic drug candidates. During 2003 we filed three ANDAs for
ciprofloxacin, carboplatin and fluconazole. We intend to file additional ANDAs during 2004 and beyond. We cannot provide any assurance that the
FDA will approve all, or any, of our ANDAs. Generic drugs generally have a relatively short window in which they can be profitable before other
manufacturers introduce competing products that impose downward pressure on prices and reduce market share for other versions of the generic
drug. Consequently, delays in obtaining FDA approval may also significantly impair our ability to compete.
Any failure to comply with extensive governmental regulation could prevent or delay product approval or cause governmental authorities
to disallow our products after approval and subject us to criminal or civil liabilities.
The FDA and comparable agencies in foreign countries impose many requirements on the introduction of new drugs through lengthy and
detailed clinical testing and data collection procedures, and other costly and time consuming compliance procedures. These requirements apply to
every stage of the clinical trial process and make it difficult to estimate when any of our drug candidates will be available commercially, if at all.
While we believe that we are currently in compliance with applicable FDA regulations, if we fail to comply with the regulations applicable to our
clinical testing, the FDA may delay, suspend or cancel our clinical trials, or the FDA might not accept the test results. The FDA, or any
comparable regulatory agency in another country, may suspend clinical trials at any time if it concludes that the trials expose subjects
participating in such trials to unacceptable health risks. Further, human clinical testing may not show any current or future product candidate to be
safe and effective to the satisfaction of the FDA or comparable regulatory agencies or the data derived from the clinical tests may be unsuitable
for submission to the FDA or other regulatory agencies.
Once we submit a drug candidate for commercial sale approval, the FDA or other regulatory agencies may not issue their approvals on a
timely basis, if at all. If we are delayed or fail to obtain these approvals, our business and prospects may be significantly damaged. If we fail to
comply with regulatory requirements, either
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prior to seeking approval or in marketing our products after approval, we could be subject to regulatory or judicial enforcement actions. These
actions could result in:
• product recalls or seizures;
• injunctions;
• civil penalties;
• criminal prosecution;
• refusals to approve new products and withdrawal of existing approvals; and
• enhanced exposure to product liabilities.
Intellectual property rights are complex and uncertain and therefore may subject us to infringement claims.
The patent positions related to our drug portfolio candidates that we have in-licensed from third parties and those related to our Generic
Strategy drug candidate portfolio are inherently uncertain and involve complex legal and factual issues. Although we are not aware of any
infringement by any of our drug candidates on the rights of any third party, there may be third party patents or other intellectual property rights
relevant to our drug candidates of which we are not aware. Third parties may assert patent or other intellectual property infringement claims against
us with respect to our drug candidates or our generic drug products. This could draw us into costly litigation as well as result in the loss of our use
of the intellectual property that is critical to our business strategy.
Intellectual property litigation is increasingly common and increasingly expensive.
Patent and other intellectual property litigation is becoming more common in the pharmaceutical industry. Litigation is sometimes necessary to
defend against or assert claims of infringement, to enforce our patent rights, to protect trade secrets or to determine the scope and validity of
proprietary rights of third parties. No third party has asserted that we are infringing upon their patent rights or other intellectual property, nor are we
aware that we are infringing upon any third party’s patent rights or other intellectual property. We may, however, be infringing upon a third party’s
patent rights or other intellectual property, and litigation asserting such claims might be initiated in which we would not prevail or we would not be
able to obtain the necessary licenses on reasonable terms, if at all. All such litigation, whether meritorious or not, as well as litigation initiated by
us against third parties, is time consuming and very expensive to defend or prosecute and to resolve.
If our competitors prepare and file patent applications in the United States that claim technology we also claim, we may have to participate in
interference proceedings required by the Patent and Trademark Office to determine priority of invention, which could result in substantial costs,
even if we ultimately prevail. Results of interference proceedings are highly unpredictable and may result in us having to try to obtain licenses in
order to continue to develop or market certain of our drug candidates.
We also rely on trade secret protection and contractual protections for our un-patented, confidential and proprietary technology. Trade secrets
are difficult to protect. While we enter into proprietary information agreements with our employees, consultants and others, these agreements may
not successfully protect our trade secrets or other confidential and proprietary information.
We may be subject to product liability claims, and may not have sufficient product liability insurance to cover any such claims, which
may expose us to substantial liabilities.
We may be exposed to product liability claims from patients who participate in our clinical trials, or, if we are able to obtain FDA approval for
one or more of our potential products, from consumers of our products. Although we currently carry product liability insurance in the amount of
$5 million per occurrence and in the aggregate, it is possible that the amounts of this coverage will be insufficient to protect us from future claims.
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Further, we cannot be certain that we will be able to maintain our existing insurance or obtain or maintain additional insurance on acceptable terms
for our clinical and commercial activities or that such additional insurance would be sufficient to cover any potential product liability claim or recall.
Failure to maintain sufficient insurance coverage could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects and results of operations if
claims are made that exceed our coverage.
The loss of key personnel could significantly hinder our growth strategy and might cause our business to fail.
Our success depends upon the contributions of our key management and scientific personnel, especially Dr. Rajesh C. Shrotriya, our
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer and Dr. Luigi Lenaz, the President of our Oncology division. Dr. Shrotriya has been President
since 2000 and Chief Executive Officer since 2002, and has spearheaded the major changes in our business strategy and coordinated structural
reorganization. Dr. Lenaz has been President of our Oncology Division since 2000 and has played a key role in the identification and development
of our oncology drug candidates. The loss of the services of Dr. Shrotriya, Dr. Lenaz or any other key personnel could delay or preclude us from
achieving our business objectives. Dr. Shrotriya has an employment agreement with us that will expire on December 31, 2004, with automatic oneyear renewals thereafter unless we, or Dr. Shrotriya, gives notice of intent not to renew at least 90 days in advance of the renewal date. Dr. Lenaz
has an employment agreement with us that will expire on July 1, 2004, with automatic one year renewals thereafter unless Dr. Lenaz or we give
notice of intent not to renew at least 90 days in advance of the renewal date.
We also may need substantial additional expertise in marketing and other areas in order to achieve our business objectives. Competition for
qualified personnel among pharmaceutical companies is intense, and the loss of key personnel, or the delay or inability to attract and retain the
additional skilled personnel required for the expansion of our business, could significantly damage our business.
There are a substantial number of shares of our common stock eligible for future sale in the public market. The sale of these shares
could cause the market price of our common stock to fall. Any future equity issuances by us may have dilutive and other effects on our
existing stockholders.
As of March 19, 2004, there were approximately 10 million shares of our common stock outstanding, and in addition, security holders held
options, warrants and preferred stock which, if exercised or converted, would obligate us to issue up to approximately 9 million additional shares of
common stock. A substantial number of those shares, when we issue them upon conversion or exercise, will be available for immediate resale in
the public market. The market price of our common stock could fall as a result of such resales due to the increased number of shares available for
sale in the market.
We have financed our operations, and for the foreseeable future we expect to continue to finance a substantial portion of our operating cash
requirements, primarily by issuing and selling our common stock or securities convertible into or exercisable for shares of our common stock. Any
issuances by us of equity securities may be at or below the prevailing market price of our common stock and may have a dilutive impact on our
other stockholders. These issuances would also cause our net income, if any, to decrease or our loss per share to decrease in future periods. As
a result, the market price of our common stock could drop.
The market price and volume of our common stock fluctuate significantly and could result in substantial losses for individual investors.
The stock market from time to time experiences significant price and volume fluctuations that are unrelated to the operating performance of
particular companies. These broad market fluctuations may cause the market price and volume of our common stock to decrease. In addition, the
market price and volume of our common stock is highly volatile. Factors that may cause the market price and volume of our common stock to
decrease include fluctuations in our results of operations, timing and announcements of our technological innovations or new products or those of
our competitors, FDA and foreign regulatory actions, developments with respect to patents and proprietary rights, public concern as to the safety
of products
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developed by us or others, changes in health care policy in the United States and in foreign countries, changes in stock market analyst
recommendations regarding our common stock, the pharmaceutical industry generally and general market conditions. In addition, the market price
and volume of our common stock may decrease if our results of operations fail to meet the expectations of stock market analysts and investors.
While a decrease in market price could result in direct economic loss for an individual investor, low trading volume could limit an individual
investor’s ability to sell our common stock, which could result in substantial economic loss as well. During 2003, the price of our common stock
ranged between $1.66 and $10.37, and the daily trading volume, was as high as 3,338,000 shares and as low as 1,300 shares.
Certain charter and bylaws provisions and our stockholder rights plan may make it more difficult for someone to acquire control of us or
replace current management.
Certain provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, and Bylaws may make it more difficult for someone to acquire control of us
or replace our current management. These provisions may make it more difficult for stockholders to take certain corporate actions and could
delay, discourage or prevent someone from acquiring our business or replacing our current management, even if doing so would benefit our
stockholders. These provisions could limit the price that certain investors might be willing to pay for shares of our common stock.
In December 2000, we adopted a Stockholder Rights Plan pursuant to which we distributed rights to purchase units of our Series B Junior
Participating Preferred Stock. The rights become exercisable upon the earlier of ten days after a person or group of affiliated or associated persons
has acquired 20% or more of the outstanding shares of our common stock or ten business days after a tender offer has commenced that would
result in a person or group beneficially owning 20% or more of our outstanding common stock. These rights could delay or discourage someone
from acquiring our business, even if doing so would benefit our stockholders.
The use of hazardous materials in our research and development efforts imposes certain compliance costs on us and may subject us to
liability for claims arising from the use or misuse of these materials.
Our research and development efforts involved and may involve the use of hazardous materials, including biological materials, chemicals and
radioactive materials. We are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the storage, use and disposal of these materials
and some waste products. We believe that our safety procedures for the storage, use and disposal of these materials comply with the standards
prescribed by federal, state and local regulations. However, we cannot completely eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or injury from
these materials. If there were to be an accident, we could be held liable for any damages that result, which could exceed our financial resources.
We currently maintain insurance coverage of up to $1,000,000 per occurrence for injuries resulting from the hazardous materials we use, and up to
$25,000 per occurrence for pollution clean up and removal, however, future claims may exceed these amounts. Currently the costs of complying
with federal, state and local regulations are not significant, and consist primarily of waste disposal expenses.
Item 2.

Properties

Our corporate administrative offices are located in a two-story 34,320 square foot facility containing office and laboratory space, constructed
for us in Irvine, California. The base monthly rent for the facility is currently $42,862 plus taxes, insurance and common area maintenance. The
lease on this facility expires on June 30, 2004 at which time we anticipate renewing the lease for a five-year period, at a cost equal to or better
than our current lease rate. This facility is suitable and adequate to undertake our current and anticipated future operations; however, at this time,
we are currently utilizing only half of the facility. For the foreseeable future we expect to continue sub-leasing the laboratory space to one or more
third parties
We lease a small administrative office in Zurich, Switzerland on an expense-sharing basis. The financial and other terms of this lease are not
material to our business.
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As of December 31, 2003, we were also committed through September 2006 under a non-cancelable lease entered into in 2001 with the
Regents of the University of California, Irvine (UCI), in order to conduct our functional genomics research at a laboratory administrative facility
adjacent to the University. In March 2004, we reached a settlement, subject to completion of definitive documentation, with UCI, pursuant to which
the future lease obligations have been terminated.
Item 3.

Legal Proceedings

We are sometimes involved in matters of litigation that we consider ordinary routine litigation incidental to our business. We are not aware of
any pending litigation matters that will materially affect our financial statements.
Item 4.

Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the quarter ended December 31, 2003.
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PART II
Item 5.

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Common Stock
As of March 19, 2004, there were 10,003,670 shares of common stock outstanding and 387 shareholders of record. On March 19, 2004, the
closing sale price of our common stock was $8.18 per share.
Market for Securities
Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq SmallCap Market under the symbol “SPPI.” The high and low sale prices of our common stock
reported by Nasdaq during each quarter ended in 2003 and 2002 were as follows:
High

Year 2003
Quarter Ended
March 31
June 30
September 30
December 31
Year 2002
Quarter Ended
March 31
June 30
September 30
December 31

Low

$ 2.40
$ 6.40
$ 10.37
$ 8.60

$
$
$
$

1.66
1.90
3.57
5.42

$101.25
$ 67.25
$ 6.50
$ 2.75

$40.25
$ 3.50
$ 0.80
$ 0.91

The high and low sales prices of our common stock reported by Nasdaq reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-ups, mark-downs or
commissions, and may not represent actual transactions. Common stock prices have been restated to reflect the 25-for-1 reverse split of our
outstanding common stock on September 6, 2002.
Dividends
We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock and we do not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. We currently
intend to retain our earnings, if any, to finance future growth.
Item 6.

Selected Financial Data

The following table presents our selected financial data. Financial data for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 and as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002 has been derived from our audited financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K and should be read in
conjunction with those financial statements and accompanying notes and with “Item 7. – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.” Financial data for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999 and as
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of December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 has been derived from our audited financial statements not included herein.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(in thousands, except per share data)
Statement of Operations Data for the
Years Ended December 31:

2003

2002

$ 1,000

$ 2,371

3,683
5,049
2,573
163
–

11,706
3,691
1,431
3,050
–

20,611
5,475
2,105
–
–

38,767
4,352
755
–
–

20,058
3,071
394
–
2,458

(10,468)
78

(17,507)
(127)

(28,150)
315

(43,874)
(2,553)

(25,981)
(9)

Net loss
Basic and diluted loss per share

$(10,390)
$ (4.83)

$(17,634)
$ (12.34)

$(27,835)
$ (36.50)

$(46,427)
$(109.25)

$(25,990)
$ (92.00)

Cash Dividends on common stock

$

$

$

$

$

Revenues
Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Stock based compensation
Restructuring expenses
Settlement of litigation
Loss from operations
Other income (expense)

Balance Sheet Data at December 31:

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable
securities
Property and equipment, net
Total assets
Current liabilities
Long-term debt, less current portion
Other non-current-liabilities
Minority interest in consolidated
subsidiaries
Total stockholders’ equity
Item 7.

–

2001

–

$

2000

41

–

$

1999

–

–

$

–

–

2003

2002

2001

2000

1999

$26,351
560
27,389
3,108
–
–

$1,578
802
3,453
2,522
158
101

$ 7,157
4,689
12,825
5,212
464
362

$11,470
3,416
15,781
5,110
474
87

$ 9,681
3,161
13,174
4,757
637
75

–
$24,281

–
$ 672

–
$ 6,787

7,280
$ 2,830

–
$ 7,705

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion of the financial condition, changes in financial condition and results of our operations in conjunction
with the financial statements and the notes to those statements included elsewhere in this report. The discussion in this report contains forwardlooking statements that involve risks and uncertainties, such as statements of our plans, objectives, expectations and intentions. The cautionary
statements made in this report should be read as applying to all related forward-looking statements wherever they appear in this report. Our actual
results could differ materially from those discussed here. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include those discussed in
“Risk Factors,” as well as those discussed elsewhere.
Financial Condition
General
Since inception in 1987 through August 2002, we devoted our resources primarily to fund research on early stage, or novel, drug products and
functional genomics discovery, and recorded significant losses. Our operations have historically been financed by the issuance of capital stock
because it is generally difficult to
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fund pharmaceutical research via borrowings due to the significant expenses involved, lack of revenues sufficient to service debt and the
significant inherent uncertainty as to results of this research and the timing of those results.
In August 2002, we adopted a new business model, with a primary focus on conducting development research on late-stage oncology
products. This strategy is designed to address the risks of drug development by shortening the timeline to marketability, and reducing the risk of
failure, which is higher with an early stage product. Further, in order to mitigate our future financing needs to fund such research, our plan is to
generate revenues from the sale of generic versions of drugs coming off-patent over the next several years. If successful, we believe this strategy
may provide revenues as early as 2004.
Our cumulative losses through December 31, 2003 have exceeded $150 million. Our operating expenses, excluding stock-based
compensation and restructuring expenses, were reduced from approximately $6 million per quarter during the first half of 2002 to an average of
less than $2.5 million per quarter during 2003. Such reduction in expenses was principally due to reductions in personnel, occupancy, drug product
and formulation costs, associated with the discontinued neurology and functional genomics activities. Our anticipated average operating expenses
(excluding stock-based compensation and restructuring charges, if any) for 2004 is expected to increase to approximately $3 million per quarter,
reflecting the increase in our scope of activities, which include development of our oncology drug candidates and investigation and development of
new generic drug candidates. We expect to continue to incur additional losses as we implement our growth strategy of developing marketable drug
products. Such significant additional operating losses are likely to be incurred for at least the next several years unless they are offset, if at all, by
licensing revenues under our agreement with GPC Biotech AG and any revenue from our generic products.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Since August 2002 we have secured over $32 million in financing, entered into strategic alliances, and filed three ANDAs with the FDA. These
actions are designed to position us to capitalize on growth opportunities.
Our business does not generate enough cash from operations needed to finance our ongoing operations. However, we believe that the
approximately $26 million in cash and marketable securities on hand as of December 31, 2003 will be sufficient to fund our current planned
operations for approximately two years, based on our current operating expenses (excluding stock-based compensation and restructuring charges,
if any).
In addition, as of December 31, 2003, security holders held options and warrants which, if exercised, would obligate us to issue up to
approximately an additional 7 million shares of common stock for potential aggregate proceeds of approximately $32 million.
Over the long-term, we will likely need to continue to raise funds through public or private financings, including equity financings and through
other arrangements, to continue operating our business. However, if we are successful in generating revenues and profits from the sale of generic
drugs, we expect to use such resources to help to reduce this reliance on raising funds through the sale of our securities.
Net Cash used in Operating activities
During the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, the net cash used in operations, for research and development and general and
administrative expenses, was approximately $6.2 million and $15.3 million respectively, after recording revenues of $1.0 million and $2.4 million
respectively. The decrease in cash used in operations in 2003 was primarily due to reduced spending for activities related to functional genomics
and neurology that were not consistent with our new business focus.
Net Cash provided by and used for Financing Activities
Cash provided by financing activities was $31.0 million and $9.1 million, for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The
increase in cash from financing sources of $21.9 million from the
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prior year was primarily due to the issuance in 2003 of 600 shares of our Series D Preferred Stock for approximately $5.2 million, 1,211,578 shares
of our common stock for approximately $4.5 million, 2000 shares of our Series E Preferred Stock for approximately $18.2 million and 1,169,070
shares of our common stock issued upon exercise of outstanding warrants for approximately $3.3 million.
We have no debt except capital lease obligations; capital lease payments amounted to $320,000 and $653,000 during the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Critical Accounting Polices and Estimates
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and
related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including cash requirements, from
assessing: planned research and development activities and general and administrative requirements, the retention of key personnel, required
clinical trial activity, market need for our drug candidates and other major business assumptions.
Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. The SEC defines critical accounting
policies as those that are, in management’s view, most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations and most
demanding of our judgment. We consider the following policies to be critical to an understanding of our consolidated financial statements and the
uncertainties associated with the complex judgments made by us that could impact our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.
Property and Equipment
We carry property and equipment at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Equipment is depreciated on a straight
line basis over their estimated lives (generally 5 to 7 years). Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful life or
lease term.
We review long-lived assets, including property and equipment, for impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable. If impairment is indicated, we reduce the carrying value of the asset
to fair value.
Patents and Licenses
We own or license all the intellectual property that forms the basis of our intellectual property. To date we have adopted the practice of
expensing all licensing and patent application costs.
Revenue Recognition
License fees comprise initial fees and milestone payments derived from collaborative licensing arrangements. We defer revenue recognition
for milestone events which are reasonably assured and recognize them ratably over the minimum remaining period of our performance obligations.
Milestones which are not reasonably assured are treated as the culmination of a separate earnings process and are recognized as revenue when
the milestones are achieved.
Research and Development
Research and development expenses are comprised of the following types of costs incurred in performing research and development
activities: personnel expenses, facility costs, contract services, costs of clinical trials, laboratory supplies and drugs, and allocations of corporate
costs. We expense all research and development activity costs in the period incurred.
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Accounting for Stock-Based Employee Compensation
We account for all of our stock based compensation in accordance with SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (SFAS
123). Accordingly, we recognize non-employee stock based compensation or payments using a fair market value methodology promulgated by
SFAS 123, which standard also permits continued use of accounting for employee stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value
methodology of accounting promulgated by Accounting Principles Board (or APB) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”
(APB 25). Under the intrinsic value method, stock-based compensation is measured as the excess, if any, of the quoted market price of our
common stock at the measurement date over the exercise price. We recognize employee stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value
methodology promulgated by APB 25.
Results of Operations
Results of Operations for Fiscal 2003 Compared to Fiscal 2002
Revenue for 2003 of $1 million decreased by approximately $1.4 million as compared to 2002, and was derived from the second licensing fee
of $1 million under the co-development and licensing agreement with GPC Biotech AG, which became due in September 2003 upon dosing of the
first patient in a registrationial study. Future GPC revenues are dependant upon the occurrence of milestones specified in the agreement.
Research and development expenses decreased by approximately $8.0 million, from $11.7 million in 2002 to $3.7 million in 2003 primarily as a
result of the restructuring, initiated in August 2002, whereby all research activities related to Neotrofin, functional genomics and neurology were
eliminated. In 2003, research and development expenses included our ongoing clinical trial for EOquin™ in the treatment of patients with
superficial bladder cancer, procurement of elsamitrucin supplies for an upcoming clinical trial in patients with non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma and
expenses incurred in connection with the filing of our ANDAs for ciprofloxacin, carboplatin and fluconazole. As a result of the increasing scope of
our activities, which include development of our oncology drug candidates and investigation and development of new generic drug candidates, we
expect increases in research and development expenses in 2004 and beyond.
General and administrative expenses increased by approximately $1.3 million, from $3.7 million in 2002 to $5.0 million in 2003 due primarily to
the following factors:
• Legal and professional fees increased by approximately $900,000 in 2003 due to the changes in our organization, expenses incurred in
successfully addressing the NASDAQ delisting notice we received in March 2003, additional expenses for compliance with California and
other state securities laws due to our listing on the NASDAQ SmallCap Market, compliance with new SEC and Sarbanes-Oxley Act rules
and regulations, and evaluation of business alliances and opportunities in conjunction with our generic drug strategy;
• Employee severance costs included in general and administrative in 2003 of approximately $500,000;
• As a result of the 2002 change in our business plan, and a dramatic reduction in the scope of our research and development activities, the
allocation of general and administrative costs to research and development was $1.4 million lower in 2003 as compared to 2002; and
• Offsetting the foregoing increases was an aggregate decrease of approximately $1.5 million in payroll and occupancy costs, depreciation and
other miscellaneous corporate overhead.
Stock-based compensation expense of $2,573,000 for 2003 represents non-cash charges as a result of stock awards and stock options
granted to employees and consultants. The use of options as a means to compensate and retain employees is crucial for a company like ours.
The increase of approximately $1.2 million in stock-based compensation from $2.6 million in 2003 as compared to $1.4 million in 2002 was
primarily due to timing delays in 2003 in awarding stock options as a result of compliance with state securities laws during a period where our
stock price was rising rapidly.
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• Stock awards and options granted to employees are accounted for under APB 25. All of the options granted by us have been made at fair
market values on the dates originally authorized by the Board of Directors or our Compensation Committee. However, as described in Note
10 to the consolidated financial statements, certain grants to employees contemplated by the Board had later effective grant dates.
Accordingly, we recorded a non-cash stock-based employee compensation expense of $2,297,000 during 2003.
• In accordance with SFAS 123, we expense the “fair value” of options granted to consultants. During 2003, we agreed to issue, to a
consultant engaged to generate retail interest in our stock, a warrant to purchase 130,000 shares of our common stock. The Black-Scholes
value of the warrant, $480,000, is being amortized over the service period and $276,000 was charged to expense in 2003.
During 2002, approximately $1 million of stock-based compensation was charged in connection with the issuance of common stock and
warrants to purchase common stock in settlement of accounts payable to certain vendors. In addition, during 2002, we recorded compensation
expense of $411,000, as a result of the amortization of deferred compensation costs which were recorded in 2001 and prior years, when we
granted stock options to employees with exercise prices less than the fair value of our common stock at the measurement date. The intrinsic
values of the option grants were recorded as deferred compensation and were amortized to expense over the vesting period, in accordance with
APB 25.
The restructuring charge of $163,000 in 2003 is related to an adjustment of the realizable value of assets held for sale as of December 31,
2003.
Other income for 2003 compared to 2002 increased approximately $200,000 due primarily to the elimination of miscellaneous expenses
associated with the activities related to functional genomics and neurology.
Results of Operations for Fiscal 2002 Compared to Fiscal 2001
Revenue for 2002 of $2,371,000 resulted from the recognition of the first licensing fee of $2 million from the co-development and licensing
agreement with GPC Biotech AG, and $371,000 from technology out-licensing agreements with Pfizer Inc. The Pfizer license fees were recognized
in 2002 upon the termination of all research activities at NeoGene, our functional genomics subsidiary, and the completion of all further
commitments under those license agreements.
Research and development expenses decreased by approximately $8.9 million from $20.6 million in 2001 to $11.7 million in 2002 primarily due
to the conclusion of clinical trials for Neotrofin, a previous neurology drug candidate, causing decreases in outside clinical research site costs,
product manufacturing costs, and payroll costs of research personnel. In addition, as a result of a restructuring initiated in August 2002, all
research activities related to Neotrofin, functional genomics and neurology were eliminated.
General and administrative expenses decreased by approximately $1.8 million from $5.5 million in 2001 to $3.7 million in 2002 due to the
decline in our scope of activity. The principal components of the decrease were reductions in costs for administrative personnel, consulting, travel
and lodging expenses, and officer relocation expenses. These decreases were partially offset by an increase in corporate business expenses
related to the development of our oncology related drug candidates.
Stock-based compensation expense decreased by approximately $0.7 million from $2.1 million in 2001 to $1.4 million in 2002. As a result of
the work-force reductions in 2002 and the cancellation of stock options granted below fair market value in earlier years, the amortization of deferred
compensation decreased by approximately $1.1 million to approximately $0.4 million. Offsetting such decrease was a $0.4 million increase to
approximately $1.0 million in the issuance of common stock and warrants to purchase common stock in settlement of accounts payable to certain
vendors.
The restructuring charge of $3,050,000 recorded in 2002 related to the termination of all research efforts related to neurology and functional
genomics research and development, and consisted of:
• A fixed asset impairment charge of $1,669,000 resulting from the review of the carrying value of our laboratory equipment;
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• Severance costs of $763,000 related to termination agreements with two senior executives, and 21 research and administration employees;
• A $312,000 loss on exchange of certain assets in connection with the settlement of certain payment obligations to the University of
California, Irvine, in connection with the former functional genomics operations; and
• Other restructuring related administrative and legal expenses of $306,000.
Other income for 2002 compared to 2001 decreased by $442,000 due primarily to a $533,000 decrease in interest income resulting from lower
average marketable securities balances and lower interest rates.
Related Party Transactions
Director and Officer Notes for the Exercise of Equity Instruments
As of January 1, 2002, certain of our directors and officers owed us $616,000 previously loaned to them for the exercise of stock options or
the purchase of stock. During 2002, we were repaid $391,000, which included all loans to officers. In February 2003, we agreed to forgive and
terminate the remaining $225,000 and in return, the directors agreed to return the shares of common stock originally purchased under the loans.
For accounting purposes, this arrangement was considered to be an uncompleted transaction and therefore, the common stock and related notes
receivable were eliminated as of December 31, 2002.
Outsource Arrangement
Between November 2002 and November 2003, we had outsourced the administration, accounting and human resources functions, and SEC
report preparation to McManus Financial Consulting (MFC) for a monthly fee of $15,000 and all investor relations activities to McManus & Co.
(M&C) for a monthly fee of $12,000. Between January and June 2002, MFC also provided services to us at hourly rates, subject to a minimum
annual retainer of $24,000. During the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, MFC and M&C received total fees and payments under
severance arrangements amounting to $539,000 and $106,000, respectively. MFC and M&C are co-owned by two of our former officers, John and
Michael McManus, who are also brothers. John McManus received direct compensation from us as Vice President Finance and Strategic Planning
and Assistant Corporate Secretary, however, Michael McManus received no direct compensation from us for his services as Controller. In
November 2003, John and Michael McManus resigned their positions with the Company to return to their consulting business to pursue other
opportunities. The consulting agreement with M&C will remain in effect through its expiration on July 31, 2004.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
There are no off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements or obligations (including contingent obligations) that have, or are reasonably likely
to have a current or future material effect on our financial condition, changes in the financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of
operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.
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Contractual and Commercial Obligations
The following table summarizes our contractual and other commitments, including obligations under facilities leases and operating equipment
leases, as of December 31, 2003:
Payment Due by Period

Contractual Obligations

Capital Lease
Obligations
Operating Lease
Obligations
Total

Total

Less than
1 Year

1-3 Years

$151,000

$151,000

$

0

–

–

$307,000

$285,000

$22,000

–

–

$458,000

$436,000

$22,000

–

–

3-5 Years

After
5 Years

Excluded from the above table of minimum lease requirements, as of December 31, 2003, was $456,000 of minimum lease obligation related
to 50% of a facility leased in 2001 by our subsidiary, NeoGene, from the University of California, Irvine (UCI Lease). Under the terms of the UCI
Lease, we were potentially liable for approximately double such amount, if UCI is unable to use the remaining 50% of the facility. Since inception
of the UCI Lease, we have been charged approximately 83% of the facility cost. In March 2004, we reached a settlement, subject to completion of
definitive documentation, with UCI, pursuant to which the future lease obligations have been terminated. The full amount of the settlement has
been accrued in the accompanying financial statements.
Licensing agreements
We have acquired licenses to further develop certain therapeutic compounds, and are contingently liable for certain milestone payments to the
licensor if we reach certain development milestones. We have not reached any milestones and cannot determine when or if ever a milestone will
be reached. If we reach a milestone, it will likely occur prior to revenues being generated from the related compound.
Employment Agreements
We have entered into employment agreements with certain of our key executive personnel. The agreements provide for, among other things,
potential severance payments equal to up to twice the officer’s annual base salary upon the termination of employment without cause or upon a
change in control under certain circumstances.
Business Outlook
You should read the following discussion of our business outlook together with the financial statements and the notes to financial statements
included elsewhere in this report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates and beliefs. Our actual
results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements.
Our primary business focus in 2004 and beyond will be to develop marketable drug products, focused on the development of oncology drugs
and supplemented by marketable generic drugs.
Our current product candidates are: satraplatin, elsamitrucin, EOquin™, ciprofloxacin, carboplatin and fluconazole. We are currently
developing our oncology drug candidates for the treatment of prostate cancer, bladder cancer, non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma, and radiation
sensitization as it relates to radiation treatment for cancer. Currently, each of our oncology drug candidates relates to life threatening diseases and
we believe each is novel in its treatment or indication, therefore, we hope for expedited regulatory approval, whenever appropriate. We believe that
all of our proposed drug candidates, if approved by the FDA, with sufficient funding, will eventually be marketed by us or with the assistance and
leadership of a co-development partner.
• Funding for satraplatin clinical trials is being borne entirely by our co-development partner GPC Biotech.
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• We are funding the Phase 2 clinical trials of EOquin and elsamitrucin.
• In addition to the three generic drug ANDAs filed in 2003, we plan to file several new ANDAs in 2004 and beyond. In this regard we are
evaluating several drug candidates for feasibility. The evaluation of feasibility includes many factors, including, but not limited to, evaluation
of market potential, competitive scenario, assessment of patent extensions, and availability of active pharmaceutical ingredients, etc.
We believe that our present cash resources are sufficient to support these clinical trials and the filing of the planned ANDAs over
approximately the next two years, based on our current operating expenses (excluding stock-based compensation and restructuring charges, if
any).
In addition, we also have several neurology drug compounds that we intend to out-license for further development because we are not pursuing
internally, and do not presently intend to pursue internally, further development of these drug compounds which include: AIT-034 for dementia,
SPPI-339 for attention deficit disorders, SPPI-356 for psychosis, schizophrenia and other mood disorders and Neotrofin™ for neurodegenerative
diseases.
We expect to begin marketing ciprofloxacin, our first generic drug, through our partner in 2004, if approved by the FDA. We view the potential
for generic drug marketing and sales in the United States with the assistance of low-cost, high quality manufacturers as a revenue opportunity
which we believe will provide us with a source of funding for our research activities, thereby reducing our need to rely exclusively on the capital
markets to fund our development activities.
While we intend to continue to expand the number of our drug candidates and targeted indications, we may need to access the capital markets
if we are to expand our scope beyond the plans described above. The availability of financing at reasonable terms is dependent upon many
factors, including, but not limited to the performance of the stock price of our common stock. Therefore, our attempts to raise additional capital
may be unsuccessful.
If we are able to secure sufficient new funds and are able to develop strategic alliances with other pharmaceutical businesses for codevelopment opportunities, we expect that our operating expenses would increase over the next several years as we expand our research and
development and commercialization activities and operations. We expect to incur significant additional operating losses for at least the next
several years. We also expect that research and development expenses will increase as we expand our clinical trials on all of our drug candidates.
Depending on the results of our ongoing and planned clinical trials for our drug candidates and the outcome of the regulatory approval process, we
will expand our marketing and third party manufacturing capabilities as we approach the commercialization of each of our product candidates.
Item 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to certain market risks associated with interest rate fluctuations and credit risk on our marketable securities and short-term
investments, which investments are entered into for purposes other than trading. The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve
principal, while at the same time maximizing yields without significantly increasing risk. We do not utilize hedging contracts or similar instruments.
Our primary exposures relate to (1) interest rate risk on our investment portfolio, and (2) credit risk of the companies’ bonds in which we
invest. We manage interest rate risk on our investment portfolio by matching scheduled investment maturities with our cash requirements.
Our investments as of December 31, 2003 are fixed rate, short-term corporate and government notes and bonds, which are available for sale.
Because the interest rates are fixed, changes in interest rates affect the fair value of these investments but do not affect the interest earnings. If a
10% change in interest rates were to have occurred on December 31, 2003, any decline in the fair value of our investments would not be material.
In addition, we are exposed to certain market risks associated with corporations’ credit ratings of which we have purchased corporate bonds (or
paper). If these companies were to experience a significant detrimental
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change in their credit ratings, the fair market value of such corporate bonds may significantly decrease. If these companies were to default on
such corporate bonds, we may lose part or all of our principal. We believe that we effectively manage this market risk by diversifying our corporate
bond investments by purchasing a few bonds of many large, well known, companies in a variety of industries.
Item 8.

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our annual consolidated financial statements are included in Item 15 of this report.
Item 9.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
Item 9A.

Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act
reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information
is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Vice President Finance (our senior financial
officer), as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and
procedures, our management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Our
disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide a reasonable level of assurance of reaching our desired disclosure control objectives.
As required by SEC Rule 13a-15(b), we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and our Vice President Finance, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls
and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on the foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and Vice President Finance
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective and were operating at the reasonable assurance level.
There has been no change in our internal controls over financial reporting during our most recent fiscal quarter or fiscal year that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.
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PART III
Item 10.

Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information concerning our directors and executive officers required under this item is incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy
statement related to our 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A, on or before April 29, 2004 (“2004 Proxy
Statement”).
Item 11.

Executive Compensation

The information required under this item is incorporated by reference from our 2004 Proxy Statement.
Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required under this item is incorporated by reference from our 2004 Proxy Statement.
Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required under this item is incorporated by reference from our 2004 Proxy Statement.
Item 14.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required under this item is incorporated by reference from our 2004 Proxy Statement.
PART IV
Item 15.

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K

(a)(1) Consolidated Financial Statements:
Page

Report of Independent Public Accountants
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2003 and 2002
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

F-3
F-5
F-6
F-7
F-8
F-10

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules: All financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required
information is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or notes thereto.
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(a)(3) Exhibits.
Exhibit No.

3.1

3.1.1
3.1.2
3.1.3
3.1.4
3.1.5
3.1.6
3.1.7
3.1.8
3.2
4.1
4.2
4.3

4.4
4.5

Description

Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, as filed on May 7, 1997. (Filed as Exhibit B to the Definitive Proxy
Statement dated May 8, 1997, for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Spectrum Pharmaceuticals Colorado, the
predecessor to Registrant, held on June 17, 1997, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 9,
1997, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant. (Filed as Exhibit 3.1.1 to Form 10-K, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Certificate of Designation of 5% Series A Preferred Stock with Conversion Features. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 9, 1999, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Certificate of Designation of Rights, Preferences and Privileges of Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock of the
Registrant. (Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8-A12G, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
December 26, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Certificate of Designations of the Series C Preferred Stock of the Registrant. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-3, as amended (No. 333-64432), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
July 2, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation filed on September 5, 2002 (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 10-Q
for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2002, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 13, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Certificate of Designations, Rights and Preference of the Series D 8% Cumulative Convertible Voting Preferred Stock.
(Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 16, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Certificate of Increase. (Filed as Exhibit 3.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
May 16, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Certificate of Designations, Rights and Preference of the Series E Convertible Voting Preferred Stock (Filed as
Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 30, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended September 30, 2002, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2002, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Warrant issued by the Registrant to certain investors, dated as of May 11, 1999, to purchase up to an
aggregate of 80,000 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 4.6 to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, dated as of May 17, 1999. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7
to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Form of Representative’s Warrant issued to Joseph Charles & Associates, Inc., dated as of July 26, 1999, to
purchase up to 100,000 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 4.12 to the Registration Statement on Form S1, as amended (No. 333-79935), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 21, 1999, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of November 19, 1999, by and among the Registrant, Strong River
Investments, Inc. and Montrose Investments Ltd. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on December 7, 1999, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Closing Warrant issued by the Registrant to Montrose Investments Ltd., dated as of November 19, 1999. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 7, 1999, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
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Exhibit No.

4.6
4.7
4.8
4.9
4.10
4.11
4.12
4.13
4.14
4.15
4.16
4.17
4.18
4.19
4.20
4.21

Description

Closing Warrant issued by the Registrant to Strong River Investments, Inc., dated as of November 19, 1999. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 7, 1999, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Brighton Capital, Ltd., dated as of November 19, 1999. (Filed as Exhibit 4.14 to
the Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-37180), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
May 16, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of February 25, 2000, by and among the Registrant, Montrose Investments
Ltd. and Strong River Investments, Inc. (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 3, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Closing Warrant issued by the Registrant to Montrose Investments Ltd., dated as of February 25, 2000. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.3 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 3, 2000, and incorporated
herein by reference.)
Closing Warrant issued by the Registrant to Strong River Investments, Inc., dated as of February 25, 2000. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.4 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 3, 2000, and incorporated
herein by reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Brighton Capital, Ltd., dated as of February 25, 2000. (Filed as Exhibit 4.15 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-37180), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
May 16, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of April 6, 2000, by and among the Registrant, Strong River Investments, Inc.
and Montrose Investments Ltd. (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 21, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Class A Warrant issued by the Registrant to Montrose Investments Ltd., dated as of April 6, 2000. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.4 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 21, 2000, and incorporated
herein by reference.)
Class A Warrant issued by the Registrant to Strong River Investments, Inc., dated as of April 6, 2000. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.5 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 21, 2000, and incorporated
herein by reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Brighton Capital, Ltd., dated as of April 6, 2000. (Filed as Exhibit 4.16 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-37180), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
May 16, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of April 28, 2000, by and among the Registrant, Royal Canadian Growth Fund
and Dlouhy Investments Inc. (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on May 25, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Royal Canadian Growth Fund, dated as of May 1, 2000. (Filed as Exhibit 4.3 to
Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 25, 2000, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Dlouhy Investments Inc., dated as of May 1, 2000. (Filed as Exhibit 4.4 to
Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 25, 2000, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of September 21, 2000, by and among the Registrant, Strong River
Investments, Inc. and Montrose Investments Ltd. (Filed as Exhibit 4.4 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on November 13, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Montrose Investments Ltd., dated as of September 21, 2000. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7
to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2000, and incorporated herein
by reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Strong River Investments, Inc., dated as of September 21, 2000. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.8 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2000, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
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Exhibit No.

4.22
4.23
4.24
4.25
4.26

4.27
4.28
4.29
4.30
4.31
4.32
4.33
4.34
4.35
4.36

Description

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of September 29, 2000, by and among the Registrant, Strong River
Investments, Inc. and Montrose Investments Ltd. (Filed as Exhibit 4.12 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on November 13, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Closing Warrant issued by the Registrant to Montrose Investments, Ltd., dated as of September 29, 2000. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.13 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2000, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Closing Warrant issued by the Registrant to Strong River Investments, Inc., dated as of September 29, 2000. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.14 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2000, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Warrants issued by the Registrant to Brighton Capital, Ltd., dated between September 18, 2000 and May 18,
2001. (Filed as Exhibit 4.32 to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Rights Agreement, dated as of December 13, 2000, between the Registrant and U.S. Stock Transfer Corporation, as
Rights Agent, which includes as Exhibit A thereto the form of Certificate of Designation for the Series B Junior
Participating Preferred Stock, as Exhibit B thereto the Form of Rights Certificate and as Exhibit C thereto a Summary
of Terms of Stockholder Rights Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-A12G, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on December 26, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of December 18, 2000, by and between the Registrant and Societe Generale.
(Filed as Exhibit 4.4 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 28, 2000, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Societe Generale, dated as of December 18, 2000. (Filed as Exhibit 4.6 to Form 8K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 28, 2000, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Brighton Capital, Ltd., dated as of December 18, 2000. (Filed as Exhibit 4.36 to
Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to CroMedica Global, Inc., dated as of January 25, 2001. (Filed as Exhibit 4.37 to
Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to IAT ReInsurance Syndicate Ltd., dated as of March 8, 2001. (Filed as Exhibit 10.2
to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 14, 2001, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Montrose Investments Ltd., dated as of May 18, 2001. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to
Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 21, 2001, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Strong River Investments, Inc., dated as of May 18, 2001. (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to
Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 21, 2001, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Form of Warrant issued by the Registrant to Gruntal & Co., L.L.C., dated as of August 10, 2001 (Filed as Exhibit 4.44
to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Form of Warrants issued by the Registrant to Cantor Fitzgerald & Co, dated as of December 6, 2001 and
December 13, 2001. (Filed as Exhibit A to Schedule 1 to Exhibit 1.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on October 24, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Jefferies & Company, Inc., dated as of December 13, 2001. (Filed as Exhibit 4.46
to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
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Exhibit No.

4.37
4.38
4.39
4.40
4.41
4.42
4.43
4.44
4.45
4.46
4.47
4.48
4.49
4.50
4.51
4.52
4.53

Description

Form of Warrant issued by the Registrant to certain purchasers, dated as of March 13, 2002. (Filed as Exhibit 4.47 to
Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Form of Warrant issued by the Registrant to certain purchasers, dated as of June 5, 2002. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to
Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 7, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Form of Warrant issued by the Registrant to certain purchasers, dated as of June 7, 2002. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to
Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 19, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Warrant Repurchase Agreement by and between the Registrant and BNC Bach International, Ltd., dated as of July 31,
2002. (Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2002, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Warrant issued by the Registrant to five purchasers, dated as of November 21, 2002, to purchase up to an
aggregate of 107,870 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on November 26, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Warrant issued by the Registrant to certain purchasers, dated as of December 13, 2002, to purchase up to an
aggregate of 65,550 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on December 13, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Warrant issued by the Registrant to three purchasers, dated as of January 16, 2003, to purchase up to an
aggregate of 55,555 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on January 17, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Series D-1 Warrant. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on May 16, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Series D-2 Warrant. (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on May 16, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Series D-3 Warrant. (Filed as Exhibit 4.3 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
May 16, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of May 7, 2003, by and among the Registrant and the persons listed on
Schedule 1 attached thereto. (Filed as Exhibit 4.4 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on May 16, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Amendment No. 1 to the Rights Agreement dated as of December 13, 2000 by and between the Registrant and
U.S. Stock Transfer Corporation. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on August 14, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of August 13, 2003, by and among the Registrant and the persons listed on
Schedule 1 attached thereto. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on August 15, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Series 2003-1 Warrant (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on August 15, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Series E-1 Warrant (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on September 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Series E-2 Warrant (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on September 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Series E-3 Warrant (Filed as Exhibit 4.3 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
September 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
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Exhibit No.

4.54
10.1 *
10.2 *
10.3
10.4 *
10.5 *
10.6 *
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10
10.11

10.12
10.13

10.14

Description

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of September 26, 2003, by and among the Registrant and the persons listed
on Schedule 1 attached thereto. (Filed as Exhibit 4.4 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on September 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
1991 Stock Incentive Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registration Statement on Form SB-2, as amended (No. 33305342-LA), and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and each of its officers and directors. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.10 to the Registration Statement on Form SB-2, as amended (No. 333-05342-LA), and incorporated herein
by reference.)
Industrial Lease Agreement dated as of January 16, 1997, between the Registrant and the Irvine Company. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.11 to the Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on March 31, 1997, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Employee Stock Purchase Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8
(No. 333-54246), and incorporated herein by reference.)
Amendment 2001-1 to the Employee Stock Purchase Plan effective as of June 21, 2001. (Filed as Exhibit 10.22 to
the Annual Report on Form 10-K, as amended, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 25,
2001, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Executive Employment Agreement for Rajesh C. Shrotriya, M.D., dated as of December 1, 2000. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.35 to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated
herein by reference.)
License Agreement dated as of June 29, 2001, by and between the Registrant and NDDO Research Foundation.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 14, 2001,
and incorporated herein by reference.)
License Agreement dated as of August 28, 2001, by and between the Registrant and Johnson Matthey PLC. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.5 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 14, 2001, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
License Agreement dated as of October 24, 2001, by and between the Registrant and Bristol-Myers Squibb
Company. (Filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 14, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Letter Agreement dated as of March 11, 2002, by and between the Registrant and Brighton Capital, Ltd. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.47 to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated
herein by reference.)
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, by and between the Registrant and certain investors, dated as of March 12,
2002 and March 15, 2002, for the purchase of an aggregate of 3,100,000 shares of our common stock. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.48 to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated
herein by reference.)
Securities Purchase Agreement by and between the Registrant and an institutional investor, dated as of June 5,
2002, for the purchase of an aggregate of 800,000 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 7, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement by and between the Registrant and institutional investors, dated as of
June 7, 2002, for the purchase of an aggregate of 5,935,483 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 19, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Form of Stock Purchase Agreement by and between the Registrant and four institutional investors, dated as of
July 8, 2002, for the purchase of an aggregate of 6,470,588 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 12, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
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Exhibit No.

10.15

10.16
10.17
10.18

10.19
10.20

10.21
10.22
10.23

10.24
10.25

10.26

Description

Mutual Rescission Agreement by and between the Registrant and Stonestreet Limited Partnership dated as of
July 25, 2002, to rescind the purchase of 400,000 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q
for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2002, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 13, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Additional Collateral Rider by and between the Registrant and General Electric Capital Corporation dated as of
September 22, 2002. (Filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2002, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Settlement Agreement and Release by and between the Registrant and Merck Eprova AG dated as of September 30,
2002. (Filed as Exhibit 10.7 to Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2002, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
First Amendment to License Agreement dated August 28, 2001 by and between the Registrant and Johnson Matthey
PLC dated as of September 30, 2002. (Filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
September 30, 2002, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2002, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Co-Development and License Agreement by and between the Registrant and GPC Biotech AG dated as of
September 30, 2002. (Filed as Exhibit 10.9 to Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2002, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Settlement Agreement and Release by and between the Registrant and certain vendors for the issuance of
an aggregate of 356,956 shares of our common stock to settle $628,190 in vendor payables. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to
Form 8-K, as Filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 21, 2002 and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Settlement Agreement and Release by and between the Registrant and Symbion Research International, Inc. dated
as of October 22, 2002. (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 21, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement by and between the Registrant and five investors, dated as of November 21,
2002, for the purchase of an aggregate of 469,000 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 26, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement by and between the Registrant and three investors, dated as of
December 13, 2002, for the purchase of an aggregate of 285,000 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1
to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 23, 2002 and incorporated herein
by reference.)
Settlement Agreement and Release by and between the Registrant and Oppenheimer, Wolff and Donnelly, LLP dated
as of November 22, 2002. (Filed as Exhibit 4.3 to Form S-3, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on January 17, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement by and between the Registrant and three institutional investors, dated as of
January 16, 2003, for the purchase of an aggregate of 222,223 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 17, 2003 and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Successor Party Agreement by and between the Registrant, Pfizer, Inc. and the Regents of the University of
California, dated February 19, 2003. (Filed as Exhibit 10.47 to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 28, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.)
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Exhibit No.

10.27
10.28
10.29
10.30
10.31
10.32

10.33*
10.34
10.35*
10.36
10.37
10.38*
10.39
10.40
10.41
10.42*

Description

Letter of Agreement by and between the Registrant and LEKAR Pharma Limited, dated as of March 26, 2003, for an
investment of $1 million in the Registrant’s common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 10.48 to Form 10-K, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 28, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Limited Liability Agreement of NeoJB LLC, a Delaware limited liability company effective as of April 17, 2002. (Filed
as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 14, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Supply Agreement dated April 16, 2002 by and between J.B. Chemicals & Pharmaceuticals Ltd. and NeoJB LLC.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 14, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Management Agreement dated April 16, 2002 by and between NeoTherapeutics, Inc. and NeoJB LLC. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.3 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 14, 2003, and incorporated
herein by reference.)
Preferred Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of April 29, 2003, by and among the Registrant and the
purchasers listed on Schedule 1 attached thereto. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on May 16, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Amendment No. 1 of the Preferred Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement and Registration Rights Agreement dated
as of May 13, 2003 by and among the Registrant and the persons listed on Schedule 1B attached thereto. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 16, 2003 and incorporated
herein by reference.)
Form of Lock-up Agreement. (Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on May 16, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Engagement Letter dated as of February 1, 2003, by and among the Registrant and SCO Financial Group LLC. (Filed
as Exhibit 10.4 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 16, 2003 and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Incentive Plan. (Filed as Annex A to our
Definitive Proxy Statement, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 16, 2003 and incorporated
herein by reference.)
Common Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of August 13, 2003, by and among the Registrant and the
purchasers listed on Schedule 1 attached thereto. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on August 15, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Preferred Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of September 26, 2003, by and among the Registrant and
the purchasers listed on Schedule 1 attached thereto. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on September 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Lock-up Agreement (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on September 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Exclusive Supply, Marketing and Distribution Agreement between Lannett Company, Inc. and the Registrant dated
August 15, 2003. (Filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 13, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Separation Agreement and General Release dated November 13, 2003 by and between Spectrum and John L.
McManus. (Filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 13, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Separation Agreement and General Release dated November 7, 2003 by and between Spectrum and Michael P.
McManus. (Filed as Exhibit 10.7 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 13, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
2003 Stock Incentive Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on November 13, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
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Exhibit No.

10.43
10.44+#
10.45+*
21+
23.1+
23.2+
31.1+
31.2+
32.1+
32.2+

Description

Letter of Agreement between Spectrum and McManus & Company, Inc. dated August 19, 2002. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.9 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2003 and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Exclusive Supply, Marketing and Distribution Agreement between FDC, Ltd. and the Registrant dated November 20,
2003.
Executive Employment Agreement for Luigi Lenaz, M.D., dated as of October 22, 2001.
Subsidiaries of Registrant.
Consent of Kelly & Company.
Information Regarding Consent of Arthur Anderson LLP.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14 promulgated under the Exchange Act, as created by
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Vice President Finance, pursuant to Rule 13a-14 promulgated under the Exchange Act, as created by
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as created by Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Vice President Finance, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as created by Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

* Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
+ Filed herewith
#

Confidential portions omitted and filed separately with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 24b-2 promulgated
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
(b) Reports on Form 8-K.

On October 2, 2003, we filed a Form 8-K current report regarding our withdrawal from a bankruptcy court supervised action to purchase certain
assets of Protarga, Inc. (Item 5).
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Annual Report
on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
By: /s/ RAJESH C. SHROTRIYA, M.D.
Rajesh C. Shrotriya, M.D.
Chief Executive Officer and President
Date: March 26, 2004
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ RAJESH C. SHROTRIYA, M.D.

Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer
President and Director (Principal Executive
Officer)

March 26, 2004

Vice President Finance (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)

March 26, 2004

Director

March 26, 2004

Director

March 26, 2004

Director

March 26, 2004

Director

March 26, 2004

Director

March 26, 2004

Director

March 26, 2004

Director

March 26, 2004

Director

March 26, 2004

Rajesh C. Shrotriya, M.D.
/s/ SHYAM K. KUMARIA
Shyam K. Kumaria
/s/ CAROL O’CLEIREACAIN, PH.D.
Carol O’Cleireacain, Ph.D.
/s/ MARK J. GLASKY
Mark J. Glasky
/s/ ANN C. KESSLER, PH.D.
Ann C. Kessler, Ph.D.
/s/ ARMIN M. KESSLER
Armin M. Kessler
/s/ ANTHONY E. MAIDA
Anthony E. Maida
/s/ DILIP J. MEHTA, PH.D., M.D.
Dilip J. Mehta, Ph.D., M.D.
/s/ PAUL H. SILVERMAN, PH.D., D.SC.
Paul H. Silverman, Ph.D., D.Sc.
/s/ JULIUS A. VIDA, PH.D.
Julius A. Vida, Ph.D.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of NeoTherapeutics, Inc.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of NeoTherapeutics, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2001. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
NeoTherapeutics, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of its consolidated operations and its cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in
Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company has suffered recurring losses from operations and has a net capital deficiency that raise
substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 1. The
financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to recoverability and classification of asset carrying amounts or the amount and
classification of liabilities that might result should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.
/s/ ARTHUR ANDERSON LLP
Orange County, California
March 27, 2002
This is a copy of the audit report previously issued by Arthur Anderson LLP in connection with Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s
filing on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001. This audit report has not been reissued by Arthur Anderson LLP in
connection with this filing on Form 10-K. See Exhibit 23.2 for further discussion.
F-3
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (formerly NeoTherapeutics, Inc.)
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (formerly NeoTherapeutics, Inc.) (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for
each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2003. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. The consolidated financial statements of the
Company as of December 31, 2001 and the year then ended were audited by other auditors who have ceased operations, and whose report dated
March 27, 2002 on those statements included an explanatory paragraph that described the Company’s recurring losses from operations and its net
capital deficiency discussed in Note 1 to those financial statements.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the 2003 and 2002 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (formerly NeoTherapeutics, Inc.) as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the consolidated results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2003 in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States.
/s/ KELLY & COMPANY
Kelly & Company
Costa Mesa, California
March 22, 2004
F-4
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SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Formerly NeoTherapeutics, Inc.)
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,
2003

2002

(In Thousands, Except
Share and Per Share Data)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities and short-term investments
Other receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $75 for
2003
Property and equipment, held for sale
Prepaid expenses and refundable deposits
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Other assets – prepaid expenses and deposits
Total assets

$ 24,581
1,770

$

1,512
66

16
100
297

204
619
170

26,764

2,571

560

802

65

80

$ 27,389

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
$ 1,538
Accrued compensation and related taxes
1,038
Other accrued expenses
387
Current portion of capital lease obligations
145

$

3,453

$

1,844
202
169
307

Total current liabilities
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion
Other non-current liabilities

3,108
–
–

2,522
158
101

Total liabilities

3,108

2,781

–

–

1,261

–

8,110

–

Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share, 5,000,000 shares
authorized:
Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock, 200,000 shares
authorized, no shares issued and outstanding
Series D 8% Cumulative Convertible Voting Preferred Stock,
600 shares authorized, stated value $10,000 per share,
liquidation value $3,240, issued and outstanding 265 shares
and no shares at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively
Series E Convertible Voting Preferred Stock, 2,000 shares
authorized, stated value $10,000 per share, liquidation value
$15,780, issued and outstanding, 1,315 shares and no shares
at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively
Common stock, par value $0.001 per share, 50,000,000 shares
authorized:
Issued and outstanding, 8,097,927 and 2,726,019 shares at
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Deferred compensation and services
Accumulated other comprehensive income, unrealized gain on
available for sale securities
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

8
168,590
(192)

3
143,831
(56)

6
(153,502)

6
(143,112)

24,281
$ 27,389

672
$

3,453

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
F-5
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SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Formerly NeoTherapeutics, Inc.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Years Ended December 31,
2003

2002

2001

(In Thousands, Except Share and
Per Share Data)

Revenues:
Licensing

$

Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative including related party
consulting costs
Stock-based compensation
Restructuring expenses
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense)
Total other income (expense)
Net loss before minority interest in consolidated
subsidiaries
Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries’
net loss

1,000

$

2,371

$

41

3,683

11,706

20,611

5,049
2,573
163

3,691
1,431
3,050

5,475
2,105
–

11,468

19,878

28,191

(10,468)

(17,507)

(28,150)

83
(17)
12

161
(123)
(165)

694
(130)
(201)

78

(127)

363

(10,390)

(17,634)

–

–

(27,787)
(48)

Net loss

$

(10,390)

$

(17,634)

$ (27,835)

Basic and diluted loss per share

$

(4.83)

$

(12.34)

$ (36.50)

Basic and diluted weighted average common
shares outstanding

4,169,374

1,429,380

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Formerly NeoTherapeutics, Inc.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Preferred Stock
Shares

Balance at December 31, 2000
Net loss
Unrealized gains on availablefor-sale securities
Total comprehensive loss, net
Conversion of Preferred Stock
of Subsidiary into Series C
Preferred Stock
Purchase and retirement of
Series C Preferred Stock
Conversion of Series C
Preferred Stock into
common stock
Issuance of common stock for
cash, net of issuance costs
Issuance of common stock to
a consultant for services
based on the fair value of
the stock
Issuance of stock options and
warrants to consultants
based on fair value of
services
Issuance of stock options to
employees below fair value
Amortization of deferred
compensation and services
Reclassification of warrants
fair value and other items
previously included in
minority interest
Sale of stock in subsidiary
Litigation settlement
Series C Preferred stock
dividends paid with cash
Balance at December 31, 2001
Net loss
Unrealized loss on availablefor-sale securities, net
Total comprehensive loss
Issuance of common stock for
cash, net of issuance costs
Repurchase of common stock
and warrants
Issuance of common stock to
vendors for services in
settlement of accounts
payable based on the fair
value of the stock
Issuance of warrants to a
vendor based on the fair
value of the services
Expiration of stock options
granted
Amortization of deferred
compensation and services
Repayment of notes
receivable from directors
and officers
Termination of notes
receivable from directors
and officers
Balance at December 31, 2002
Net loss

–
–
–

Amount

$

Common Stock
Shares

Amount

–
–

532,289
–

–

–

$

1
–
–

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Deferred
Compensation

Notes
Receivable
From
Directors

(In Thousands, Except Share Data)
$101,183
$
(960)
$
(661)
–
–
–
–

–

–

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)

$

1
–
86
86

200

1,973

Accumulated
Deficit

$

(96,823)
(27,835)
–
(27,835)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Total

$ 2,741
(27,835)
86
(27,749)

1,973

(30)

(296)

–

–

–

–

–

–

(4)

(300)

(170)

(1,677)

19,424

–

1,677

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

399,173

–

28,328

–

–

–

–

28,328

–

–

200

–

23

–

–

–

–

23

–

–

–

–

620

–

–

–

–

620

–

–

–

–

2,391

(2,391)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

1,461

–

–

–

1,461

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

460
1
–

–
–
–

–
–
45

–
–
–

–
–
–

460
1
45

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(816)

(816)

–
–

–
–

951,086
–

1
–

$134,683
–

87
–

(125,478)
(17,634)

6,787
(17,634)

–

–

–

–

–

(1,890)
–
–

(616)
–
–

(81)
(81)

–

–

1,407,607

1

–

–

(16,000)

–

–

–

383,326

–

–

–

9,920

–
(17,634)

(81)
(17,715)

–

–

–

–

(143)

–

–

–

–

(143)

1

775

–

–

–

–

776

–

–

244

–

–

–

–

244

–

–

–

1,423

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

411

–

–

–

411

–

–

–

–

–

–

391

–

–

391

–

–

–

–

–

225

–

–

–

–

–

2,726,019

3

–

6
–

(1,423)

(225)
143,831

(56)

(143,112)
(10,390)

9,921

672
(10,390)

Unrealized loss on availablefor-sale securities, net
Total comprehensive loss
Issuance of Series D
Preferred Stock and
common stock warrants, net
Issuance of Series E
Preferred Stock and
common stock warrants, net
Conversion of Series D
Preferred Stock into
common stock
Conversion of Series E
Preferred Stock into
common stock
Issuance of common stock
and warrants for cash, net
of issuance costs
Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of warrants
Issuance of common stock to
employees as
compensation
Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of employee
stock options
Intrinsic value of stock options
granted to employees
Fair value of warrants and
options issued to
consultants
Amortization of deferred
compensation and services
Recognition of beneficial
conversion feature on
preferred stock
Preferred dividends:
Deemed dividend related to
beneficial conversion
features on preferred
stock
Deemed dividend related to
issuance costs
Series D Preferred Stock
dividend paid with common
stock
Series D Preferred Stock
dividends paid in cash
Balance at December 31, 2003

–

–

–

(10,390)

–
(10,390)

600

2,856

–

–

2,300

–

–

–

–

5,156

2,000

11,269

–

–

6,919

–

–

–

–

18,188

(335)

(1,595)

1,425,532

2

1,593

–

–

–

–

–

(685)

(4,224)

1,370,000

1

4,223

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

1,211,578

1

4,536

–

–

–

–

4,537

–

–

1,169,070

1

3,303

–

–

–

–

3,304

–

–

105,700

–

547

–

–

–

–

547

–

–

61,550

–

173

–

–

–

–

173

–

–

–

–

1,749

–

–

–

–

1,749

–

–

–

–

516

(240)

–

–

–

276

–

–

–

–

–

104

–

–

–

104

–

(8,447)

–

–

8,447

–

–

–

–

–

–

8,447

–

–

(8,447)

–

–

–

–

–

–

1,065

–

–

(1,065)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

28,478

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(35)

–

–

–

–

(35)

1,580

$ 9,371

8,097,927

$

8

$168,590

$

(192)

$

–

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Formerly NeoTherapeutics, Inc.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31,
2003

2002

2001

(In Thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in
operating activities:
Non-cash items included in net loss:
Minority interest in net loss
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of debt discount
Impairment on investment in marketable security
Intrinsic value of stock options granted to employees
Amortization of employee stock option compensation
previously deferred
Issuance of common stock for services
Amortization of compensation and services
Fair value of common shares issued to employees as
compensation
Fair value of warrants issued for consulting services
Forgiveness of notes to officers and directors
Impairment on property and equipment
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in other receivables, prepaid
expenses and refundable deposits
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued
expenses
(Increase) decrease in property and equipment, held for
sale
Increase (decrease) in accrued compensation and
related taxes
Increase (decrease) in other non-current liabilities
Repayment of notes payable to related parties, net
Net cash used in operating activities

$(10,390)

$(17,634)

$(27,835)

–
242
–
–
1,749

–
917
–
51
–

24
–
80

411
1,020
–

1,461
33
–

547
276
–
130

–
–
391
2,288

–
610
45
–

76

486

(89)

(162)
796
13
–
–

(108)

(2,172)

221

390

(619)

–

836
(101)
–

(34)
(260)
(136)

(29)
275
(150)

(6,230)

(15,291)

(24,830)

(59)

(1,364)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
(Purchases) sales of available-for-sale securities and shortterm investments, net
(Increase) decrease in other assets
Proceeds from sale of equipment

(1,704)
–
–

6,209
39
741

(1,010)
(66)
–

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

(1,704)

6,930

(2,440)

–

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS – (Continued)
Years Ended December 31,
2003

2002

2001

(In Thousands)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and warrants, net of
related offering costs and expenses
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in consolidated
subsidiary
Proceeds from sale of preferred stock, net of issuance costs
Proceeds from exercise of employee stock options
Proceeds from the exercise of warrants
Payments made on capital lease and loan obligations
Cash dividends paid to preferred stock holders
Purchase of preferred stock of consolidated subsidiary
Payments of dividend on preferred stock of consolidated
subsidiary
Purchase of Series C Preferred Stock
Repurchase of common stock and warrants

$ 4,537
–
23,344
173
3,304
(320)
(35)
–
–
–
–

$9,921
–
–
–
–
(653)
–
–

1
–
–
–
(669)
–
(4,684)

–
–
(143)

(816)
(300)
–

Net cash provided by financing activities

31,003

9,125

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

23,069
1,512

764
748

$24,581

$1,512

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

Schedule of noncash investing and financing activities
Fixed assets financed by capital lease
–
–
Preferred stock dividends paid with issuance of common stock
$ 206
–
Deemed dividend related to preferred stock related to issuance
costs
$ 1,065
–
Deemed dividends on beneficial conversion features on preferred
stock
$ 8,447
–
Unrealized (gain) loss on marketable securities
–
$ 81
Stock and stock options granted to employees and non-employees
below fair market value
–
–
Retirement of stock options granted to employees below fair
market value
–
$1,423
Conversion of subsidiary preferred stock into company Series C
Preferred Stock
–
–
Conversion of preferred stock and convertible debentures into
shares of common stock
$ 5,819
–
Reclassification of warrants and other
–
–
Warrants issued to consultants for services
$ 240
–
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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$28,328

21,860
(5,410)
6,158
$

748

$

705
–
–

$

–
(86)

$ 2,391
–
$ 1,973
$ 1,677
$ 460
–
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SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Formerly NeoTherapeutics, Inc.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of December 31, 2003 and 2002 and
the Three Years in the Period Ended December 31, 2003
1.

Nature of Business
Overview

Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Company) is engaged in the business of acquiring, developing and commercializing proprietary and generic
drug products which have a primary focus on the treatment of cancer and related disorders.
Our business strategy beginning in August 2002 has two principal components: first, what we refer to as our Oncology Strategy, to acquire
rights to clinical-stage oncology drug candidates and either alone, or through alliances with other companies, develop and eventually
commercialize those drugs; and second, what we refer to as our Generic Drug Strategy, to seek to generate revenues from the sale of generic
versions of drugs whose patent protection expires in the near term. Prior to August 2002, when we announced a shift in our strategic focus, we
were primarily engaged in the discovery and development of neurology drugs as well as functional genomics research.
Restructuring Charges
The restructuring charge of $3,050,000 recorded in 2002 related to the termination of all research efforts related to neurology and functional
genomics research and development, and consisted of:
• A fixed asset impairment charge of $1,669,000 resulting from the review of the carrying value of our laboratory equipment. An independent
appraiser determined the fair market value of such laboratory equipment at $619,000 which amount was classified as Property and
Equipment held for sale in the accompanying balance sheet as of December 31, 2002. The majority of the laboratory equipment was sold
during the year ended December 31, 2003. The remaining balance of $100,000 represents management’s estimate of the liquidation value as
of December 31, 2003. Adjustments to the carrying value of impaired assets are included in restructuring charges.
• Severance costs of $763,000 related to termination agreements with two senior executives, and 21 employees:
• The former Chairman of our Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Scientific Officer resigned effective August 16, 2002. In
connection with his retirement agreement, we recognized a charge of approximately $504,000 for contractually obligated severance
benefits.
• The former Senior Vice President Finance, Chief Financial Officer, Secretary, Treasurer and Director resigned effective August 21, 2002.
In connection with his retirement agreement we recognized a charge of approximately $200,000 for contractually obligated severance
benefits through December 31, 2002.
• Severance charge of $59,000 related to termination agreements with twenty-one research and administrative employees.
• A $312,000 loss on exchange of certain assets in connection with the settlement of certain payment obligations to the University of
California, Irvine, in connection with the former functional genomics operations.
• Other restructuring related administrative and legal expenses of $306,000.
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(Formerly NeoTherapeutics, Inc.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
The restructuring charge of $163,000 in 2003 is related to an adjustment of the realizable value of assets held for sale as of December 31,
2003.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Since our inception, in 1987, our cumulative losses exceed $150,000,000 through December 31, 2003. While our expenses have been
reduced, we expect to continue to incur additional losses as we implement our strategy and develop a pipeline of marketable drug products.
During 2003 we secured over $30,000,000 in financing, entered into strategic alliances, and filed three Abbreviated New Drug Applications
(ANDA) with the FDA. These actions are designed to position the company to capitalize on growth opportunities.
We believe that the approximately $26,000,000 in cash and marketable securities on hand as of December 31, 2003 will be sufficient to fund
our current planned operations for approximately two years.
2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Estimates
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and of our wholly owned and majority owned subsidiaries. As of
December 31, 2003, we had three subsidiaries: Spectrum Pharmaceuticals GmbH, wholly owned, incorporated in Switzerland in April 1997;
NeoGene Technologies, Inc. (NeoGene), 88.4% owned, incorporated in California in October 1999; and NeoJB LLC (NeoJB), 80% owned,
organized in California in April 2002. During the year ended December 31, 2001, we merged a previously wholly owned subsidiary, Advanced
ImmunoTherapeutics, Inc., into Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. During the year ended December 31, 2002, we dissolved a previously wholly
owned subsidiary, NeoTravel, Inc., and we dissolved NeoOncoRx, Inc., a 90.5% owned subsidiary. We have eliminated all significant
intercompany accounts and transactions. Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
Reverse Stock Split
In September 2002, stockholders approved a reverse split of our outstanding common stock on the basis of 1 share for each 25 shares of the
then outstanding common stock. All share and per share information presented in these financial statements has been restated to reflect the 25for-1 reverse split.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires us to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and the accompanying notes. Actual results may differ
from those estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and highly liquid short-term investments, including market auction debt securities, with maturities
of 90 days or less, and which are readily convertible into cash at par value, which approximates cost.
Marketable Securities and Short-term Investments
We classify investments in marketable debt securities which do not meet the definition of cash equivalents in accordance with the provisions
of Statement No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities”. We carry available-for-sale securities at fair value, with
unrealized gains and
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(Formerly NeoTherapeutics, Inc.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
losses included as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’ equity. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002,
the carrying amount of marketable securities was $1,770,000 and $66,000, respectively. Unrealized gains or losses were not significant as of
these dates.
Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other-than-temporary on available-for-sales securities are included in other
expense. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method. Interest and dividends on securities classified as available-forsale are included in interest income.
Concentration of Credit Risk
We invest our excess cash in marketable debt securities and do not require collateral or other security in addition to collateral or other security
contained in the investment contract. Investments are not insured against the possibility of a complete loss of earnings or principal and are subject
to a degree of credit risk related to the credit worthiness of the underlying issuer. The Company maintains a significant majority of its cash and
investments at one financial institution. This account is insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) and by third party insurance.
As of December 31, 2003, we had a bank account with a balance that exceeded the amount insured by the FDIC by $773,000. We believe this
concentration risk is mitigated by the financial strength of the bank that maintains the account.
Property and Equipment
We carry property and equipment at historical cost. Equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over its estimated life (generally 5 to
7 years). Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful life or lease term. Maintenance and repairs are expensed
as incurred. Major renewals and betterments that extend the life of the property are capitalized.
We review long-lived assets, including property and equipment, for impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable. If impairment is indicated, we reduce the carrying value of the asset
to fair value.
Patents and Licenses
We own or license all the intellectual property that forms the basis of our intellectual property. We expense all licensing and patent application
costs as they are incurred.
Accounting for Preferred Stock
The effective conversion price on our Series D 8% Cumulative Convertible Voting Preferred Stock (Series D Preferred Stock) and Series E
Convertible Voting Preferred Stock (Series E Preferred Stock) is different from the stated conversion price. This results in a beneficial conversion
feature which is recorded as a “deemed dividend” in the computation of loss per common share. There is no effect on the financial statements and
no tax implication from this treatment.
Revenue Recognition
License fees comprise initial fees and milestone payments derived from collaborative licensing arrangements. We defer revenue recognition
for milestone events which are reasonably assured and recognize them ratably over the minimum remaining period of our performance obligations.
Milestones that are not reasonably assured are treated as the culmination of a separate earnings process and are recognized as revenue when the
milestones are achieved.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
Research and Development
Research and development expenses are comprised of the following types of costs incurred in performing research and development
activities: personnel expenses, facility costs, contract services, costs of clinical trials, laboratory supplies and drugs, and allocations of corporate
costs. We expense all research and development activity costs in the period incurred.
Minority Interest in Consolidated Subsidiaries
Investments by outside parties in our consolidated subsidiaries is recorded as Minority Interest in Consolidated Subsidiaries in our accounts,
and stated net after allocation of losses in the subsidiaries. The minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries’ net loss amounting to $48,000 in
2001 in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations consists of amortization of beneficial conversion features and dividends on
convertible preferred stock issued by Neogene. Effective December 31, 2001, minority holders had no net equity; therefore, we are currently
recording 100% of the net losses of our majority owned subsidiaries.
Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per Share
We calculate basic and diluted net loss per share using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and the net loss, less
preferred stock dividends. We exclude all antidilutive common stock equivalents from the basic and diluted net loss per share calculation. Dilutive
common stock equivalents would include the dilutive effects of common stock issuable upon conversion of Preferred Stock and the exercise of
warrants and stock options. Potentially dilutive securities as of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, amounted to 11,078,280, 1,091,859 and
220,569, respectively.
Preferred stock dividends increase the amount of loss in the calculation of basic and dilutive loss per share. During the year ended
December 31, 2003, we issued preferred stock together with warrants. After an evaluation of the effective conversion price based on the allocation
of proceeds using the relative fair values of the preferred stock and warrants, it was determined that the preferred stock had a beneficial
conversion feature. The amount of beneficial conversion feature is considered a deemed dividend to the preferred stockholders and is used in the
calculation of earnings per share. At the time of issuance of the Series E Preferred Stock a portion of the issuance was determined to have
redemption features. The costs related to the issuance has been accreted to the Series E Preferred Stock balance with a corresponding charge to
additional paid in capital and is treated in the same manner as preferred dividends for loss per share computations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
The following data show the amounts used in computing basic loss per share for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2003.
For the Years Ended December 31,
2003

2002

2001

(Amounts in Thousands)

Net loss
Less:
Deemed dividend related to beneficial conversion
feature on preferred stock
Preferred dividends paid in cash or stock
Deemed dividends related to issuance costs

$

(10,390)

$

(17,634)

(8,447)
(241)
(1,065)

Income available to common stockholders used in
computing basic earnings per share

$

Weighted average shares

(20,143)

4,169,374

–
–
–
$

(17,634)

1,429,380

$ (27,835)
–
(816)
–
$ (28,651)
784,949

Accounting for Stock-Based Employee Compensation
At December 31, 2003, we had three stock-based employee compensation plans, which are described more fully in Note 10. We account for
those plans under the intrinsic value method described in Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees”, and related Interpretations. Under the intrinsic value method, no stock-based employee compensation cost is recorded when the
exercise price is equal to, or higher than, the market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. We recognize stock-based
compensation expense for all grants to consultants, and for those grants to employees where the exercise prices are below the market price of the
underlying stock at the measurement date of the grant. The following table illustrates the effect on net loss and loss per share if we had applied
the fair value recognition provisions of FASB Statement No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, to stock-based employee
compensation, for each of the three years ended December 31, 2003.
2003

2002

2001

(Amounts in Thousands
Except Share Data)

Net loss, as reported
Less: Total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value based method for all awards, net
of related tax effect

$(10,390)

$(17,634)

$(27,835)

(2,781)

(6,094)

(4,308)

Pro forma net loss

$(13,171)

$(23,728)

$(32,143)

Loss per share:
Basic and diluted – as reported

$

(4.83)

$ (12.34)

$ (36.50)

Basic and diluted – pro forma

$

(5.50)

$ (16.60)

$ (41.99)

Income Taxes
We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement
bases and tax bases of existing assets and liabilities. We recorded a valuation allowance equal to our net deferred tax asset. No income tax
expense has been allocated to other comprehensive income.
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Disclosures about Fair Values of Financial Instruments
The estimated fair value amounts of all financial instruments on our December 31, 2003 and 2002 balance sheets have been determined by
using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies. Fair value is described as the amount at which the instrument could
be exchanged in a current transaction between informed willing parties, other than in a forced liquidation. However, considerable judgment is
necessarily required in interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not
necessarily indicative of the amounts that the Company could realize in a current market exchange. The use of different market assumptions
and/or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts. The Company does not have any off-balance
sheet financial instruments.
The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating fair value disclosures for financial statements:
Cash and equivalents, marketable securities, other receivables, other current assets, accounts payable, current portion of notes payable,
and certain other current liability amounts are reported in the balance sheets at approximate fair value due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.
The Company uses the direct write-off method for recording uncollectible accounts and records bad debt expense in the year in which it is
determined that a specific receivable cannot be collected.
New Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and
Equity”. Statement No. 150 establishes standards for classifying and measuring as liabilities certain financial instruments that embody obligations
of the issuer and have characteristics of both liabilities and equity. Previously, many of those financial instruments were classified as equity.
Statement No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003. The adoption of Statement No. 150 is not
expected to have any impact on our financial statements.
3.

Products Under Development and Strategic Alliances

We currently have licensed three oncology drug candidates that are in clinical development: satraplatin, EOquinTM and elsamitrucin. We
expect that additional trials will need to be completed before we will be able to apply for regulatory approval to sell any of our potential drug
candidates. Our proposed drug candidates are in various stages of development.
Satraplatin
Satraplatin, our lead drug candidate, is a platinum derivative that has an initial indication of efficacy in treating hormone refractory prostate
cancer. In 2001, we in-licensed satraplatin from Johnson Matthey PLC (Matthey license). We paid an up-front fee, and are obligated to pay
additional amounts based upon achievement of milestones and royalties based on any future sales.
In 2002, we entered into a Co-Development and License Agreement with GPC Biotech AG, whereby GPC Biotech has agreed to fully fund the
development expenses for satraplatin. Under the agreement, we are obligated to maintain certain contractual obligations of the underlying Matthey
license agreement.
Through December 31, 2003, we received cash payments from GPC Biotech of $4,000,000: $1,000,000 and $2,000,000 was recognized as
licensing revenue in 2003 and 2002, respectively. The remaining $1,000,000 was an equity investment in 128,370 shares of our common stock in
September 2003. Additional amounts of
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
up to $18,000,000 will be due to us upon achievement of specified milestones; however, there can be no assurance that any future milestone will
be achieved.
EOquin™:
In 2001, we in-licensed Eoquin from the New Drug Development Office (NDDO) in the Netherlands. We paid an up-front fee, and will pay
additional amounts based upon achievement of specified milestones and a royalty based on any future net sales. EOquin is currently in a Phase 2
clinical trial, which commenced September 2003.
Elsamitrucin
In 2001, we in-licensed elsamitrucin from Bristol-Myers Squibb. We paid an up-front fee, and will pay additional amounts based upon
achievement of milestones and a royalty based on any future net sales.
Generic Drugs
During the year ended December 31, 2003 we filed ANDAs for three generic drug products whose patents are expected to expire during the
year ended December 31, 2004: carboplatin, ciprofloxacin and fluconazole. In connection with these ANDAs we have entered, or expect to enter,
into strategic alliances for manufacturing, marketing and distribution.
J.B. Chemicals & Pharmaceuticals Ltd.
In 2002, we formed a joint venture, NeoJB LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (NeoJB) with J.B. Chemicals & Pharmaceuticals Ltd. of
Mumbai, India (JBCPL). Spectrum owns 80% of NeoJB. Through NeoJB, Spectrum intends to utilize JBCPL’s drug manufacturing capabilities to
produce selected generic drug products and to market those generic drugs in the United States. Initial generic drug candidates available to
Spectrumthrough this alliance include ciprofloxacin and fluconazole, for which we filed ANDAs during the year ended December 31, 2003.
In conjunction with the formation of NeoJB, we granted a five-year warrant to JBCPL to purchase up to 4,000 shares of our common stock at
an exercise price of $11.25 per share, equal to the market price of our common stock on the date of grant. Also, during the year ended
December 31, 2003, an entity affiliated with JBCPL agreed to invest $1,000,000 in Spectrum. The first $250,000 was invested in 2003, in
exchange for 125,565 shares of our common stock, following acceptance by the FDA of our ANDA filing for ciprofloxacin; and the remaining
$750,000 will be invested when and if the FDA approves the ciprofloxacin ANDA, based on the closing price of our common stock on the day prior
to approval.
FDC Limited
In 2003, we entered into an agreement with FDC Limited (FDC), based in Mumbai, India, under which we will process on FDC’s behalf FDA
regulatory approval applications for certain ophthalmic drugs manufactured by FDC Limited and thereafter market those products in the United
States as FDC’s exclusive distributor.
Lannett Company
Lannett Company, based in Philadelphia, is a company that markets and distributes generic drugs. In August 2003 we entered an agreement
with Lannett under which it will be our exclusive distributor for ciprofloxacin in the United States, and we will provide ciprofloxacin only to Lannett.
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Neurology Compounds
We also have a several neurology compounds that we are interested in out-licensing for further development. We are not pursuing, and do not
presently intend to pursue internally, further development of these drug compounds.
4.

Property and Equipment
As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, property and equipment consisted of:
December 31,
2003

2002

(Amounts in
Thousands)

Equipment
Leasehold improvements

$ 1,177
509

Total property and equipment
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property and equipment, net

1,686
(1,126)
$

560

$1,177
509
1,686
(884)
$ 802

For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company recorded depreciation expense of $242,000, $917,000 and $796,000,
respectively.
In the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded an impairment of certain laboratory equipment and classified the remaining
carrying value as property and equipment, held for sale. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the carrying value of these assets was $100,000 and
$619,000, respectively.
5.

Obligations under Capital Leases

The Company has capital lease obligations used to finance laboratory equipment the last of which expires in October 2004. Payments are
made in quarterly installments with an effective interest rate of 6% per annum. The equipment financed by these obligations has been subject to
impairment adjustments, and the remaining balances are included in assets held for sale on the balance sheet. The remaining value of the gross
cost of assets financed by capital leases is not significant. All leases expire in the year ended December 31, 2004.
The future minimum lease payments under capital leases for the year ended December 31, 2004 is $151,000.
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6.

Marketable Securities and Short-Term Investments
A summary of marketable securities and short-term investments at December 31, 2003 and 2002 is as follows:

Type of Investment

Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
(Losses)

Market
Value

(Amounts in Thousands)

December 31, 2003:
Available for sale:
Corporate and municipal bonds

$1,764

$

6

$

–

$1,770

December 31, 2002:
Available for sale:
Corporate bonds

$

$

6

$

–

$

60

66

For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, sales of securities at fair market value aggregated $64,000, $6,642,000, and
$7,643,000, respectively; and the Company realized gains over original cost of $12,000, $14,000, and $131,000, respectively, and losses below
original cost of $0, $121,000, and $101,000, respectively. All gains and losses reported in a year as other comprehensive income have been
reclassified into net income in the subsequent year.
As of December 31, 2002, we had one investment of approximately $61,000 in WorldCom Inc. corporate bonds that was to mature on May 15,
2003. The fair market value of these corporate bonds at December 31, 2002 was approximately $14,000, based on a market quotation. In July
2002, WorldCom Inc. and its subsidiaries filed a voluntary jointly administered petition under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code in the United States
Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York. We believe that it is probable that we will be unable to collect all amounts due to us
according to the contractual terms of the corporate bonds, therefore, we consider the impairment as other than temporary and recorded a loss for
approximately $51,000 in other expense during the year ended December 31, 2002.
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7.

Income Taxes

We did not provide any current or deferred federal or state income tax provision or benefit for the period presented because we have
experienced operating losses since inception. Significant components of the income tax expense are as follows:
For the Years Ended December 31,
2003

2002

2001

(Amounts in Thousands)

Current:
Federal
State
Foreign

$

Deferred:
Federal
State
Foreign
$

–
4
–

–
$ 3
–

4

3

2

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

4

$ 3

$

$

–
2
–

2

The following is a reconciliation from the statutory federal income tax rate to our effective tax rate for income taxes:
2003

2002

2001

(Amounts in Thousands)

Computed at statutory tax rate
Non-utilization of net operating losses

$(4,091)
4,091

$(6,172)
6,172

$(6,596)
6,596

Tax expense using effective tax rate

$

$

$

–

–

–

Significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 are shown below. A valuation allowance
has been recognized to fully offset the net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 as realization of such assets is uncertain.
2003

2002

(Amounts in Thousands)

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss and business credit carryforwards
Depreciation and amortization differences

$ 47,201
275

$ 43,072
313

–

–

Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization differences
Net deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets

47,476
(47,476)

Total deferred tax assets

$
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At December 31, 2003 we had federal and California income tax loss carryforwards of $91,406,000 and $40,901,000, respectively. The federal
and California tax loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2014 and 2004, respectively. At December 31, 2003 we had research and development
credit carryforwards of $4,779,000. The research and development credit carryforwards will begin to expire in 2007. The Tax Reform Act of 1986
limits the use of net operating loss and research and development credit carryforwards in the case of an “ownership change” of a corporation. We
believe an “ownership change” may have occurred. Any ownership changes, as defined by the tax code, may severely restrict utilization of our
carryforwards to the point that they may never be utilized. As of December 31, 2003, we had foreign loss carryforwards of $40,901,000.
8.

Commitments and Contingencies
Facility and Equipment Leases

As of December 31, 2003 we were obligated under facilities leases and operating equipment leases. Minimum lease requirements for each of
the next five years and thereafter under the property and equipment leases are as follows:

Year ending December 31:

2004
2005
2006
2007
2008

Amounts In
Thousands

$

285
19
3
–
–

$

307

Excluded from the above table of minimum lease requirements, as of December 31, 2003, is $456,000 of minimum lease obligation related to
50% of a facility leased by Neogene in 2001 from University of California, Irvine (UCI lease). Under the terms of the UCI lease, we are potentially
liable for double that amount, if UCI is unable to use the remaining 50% of the facility. Since inception of the UCI lease, we have been charged
approximately 83% of the facility cost. In March 2004, the Company reached an agreement, subject to definitive documentation, with UCI whereby
all past and future obligations were amicably settled. The full amount of the settlement has been accrued for in the accompanying financial
statements.
The facility lease for the corporate office expires in June 2004. We are in the process of negotiating a renewal of this lease.
Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 aggregated approximately $1,058,000, $1,382,000 and $808,000,
respectively.
Research and Fellowship Grants
During the year ended December 31, 2002, we terminated all research and fellowship grants and at December 31, 2002, we had no further
commitments to pay any research or fellowship grants. Grant expense for 2002 and 2001 was approximately $332,000 and $822,000, respectively,
and is included in research and development on the consolidated statement of operations.
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Licensing Agreements
We purchased licenses to further develop certain therapeutic compounds, and are contingently liable for certain milestone payments to the
licensor if we reach certain development milestones. We have not reached any milestones and cannot determine when or if ever a milestone will
be reached. If we reach a milestone, it will likely occur prior to revenues being generated from the related compound.
Royalties Payable Pursuant to Patents Assigned by a Former Officer
Pursuant to royalty agreements (Glasky Agreements) with Dr. Alvin J. Glasky, Ph.D., a former officer, we are obligated to pay a royalty of two
percent (2%) of all revenues derived by us from the use and sale by us of any products or methods included in the ten patents assigned to us. Our
obligations expire concurrently with the expiration of the underlying patents, and any additional patents derived there from. Dr. Glasky may
terminate the Glasky Agreements and receive a reassignment of the patents if we file a petition under any bankruptcy or insolvency laws or
otherwise commence liquidation or winding up of our business. These patents related to certain of our neurology compounds. We do not currently
anticipate generating any revenues from these compounds.
McMaster University Agreement
In 1996, we entered into a license agreement with McMaster University (McMaster) that allows us the use of certain technologies developed
by McMaster covered in the patents filed jointly by us and McMaster, all of which are also encumbered by the Glasky Agreements.
Under the McMaster agreement, we are obligated to pay to McMaster an annual royalty of five percent (5%) on net sales of products
containing compounds developed by McMaster, subject to annual minimum royalty payments of $25,000.
Employment Agreements
We entered into employment agreements with certain of our key executive personnel. The agreements provide for, among other things,
guaranteed severance payments equal to up to twice the officer’s annual base salary upon the termination of employment without cause or upon a
change in control under certain circumstances.
Litigation
We are not aware of any litigation matters pending or threatened as of December 31, 2003 that will materially affect our condensed
consolidated financial statements. We are sometimes involved in matters of litigation that we consider ordinary routine litigation incidental to our
business. Our policy is to accrue during a period, as a charge to operations, amounts related to legal matters if it is probable that a liability has
been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated, as required by Statement No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies”.
Defined Contribution Pension Plan
We established a 401(k) Salary Deferral Plan on January 1, 1990. This plan allows eligible employees to defer part of their income on a taxfree basis. Contributions by us to this plan are discretionary upon approval by our Board of Directors. As of December 31, 2003, we have not made
any contributions into this plan.
F-21

Table of Contents

SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Formerly NeoTherapeutics, Inc.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
Other
The Company has historically conducted research activities involving hazardous materials and is therefore responsible for the
decommissioning of its research laboratories. We do not expect costs related to the decommissioning process to be material.
9.

Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred Stock

The following table describes the preferred stock transactions by series issuance for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2003:
8% Series D
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Series C
Preferred Stock
Shares

Par

Shares

Series E Convertible
Preferred Stock

Par

Shares

Par

Total

(Amounts in Thousands, except share data)

Balance, December 31, 2000
Conversion of Preferred Stock of
Subsidiary into Series C Preferred
Stock
Conversion of Series C Preferred Stock
into common stock
Purchase and retirement of Series C
Preferred Stock

–

$

–

–

200

1,973

(170)
(30)

$

–

–

$

–

$

–

–

–

–

–

1,973

(1,677)

–

–

–

–

(1,677)

(296)

–

–

–

–

(296)

Balance, December 31, 2001
No activity

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

Balance, December 31, 2002
Issuance of Series D Preferred Stock and
common stock warrants, for cash
Issuance of Series E Preferred Stock and
common stock warrants, for cash
Conversion of Series D Preferred Stock
into common stock
Conversion of Series E Preferred Stock
into common stock
Recognition of beneficial conversion
features on preferred stock
Deemed dividend related to beneficial
conversion features
Deemed dividend related to issuance
costs

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

600

2,856

–

–

2,856

–

–

–

–

2,000

11,269

11,269

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(2,247)

–

–

–

–

–

Balance, December 31, 2003

–

–

$

(335)

(1,595)
–

(685)

(1,595)

(4,224)

(4,224)

–

(6,200)

(8,447)

2,247

–

6,200

8,447

–

–

–

1,065

1,065

265

$ 1,261

1,315

$ 8,110

$ 9,371

During the year ended December 31, 2000, our majority owned subsidiary, NeoGene, issued its Series A Preferred Stock for the aggregate
amount of $5,000,000. During the year ended December 31, 2001, we purchased the Neogene Series A stock for $5,500,000, including a $500,000
redemption fee. Also, during the year ended December 31, 2000, Neogene issued its Series B Preferred Stock for the aggregate amount of
$2,000,000, and the investors were granted certain rights, including the right to exchange such Series B
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Preferred Stock of Neogene into shares of our Series C Preferred Stock, which were convertible into our common stock. These exchange rights
were exercised by the investors in 2001. As a consequence, we issued 19,424 shares of our common stock for an effective conversion
consideration of $1,677,000 and paid the investors $300,000 in cash.
In December 2000, we adopted a Stockholder Rights Plan and declared a dividend of one right to purchase shares of our Series B Junior
Participating Preferred Stock (“Series B Preferred Stock”) for each outstanding share of common stock, which became 25 rights per share of
common stock following our 25 for one reverse stock split completed in September 2002. In addition, each share of common stock issued by us
following the adoption of the Stockholders Rights Plan is accompanied by 25 rights (as adjusted for the reverse stock split). A right may be
exercised under certain circumstances to purchase one one-hundredth of a share of Series B Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $75.00 per
right, subject to certain anti-dilution adjustments. The rights become exercisable if and when a person (or group of affiliated or associated persons)
acquires 20% or more of our outstanding common stock, or announces an offer that would result in such person acquiring 20% or more of our
outstanding common stock. Five days after the rights become exercisable, each right, other than rights held by the person or group of affiliated
persons whose acquisition of more than 20% of our outstanding common stock caused the rights to become exercisable, will entitle its holder to
buy, in lieu of shares of Series B Preferred Stock, a number of shares of our common stock having a market value of twice the exercise price of
the rights. After the rights become exercisable, if we are a party to certain merger or business combination transactions or transfers 50% or more
of our assets or earnings power (as defined), each right will entitle its holder to buy a number of shares of common stock of the acquiring or
surviving entity having a market value of twice the exercise price of the right. The rights expire on December 13, 2010 and may be redeemed by
us at one tenth of one cent per right at any time up to ten days after a person has announced that they have acquired 20% or more of our
outstanding common stock. Amendments to this plan have been made to exclude shares issued pursuant to the Series D and Series E Preferred
Stock offerings in the determination of an Acquiring Group.
In May 2003, we sold a total of 600 shares of our Series D 8% Cumulative Convertible Voting Preferred Stock (Series D Preferred Stock) and
Series D Warrants to purchase shares of our common stock for gross cash proceeds of $6,000,000. The Series D Preferred Stock is convertible
into 2,553,191 shares of Spectrum common stock based on a conversion price of $2.35 per share. Dividends on the Series D Preferred Stock are
payable quarterly at an annual rate of 8 percent either in cash or shares of our common stock at our discretion . In addition, purchasers of the
Series D Preferred Stock received five-year warrants to purchase up to a total of 1,276,595 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of
$3.00 per share and five-year warrants to purchase up to a total of 1,276,595 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $3.50 per share.
Under a preexisting agreement with a placement agent, we issued to the placement agent in connection with the Series D offering, in addition to
cash fees, a five-year warrant to purchase up to a total of 255,319 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $3.00 per share. The fair
value of the warrants excluding placement warrants was estimated to be $3,894,000 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following assumptions: dividend yield of 0%; expected volatility of 92.2%; risk free interest rate of 2.9%; and an expected life of five years.
Offering costs of this transaction were $1,240,000, including cash commissions paid to placement agents.
In September 2003, we sold a total of 2,000 shares of our Series E Convertible Voting Preferred Stock (Series E Preferred Stock) and
Series E Warrants to purchase shares of our common stock for gross cash proceeds of $20,000,000. The Series E Preferred Stock is convertible
into 4,000,000 shares of Spectrum common stock based on a conversion price of $5.00 per share. In addition, purchasers of the Series E
Preferred Stock received five-year warrants to purchase up to a total of 2,800,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $6.50 per
share. We also issued to two placement agents, in addition to cash fees, five-year
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warrants to purchase up to a total of 400,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $6.50 per share. The fair value of the warrants
excluding placement warrants was estimated to be $9,576,000 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:
dividend yield of 0%; expected volatility of 95.64%; risk free interest rate of 3.2%; and an expected life of five years. Offering costs of this
transaction were approximately $3,180,000, including cash commissions paid to placement agents. Certain provisions of the Certificate of
Designation, Rights and Preferences of the Series E Preferred Stock provided, at the option of the holder, a right to redeem up to one half of the
Series E Preferred Stock on or before January 27, 2004. As of that date, no stockholder exercised the redemption right. Pursuant to certain
provisions of the Certificate of Designation, Rights and Preferences of the Series E Preferred Stock, we have the option to redeem all of the
unconverted Series E Preferred Stock outstanding at the end of a 20-day trading period if, among other things, in that period the common stock of
the Company trades above $12.00 per share.
Through December 31, 2003, 335 shares of our Series D Preferred Stock and 685 shares of our Series E Preferred stock were converted into
1,425,532 and 1,370,000 shares of common stock, respectively.
During the year ended December 31, 2003, a deemed dividend of $8,447,000 was recorded. Such amount, which is a non-cash transaction
impacting equity, represents the beneficial conversion feature of convertible preferred stock issued with warrants during the 2003 fiscal year, and
was computed in accordance with the requirements of Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 00-27, “Application of Issue No. 98-5 to Certain
Convertible Instruments”.
During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company recorded a charge to additional paid-in capital related to the issuance expenses for
preferred stock with redemption features of $1,065,000. This amount has been treated as a preferred dividend for the earnings per share
calculation.
In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, before any distribution of assets of the
Corporation shall be made to the common stockholders, the holders of the Series D and Series E Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive a
liquidation preference in an amount equal to 120% of the stated value per share plus any declared and unpaid dividends thereon.
Common Stock Issuances for Cash
During the three years ended December 31, 2003, we issued common stock and warrants for cash as follows:
2003

2002

2001

(Amounts in Thousands Except Share and Per Share Data)

Shares of common stock
Weighted average price per
share

1,211,578
$

Amount of financing
Less: Offering costs

1,407,607

3.94

$

4,771
234

7.46

399,173
$

10,502
581

75.02
29,944
1,616

Proceeds from common stock
and warrants issued for cash

$

Range of issuance prices on
common stock sold

$1.99 to $7.79

$2.00 to $50.00

$53.76 to $127.50

463,379

237,641

28,876

Warrants issued
Average exercise price per
share on warrants

$

4,537

$

4.57

$
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In order to comply with certain Nasdaq rules, during the year ended December 31, 2002 we repurchased 16,000 shares of common stock and
16,000 warrants for $143,000.
Deferred Compensation
During the year ended December 31, 2000, we granted stock options to employees in 2000 with exercise prices less than the fair value of our
common stock at the measurement date. The intrinsic value of the option grants, amounting to $960,000 was recorded as deferred compensation
and amortized to expense over the vesting period, in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25.
During the year ended December 31, 2001, we issued stock options of NeoGene to our employees, with exercise prices less than the fair
market value of NeoGene’s common stock at the measurement date. The intrinsic value of these option grants amounting to $2,391,000 was
recorded as deferred compensation and was being amortized to expense over the vesting period, in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25. During
the year ended December 31, 2002, five of our executive officers who held NeoGene stock options voluntarily and without any consideration,
agreed to cancel their NeoGene stock options. In addition, the remaining holders of the options were terminated in connection with the elimination
of research activities at our functional genomics subsidiary. Therefore, as of December 31, 2002, there was no deferred compensation remaining
related to the NeoGene.
As a result of the foregoing, and the 2003 warrant issuance, we amortized deferred compensation for the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001 by $104,000, $411,000 and $1,461,000, respectively.
Common Stock, Option and Warrant Issuances for Services
During the year ended December 31, 2001, we issued 200 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase up to 10,000 shares of common
stock to consultants for services aggregating $643,000.
During the year ended December 31, 2002, we issued 383,326 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase up to 161,460 shares of our
common stock at an exercise price of $0.25 per share, in settlement of $1,020,000 payable to vendors. The warrant was exercised in 2003.
During the year ended December 31, 2003, we issued to consultants warrants to purchase up to 130,000 shares of our common stock and
options to purchase up to 10,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $4.90. The fair value of the warrants and options was
estimated to be $516,000 using the Black Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: dividend yield of 0%; expected volatility of
95.6%; risk free interest rate of 3.2%; and an expected life of five to ten years. Accordingly, a non-cash expense of $276,000, representing the fair
value of the vested portion of the warrants and options, was recorded upon issuance. The remainder, $240,000 was recorded as deferred
compensation, and is being amortized over the vesting period.
We have reserved shares of our common stock for future issuances related to the following:
Conversion of Series D preferred shares
Conversion of Series E preferred shares
Exercise of stock options
Exercise of warrants

1,127,660
2,630,000
1,401,694
5,918,926

Total shares of common stock reserved for future issuances
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Warrants Activity, Primarily in Connection with Financing Transactions
Warrants are typically issued by the Company to investors as part of a financing transaction, or in connection with services rendered by
placement agents and outside consultants and expire at varying dates through September 2008. A summary of warrant activity follows:
2003

Common
Stock
Warrants

Outstanding at beginning
of year
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited(1)
Outstanding, at end of
year

(1)

2002
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Common
Stock
Warrants

2001
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Common
Stock
Warrants

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

490,060
6,601,888
(1,169,070)
(3,952)

$ 65.83
4.94
2.83
450.12

103,890
408,601
–
(22,431)

$322.75
8.92
–
19.57

165,608
47,702
–
(109,420)

$339.25
226.25
–
284.25

5,918,926

$ 10.10

490,060

$ 65.83

103,890

$322.75

Expiration of public warrants in 2001 that were issued at time of initial public offering.
The following table summarizes information about warrants outstanding at December 31, 2003:

Range of Exercise Price

$3.00 to $5.99
$6.00 to $11.50
$11.51 to $100.00
$100.00 – $525.00

Warrants
Outstanding
12/31/03

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Life

2,567,698
3,220,154
39,067
92,007

4.41
4.73
3.03
1.51

5,918,926

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Warrants
Exercisable
12/31/03

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

$ 3.54
$ 6.52
$ 72.94
$292.08

2,502,698
3,220,154
39,067
83,861

$ 3.50
$ 6.52
$ 72.94
$294.74

5,845,780

Other Equity Transactions
During the year ended December 31, 2001, we entered into a financing transaction with two private investor groups which provided, among
other things, for up to $24,000,000 in financing commitments over a seven-month period. We did not draw down all the funds and paid a break-up
fee of $405,000, which amount was charged to general and administrative expense.
During the year ended December 31, 2001, we sold to our employees through our Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP), 2,557 shares of our
common stock for approximately $158,000. Pursuant to the ESPP, the shares were sold at a 15% discount to market on the date of purchase.
10.

Stock-Based Compensation

We have three stock option plans: the 1991 Stock Incentive Plan (1991 Plan), the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (1997 Plan) and the 2003 Stock
Incentive Plan (2003 Plan), (collectively, the Plans). The Plans provide for the granting of incentive and nonqualified stock options as well as other
stock-based compensation to employees, directors and consultants. The 1991 Plan, as amended, authorized the grant of up to 16,057 shares of
our common stock; no grants were made pursuant to this Plan after the adoption of the 1997 Plan. The 1997 Plan, as amended, authorizes the
issuance of up to 1,219,000 shares of our common stock. The 2003 Plan will
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be submitted to the stockholders for formal approval at the next board meeting. As of December 31, 2003, the board of directors granted options to
purchase 315,000 shares of our common stock. It is our intention to include these options in the 2003 Plan.
A summary of our stock option activities for all stock option plans is as follows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2003:
2003

2001

Common
Stock
Options

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Common
Stock
Options

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Outstanding at beginning of
year
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

601,799
1,093,200
(167,250)
(126,055)

$37.27
$ 3.48(1)
$ 2.57(1)
$94.01

116,679
500,390
–
(15,270)

$168.50
$ 9.48
–
$129.44

99,607
28,860
–
(11,788)

$208.50
$ 96.50
–
$123.00

Outstanding, at end of year

1,401,694

$10.83

601,799

$ 37.27

116,679

$168.50

808,509

$14.60

192,733

$101.80

64,403

$118.00

Exercisable at end of year

(1)

2002

Common
Stock
Options

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Calculations exclude an award and exercise of 105,700 stock purchase rights that are similar to options having a zero exercise price that
were used to facilitate the issuance of stock to employees.
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding under all plans at December 31, 2003:

Range of Exercise Price

$1.00 – $2.50
$2.51 – $5.00
$5.01 – $10.00
$10.01 – $325.00

Options
Outstanding
12/31/03

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Life

779,250
473,800
64,640
84,004

9.22
9.60
9.84
6.82

1,401,694

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Options
Exercisable
12/31/03

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

$ 1.60
$ 4.67
$ 6.52
$134.46

464,250
253,025
17,060
74,174

$ 1.34
$ 4.72
$ 7.21
$133.64

808,509

All of the options granted under the Plans have been made at fair market values on the dates originally authorized by the Board of Directors, or
the Compensation committee. However, as described below, certain grants contemplated by the Board had later grant, or measurement, dates.
Accordingly, the Company recorded a non-cash stock-based employee compensation expense of $2,296,000 during the year ended December 31,
2003.
On March 28, 2003 our Board of Directors determined it was in the best interest of the Company to grant options to certain of its executives,
employees and consultants at $1.99 per share, the closing sale price of our common stock on March 28, 2003, in recognition of their services to
the Company during our financial and strategic restructuring and as an incentive for the completion of the restructuring. Due to state securities law
requirements, not all of these grants could be made on March 28, 2003. The Board was not able to obtain clearance to make the grants under
state securities law until September 2003. During the period from March
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2003 to September 2003, the fair market value of our stock rose substantially. The actual grants occurred as follows:
• Options to purchase an aggregate of 140,000 shares at an exercise price of $1.99 per share granted to certain non-California resident
employees and consultants on March 28, 2003.
• Certain employees received 105,700 shares of common stock in lieu of options. To accomplish this under state law, rights to purchase were
issued that are similar to options. The employees did not have to pay money for the award and a charge to expense of $547,000 was
recorded based on the fair market value of the common stock on the date of award.
• Options to purchase an aggregate of 315,000 shares at an exercise price of $1.99 per share to certain executive officers on September 5,
2003. The difference between the exercise price of the 315,000 executive officer options granted on September 5, 2003, and the fair market
value of our common stock at that date, amounting to $1,005,000, was expensed during the year ended December 31, 2003, in accordance
with APB Opinion No. 25.
In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2003 the Company recorded a non-cash stock-based employee compensation expense of
$744,000 in connection with options granted in September 2002, subject to stockholder approval.
We apply APB Opinion No. 25 and related interpretations in accounting for stock options granted to employees, and do not recognize
compensation expense when the exercise price of the options equals the fair market value of the underlying shares at the date of grant. Directors’
stock options are treated in the same manner as employee stock options for accounting purposes. Under Statement No. 123, the Company is
required to present certain pro forma earnings information determined as if employee stock options were accounted for under the fair value method
of that statement and is reported in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted
average assumptions used for grants in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively: risk-free interest rates of 3.16% (2003); 3.04% (2002); and 4.22%
(2001), zero expected dividend yields; expected lives of 5 years; expected volatility of 95.23% (2003); 118.54% in (2002); and 87.58% (2001). The
weighted average fair value of stock options granted in 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $3.50, $1.45 and $62.25, respectively.
11.

Related Party Transactions
Royalties Payable Pursuant to Patents Assigned to Us by a Former Officer
See Note 8 for a description of our obligations pursuant to royalty agreements with a former officer.
Director and Officer Notes for the Exercise of Equity Instruments

As of January 1, 2002, certain of our directors and officers owed us $616,000 previously loaned to them for the exercise of stock options or
the purchase of stock. During 2002, we were repaid $391,000, which included all loans to officers. In February 2003, we agreed to forgive and
terminate the remaining $225,000 and in return, the directors agreed to return the shares of common stock originally purchased under the loans.
For accounting purposes, this arrangement was considered to be an uncompleted transaction and therefore, the common stock and related notes
receivable were eliminated as of December 31, 2002.
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Outsource Arrangement
Between November 2002 and November 2003, we had outsourced the administration, accounting and human resources functions, and SEC
report preparation to McManus Financial Consulting (MFC) for a monthly fee of $15,000; and all investor relations activities to McManus & Co.
(M&C) for a monthly fee of $10,000 to $12,000 per month. Between January and June 2002, MFC also provided services to us at hourly rates,
subject to a minimum annual retainer of $24,000. During the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, MFC and M&C received total fees and
payments under severance arrangements amounting to $539,000 and $106,000, respectively. MFC and M&C are co-owned by two of our former
officers, John and Michael McManus, who are also brothers. John McManus received direct compensation from the Company as Vice President
Finance and Strategic Planning and Assistant Corporate Secretary; however, Michael McManus received no direct compensation from us for his
services as Controller. In November 2003, John and Michael McManus resigned their positions with the Company to return to their consulting
business to pursue other opportunities. The consulting agreement with M&C will remain in effect through its expiration on July 31, 2004.
12.

Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of the unaudited quarterly results of operations for each of the calendar quarters ended in the two-year period
ended December 31, 2003 (in thousands, except share and per share data):
March 31

June 30

September 30

December 31

(Amounts in Thousands Except Share and Per Share Data)

Fiscal 2003
Revenues
Total operating expenses
Net loss
Basic and diluted loss per share
Shares used in calculation
Fiscal 2002
Revenues
Total operating expenses
Net loss
Basic and diluted loss per share
Shares used in calculation
(1)

$
–
$
1,698
$
(1,697)
$
(0.58)
2,909,000

$
–
$
1,612
$
(1,647)
$
(1.27)(1)
3,117,000

$
1,000
$
3,599
$
(2,720)
$
(2.27)(1)
3,975,000

$
–
$
4,559
$
(4,326)
$
(0.82)(1)
6,637,000

$
$
$
$

$
191
$
5,238
$
(5,140)
$
(4.50)
1,142,000

$
2,008
$
4,528
$
(2,353)
$
(1.50)
1,565,000

$
152
$
3,709
$
(3,836)
$
(1.89)
2,024,000

20
6,403
(6,305)
(6.50)
970,000

The loss per share for the quarters ended June 30, 2003 and September 30, 2003 have been adjusted to record the effect of deemed
dividends resulting from beneficial conversion features embedded in our Series D 8% Cumulative Convertible Voting Preferred Stock and our
Series E Convertible Voting Preferred Stock. For the quarters ended June 30, 2003, September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2003, the effect
of recording deemed dividends was to increase loss per share by $(0.72), $(1.56), and $(0.16), respectively.
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3.1

3.1.1
3.1.2
3.1.3
3.1.4
3.1.5
3.1.6
3.1.7
3.1.8
3.2
4.1
4.2
4.3

4.4

Description

Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, as filed on May 7, 1997. (Filed as Exhibit B to the Definitive Proxy
Statement dated May 8, 1997, for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Spectrum Pharmaceuticals Colorado, the
predecessor to Registrant, held on June 17, 1997, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 9,
1997, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant. (Filed as Exhibit 3.1.1 to Form 10-K, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Certificate of Designation of 5% Series A Preferred Stock with Conversion Features. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 9, 1999, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Certificate of Designation of Rights, Preferences and Privileges of Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock of the
Registrant. (Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8-A12G, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
December 26, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Certificate of Designations of the Series C Preferred Stock of the Registrant. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-3, as amended (No. 333-64432), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
July 2, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation filed on September 5, 2002 (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 10-Q
for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2002, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 13, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Certificate of Designations, Rights and Preference of the Series D 8% Cumulative Convertible Voting Preferred Stock.
(Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 16, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Certificate of Increase. (Filed as Exhibit 3.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
May 16, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Certificate of Designations, Rights and Preference of the Series E Convertible Voting Preferred Stock (Filed as
Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 30, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended September 30, 2002, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2002, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Warrant issued by the Registrant to certain investors, dated as of May 11, 1999, to purchase up to an
aggregate of 80,000 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 4.6 to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, dated as of May 17, 1999. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7
to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Form of Representative’s Warrant issued to Joseph Charles & Associates, Inc., dated as of July 26, 1999, to
purchase up to 100,000 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 4.12 to the Registration Statement on Form S1, as amended (No. 333-79935), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 21, 1999, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of November 19, 1999, by and among the Registrant, Strong River
Investments, Inc. and Montrose Investments Ltd. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on December 7, 1999, and incorporated herein by reference.)
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4.5
4.6
4.7
4.8
4.9
4.10
4.11
4.12
4.13
4.14
4.15
4.16
4.17
4.18
4.19

Description

Closing Warrant issued by the Registrant to Montrose Investments Ltd., dated as of November 19, 1999. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 7, 1999, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Closing Warrant issued by the Registrant to Strong River Investments, Inc., dated as of November 19, 1999. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 7, 1999, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Brighton Capital, Ltd., dated as of November 19, 1999. (Filed as Exhibit 4.14 to
the Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-37180), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
May 16, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of February 25, 2000, by and among the Registrant, Montrose Investments
Ltd. and Strong River Investments, Inc. (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 3, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Closing Warrant issued by the Registrant to Montrose Investments Ltd., dated as of February 25, 2000. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.3 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 3, 2000, and incorporated
herein by reference.)
Closing Warrant issued by the Registrant to Strong River Investments, Inc., dated as of February 25, 2000. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.4 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 3, 2000, and incorporated
herein by reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Brighton Capital, Ltd., dated as of February 25, 2000. (Filed as Exhibit 4.15 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-37180), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
May 16, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of April 6, 2000, by and among the Registrant, Strong River Investments, Inc.
and Montrose Investments Ltd. (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 21, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Class A Warrant issued by the Registrant to Montrose Investments Ltd., dated as of April 6, 2000. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.4 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 21, 2000, and incorporated
herein by reference.)
Class A Warrant issued by the Registrant to Strong River Investments, Inc., dated as of April 6, 2000. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.5 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 21, 2000, and incorporated
herein by reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Brighton Capital, Ltd., dated as of April 6, 2000. (Filed as Exhibit 4.16 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-37180), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
May 16, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of April 28, 2000, by and among the Registrant, Royal Canadian Growth Fund
and Dlouhy Investments Inc. (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on May 25, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Royal Canadian Growth Fund, dated as of May 1, 2000. (Filed as Exhibit 4.3 to
Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 25, 2000, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Dlouhy Investments Inc., dated as of May 1, 2000. (Filed as Exhibit 4.4 to
Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 25, 2000, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of September 21, 2000, by and among the Registrant, Strong River
Investments, Inc. and Montrose Investments Ltd. (Filed as Exhibit 4.4 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on November 13, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)
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4.20
4.21
4.22
4.23
4.24
4.25
4.26

4.27
4.28
4.29
4.30
4.31
4.32
4.33
4.34

Description

Warrant issued by the Registrant to Montrose Investments Ltd., dated as of September 21, 2000. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7
to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2000, and incorporated herein
by reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Strong River Investments, Inc., dated as of September 21, 2000. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.8 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2000, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of September 29, 2000, by and among the Registrant, Strong River
Investments, Inc. and Montrose Investments Ltd. (Filed as Exhibit 4.12 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on November 13, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Closing Warrant issued by the Registrant to Montrose Investments, Ltd., dated as of September 29, 2000. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.13 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2000, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Closing Warrant issued by the Registrant to Strong River Investments, Inc., dated as of September 29, 2000. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.14 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2000, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Warrants issued by the Registrant to Brighton Capital, Ltd., dated between September 18, 2000 and May 18,
2001. (Filed as Exhibit 4.32 to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Rights Agreement, dated as of December 13, 2000, between the Registrant and U.S. Stock Transfer Corporation, as
Rights Agent, which includes as Exhibit A thereto the form of Certificate of Designation for the Series B Junior
Participating Preferred Stock, as Exhibit B thereto the Form of Rights Certificate and as Exhibit C thereto a Summary
of Terms of Stockholder Rights Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-A12G, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on December 26, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of December 18, 2000, by and between the Registrant and Societe Generale.
(Filed as Exhibit 4.4 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 28, 2000, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Societe Generale, dated as of December 18, 2000. (Filed as Exhibit 4.6 to Form 8K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 28, 2000, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Brighton Capital, Ltd., dated as of December 18, 2000. (Filed as Exhibit 4.36 to
Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to CroMedica Global, Inc., dated as of January 25, 2001. (Filed as Exhibit 4.37 to
Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to IAT ReInsurance Syndicate Ltd., dated as of March 8, 2001. (Filed as Exhibit 10.2
to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 14, 2001, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Montrose Investments Ltd., dated as of May 18, 2001. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to
Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 21, 2001, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Strong River Investments, Inc., dated as of May 18, 2001. (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to
Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 21, 2001, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Form of Warrant issued by the Registrant to Gruntal & Co., L.L.C., dated as of August 10, 2001 (Filed as Exhibit 4.44
to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
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4.35
4.36
4.37
4.38
4.39
4.40
4.41
4.42
4.43
4.44
4.45
4.46
4.47
4.48
4.49
4.50
4.51

Description

Form of Warrants issued by the Registrant to Cantor Fitzgerald & Co, dated as of December 6, 2001 and
December 13, 2001. (Filed as Exhibit A to Schedule 1 to Exhibit 1.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on October 24, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Warrant issued by the Registrant to Jefferies & Company, Inc., dated as of December 13, 2001. (Filed as Exhibit 4.46
to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Form of Warrant issued by the Registrant to certain purchasers, dated as of March 13, 2002. (Filed as Exhibit 4.47 to
Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Form of Warrant issued by the Registrant to certain purchasers, dated as of June 5, 2002. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to
Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 7, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Form of Warrant issued by the Registrant to certain purchasers, dated as of June 7, 2002. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to
Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 19, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Warrant Repurchase Agreement by and between the Registrant and BNC Bach International, Ltd., dated as of July 31,
2002. (Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2002, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Warrant issued by the Registrant to five purchasers, dated as of November 21, 2002, to purchase up to an
aggregate of 107,870 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on November 26, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Warrant issued by the Registrant to certain purchasers, dated as of December 13, 2002, to purchase up to an
aggregate of 65,550 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on December 13, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Warrant issued by the Registrant to three purchasers, dated as of January 16, 2003, to purchase up to an
aggregate of 55,555 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on January 17, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Series D-1 Warrant. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on May 16, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Series D-2 Warrant. (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on May 16, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Series D-3 Warrant. (Filed as Exhibit 4.3 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
May 16, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of May 7, 2003, by and among the Registrant and the persons listed on
Schedule 1 attached thereto. (Filed as Exhibit 4.4 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on May 16, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Amendment No. 1 to the Rights Agreement dated as of December 13, 2000 by and between the Registrant and
U.S. Stock Transfer Corporation. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on August 14, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of August 13, 2003, by and among the Registrant and the persons listed on
Schedule 1 attached thereto. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on August 15, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Series 2003-1 Warrant (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on August 15, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Series E-1 Warrant (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on September 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
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10.5 *
10.6 *
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10.8
10.9
10.10
10.11

10.12
10.13

Description

Form of Series E-2 Warrant (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on September 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Series E-3 Warrant (Filed as Exhibit 4.3 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
September 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of September 26, 2003, by and among the Registrant and the persons listed
on Schedule 1 attached thereto. (Filed as Exhibit 4.4 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on September 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
1991 Stock Incentive Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registration Statement on Form SB-2, as amended (No. 33305342-LA), and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and each of its officers and directors. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.10 to the Registration Statement on Form SB-2, as amended (No. 333-05342-LA), and incorporated herein
by reference.)
Industrial Lease Agreement dated as of January 16, 1997, between the Registrant and the Irvine Company. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.11 to the Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on March 31, 1997, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Employee Stock Purchase Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8
(No. 333-54246), and incorporated herein by reference.)
Amendment 2001-1 to the Employee Stock Purchase Plan effective as of June 21, 2001. (Filed as Exhibit 10.22 to
the Annual Report on Form 10-K, as amended, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 25,
2001, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Executive Employment Agreement for Rajesh C. Shrotriya, M.D., dated as of December 1, 2000. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.35 to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated
herein by reference.)
License Agreement dated as of June 29, 2001, by and between the Registrant and NDDO Research Foundation.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 14, 2001,
and incorporated herein by reference.)
License Agreement dated as of August 28, 2001, by and between the Registrant and Johnson Matthey PLC. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.5 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 14, 2001, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
License Agreement dated as of October 24, 2001, by and between the Registrant and Bristol-Myers Squibb
Company. (Filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 14, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Letter Agreement dated as of March 11, 2002, by and between the Registrant and Brighton Capital, Ltd. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.47 to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated
herein by reference.)
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, by and between the Registrant and certain investors, dated as of March 12,
2002 and March 15, 2002, for the purchase of an aggregate of 3,100,000 shares of our common stock. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.48 to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2002, and incorporated
herein by reference.)
Securities Purchase Agreement by and between the Registrant and an institutional investor, dated as of June 5,
2002, for the purchase of an aggregate of 800,000 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 7, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement by and between the Registrant and institutional investors, dated as of
June 7, 2002, for the purchase of an aggregate of 5,935,483 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 19, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
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10.15

10.16
10.17
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10.19
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10.21
10.22
10.23

10.24
10.25

10.26

Description

Form of Stock Purchase Agreement by and between the Registrant and four institutional investors, dated as of
July 8, 2002, for the purchase of an aggregate of 6,470,588 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 12, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Mutual Rescission Agreement by and between the Registrant and Stonestreet Limited Partnership dated as of
July 25, 2002, to rescind the purchase of 400,000 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q
for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2002, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 13, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Additional Collateral Rider by and between the Registrant and General Electric Capital Corporation dated as of
September 22, 2002. (Filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2002, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Settlement Agreement and Release by and between the Registrant and Merck Eprova AG dated as of September 30,
2002. (Filed as Exhibit 10.7 to Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2002, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
First Amendment to License Agreement dated August 28, 2001 by and between the Registrant and Johnson Matthey
PLC dated as of September 30, 2002. (Filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
September 30, 2002, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2002, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Co-Development and License Agreement by and between the Registrant and GPC Biotech AG dated as of
September 30, 2002. (Filed as Exhibit 10.9 to Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2002, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Settlement Agreement and Release by and between the Registrant and certain vendors for the issuance of
an aggregate of 356,956 shares of our common stock to settle $628,190 in vendor payables. (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to
Form 8-K, as Filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 21, 2002 and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Settlement Agreement and Release by and between the Registrant and Symbion Research International, Inc. dated
as of October 22, 2002. (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 21, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement by and between the Registrant and five investors, dated as of November 21,
2002, for the purchase of an aggregate of 469,000 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 26, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement by and between the Registrant and three investors, dated as of
December 13, 2002, for the purchase of an aggregate of 285,000 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1
to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 23, 2002 and incorporated herein
by reference.)
Settlement Agreement and Release by and between the Registrant and Oppenheimer, Wolff and Donnelly, LLP dated
as of November 22, 2002. (Filed as Exhibit 4.3 to Form S-3, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on January 17, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement by and between the Registrant and three institutional investors, dated as of
January 16, 2003, for the purchase of an aggregate of 222,223 shares of our common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 17, 2003 and incorporated herein by
reference.)
Successor Party Agreement by and between the Registrant, Pfizer, Inc. and the Regents of the University of
California, dated February 19, 2003. (Filed as Exhibit 10.47 to Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 28, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.)
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10.37
10.38*
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10.40
10.41

Description

Letter of Agreement by and between the Registrant and LEKAR Pharma Limited, dated as of March 26, 2003, for an
investment of $1 million in the Registrant’s common stock. (Filed as Exhibit 10.48 to Form 10-K, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 28, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.)
Limited Liability Agreement of NeoJB LLC, a Delaware limited liability company effective as of April 17, 2002. (Filed
as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 14, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Supply Agreement dated April 16, 2002 by and between J.B. Chemicals & Pharmaceuticals Ltd. and NeoJB LLC.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 14, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Management Agreement dated April 16, 2002 by and between NeoTherapeutics, Inc. and NeoJB LLC. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.3 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 14, 2003, and incorporated
herein by reference.)
Preferred Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of April 29, 2003, by and among the Registrant and the
purchasers listed on Schedule 1 attached thereto. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on May 16, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Amendment No. 1 of the Preferred Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement and Registration Rights Agreement dated
as of May 13, 2003 by and among the Registrant and the persons listed on Schedule 1B attached thereto. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 16, 2003 and incorporated
herein by reference.)
Form of Lock-up Agreement. (Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on May 16, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Engagement Letter dated as of February 1, 2003, by and among the Registrant and SCO Financial Group LLC. (Filed
as Exhibit 10.4 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 16, 2003 and
incorporated herein by reference.)
Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Incentive Plan. (Filed as Annex A to our
Definitive Proxy Statement, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 16, 2003 and incorporated
herein by reference.)
Common Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of August 13, 2003, by and among the Registrant and the
purchasers listed on Schedule 1 attached thereto. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on August 15, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Preferred Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated as of September 26, 2003, by and among the Registrant and
the purchasers listed on Schedule 1 attached thereto. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on September 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Form of Lock-up Agreement (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on September 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Exclusive Supply, Marketing and Distribution Agreement between Lannett Company, Inc. and the Registrant dated
August 15, 2003. (Filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 13, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Separation Agreement and General Release dated November 13, 2003 by and between Spectrum and John L.
McManus. (Filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 13, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)
Separation Agreement and General Release dated November 7, 2003 by and between Spectrum and Michael P.
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Confidential treatment has been requested for portions of this exhibit. The copy
filed herewith omits the information subject to the confidentiality request.
Omissions are designated as [Intentionally Redacted]. A complete version of the
exhibit has been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
GENERIC DRUG MARKETING AND SUPPLY AGREEMENT
THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into on the 20th day of November 2003,
BY AND BETWEEN
FDC LIMITED, a company incorporated under the provisions of the Companies
Act, 1956, having its Corporate office at 142-48 S.V. Road, Jogeshwari
(W), Mumbai 400 102, India, hereinafter referred to as "FDC", (which term
shall include its successors and permitted assigns) of the One Part;
AND
SPECTRUM PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. a corporation organized in accordance with
the laws of the State of Delaware within the United States of America,
having its principal office at 157 Technology Drive, Irvine, California,
USA 92618, hereinafter referred to as "SPECTRUM" (which term shall include
its successors and permitted assigns) of the Other Part;
A.

WHEREAS, FDC is currently involved in or intends to be involved in
the manufacture in India of the drugs mentioned in Appendix 'A', The
products detailed in the said Appendix 'A' are hereinafter
collectively referred to as "THE SAID PRODUCTS". As new products
become available, Appendix 'A' may be amended to incorporate such
new products as mutually decided by the parties.

B.

WHEREAS, Spectrum is a pharmaceutical company organized in the
United States of America ("USA") for the purposes of
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gaining regulatory approval, marketing and distributing products.
The drugs detailed in the said specific product appendix A are
hereinafter collectively referred to as "THE SAID PRODUCTS".

c)

WHEREAS, FDC desires to engage Spectrum to obtain regulatory
approval from the United States Food and Drug Administration ("FDA")
to market the said products in the USA, and to market and distribute
the said products in United States of America; (hereinafter referred
to as the "Territory").

Now THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the foregoing premises, and the
mutual covenants, stipulations, terms and conditions herein contained the
parties agree as follows:
1.

APPOINTMENT AND TERRITORIAL LIMITS

1.1

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, FDC hereby
appoints SPECTRUM as its exclusive agent/ distributor for
registration and the sale of the said-products in United States of
America and SPECTRUM agrees to exclusively register and market and
distribute the said products in United States of America in
accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. FDC
hereby grants to SPECTRUM an exclusive license to use the
Intellectual Property Rights associated with the said products to
the extent necessary for the limited purposes of obtaining
regulatory approval of the said products in United States of America
and marketing, distributing and selling the said products in United
States of America. For the purposes of this Agreement, "Intellectual
Property Rights" means, collectively, worldwide Patents, Copyrights,
Trademarks, mask work rights, trade names and all other intellectual
property rights and proprietary rights, whether arising under the
laws of the United States or any other state,
3

country or jurisdiction, including all rights or causes of action
for infringement or misappropriation of any of the foregoing. For
purposes of this Agreement: (a) "Patents" means all patent rights
and all right, title and interest in all letters patent or
equivalent rights and applications, including provisional
applications, for letters patent or rights, industrial and utility
models, industrial designs, petty patents, patents of importation,
patents of addition, certificates of invention and other government
issued or granted indicia of invention ownership, including any
reissue, extension, division, continuation or continuation-in-part
applications throughout the world; (b) "Trade Secrets" means all
right, title and interest in all trade secrets and trade secret
rights arising under common law, state law, federal law or laws of
foreign countries; (c) "Copyrights" shall mean all copyrights, and
all other literary property and authorship rights, and all right,
title, and interest in all copyrights, copyright registrations,
certificates of copyright and copyrighted interests throughout the
world; and (d) "Trademarks" means all right, title and interest in
all trademark, service mark, trade name and trade dress rights
arising under the common law, state law, federal laws and laws of
foreign countries, and all right, title, and interest in all
trademark, service mark, trade name and trade dress applications and
registrations interests throughout the world. The exclusive rights
granted to Spectrum to market the said products in United States of
America will be subject to the Non-performance Clause given in
Clause 12.3 with respect to any of the said products.
1.2

It is however agreed and clarified between the Parties hereto that
the rights of SPECTRUM to act as the agent/distributor of FDC
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shall be initially confined to the territorial limits of United
States of America and may thereafter extend to other neighboring
countries with the prior written consent of, and at the sole
discretion of FDC.

1.3

It is also agreed and clarified that FDC is free to assign its
trademark(s) to any person or party outside of United States of
America, as long as that person or party does not market or intend
to market the said product(s) carrying such trademark(s) in United
States of America.

2.

CONFIDENTIALITY

2.1

Neither Party shall disclose to any third party any Confidential
Information which was obtained from the other Party in connection
with this Agreement. This obligation of secrecy of the Confidential
Information shall not apply to information which is required to be
disclosed to governmental agencies for product registration purposes
or as may be required by applicable law or Governmental authority
having competent jurisdiction over the receiving Party. In addition,
the secrecy obligation shall expire for Confidential Information
which:
a)

is or ceases to be Confidential Information as a consequence
of authorized disclosures;

b)

was already in the possession of a Party at the time of
receipt from the disclosing Party, as shown by documentary
evidence;

c)

after the date of this Agreement is received from a third
party whose direct or indirect source is not the disclosing
party.

For the purpose of this Article, the term "CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION"
shall mean any information or data (including
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but not limited to any technical or non-technical data, and any
formula, patents, methods, processes, patterns, compilation,
programs, device or technique) that derive economic value, actual or
potential, from not being generally known to other persons.
Confidential Information would also include all information
exchanged by and between the Parties in relation to this Agreement
or otherwise marked as confidential by any Party to this Agreement.
2.2.

The Parties agree: (a) to exercise the same degree of care and
protection (but no less than a reasonable degree of care and
protection) with respect to each other's Confidential Information as
a Party would exercise with respect to its own confidential
information; and (b) except as expressly authorized by this
Agreement, or as necessary to the performance of the obligations
hereunder, not to directly or indirectly disclose, copy, transfer,
or allow access to the Confidential Information. Without limitation
to the generality of the foregoing, all persons with access to the
Confidential Information will be subject to the same restrictions
and limitations as that of the Parties to this Agreement. The
Parties shall ensure that appropriate non-disclosure undertakings
are obtained in this regard. Provided that obtaining of such
non-disclosure undertakings shall not absolve any of the Parties
hereto from any breach that may be committed by reason of a breach
by any of the persons to whom the Confidential Information has been
disclosed pursuant to this Agreement.

2.3.

The obligations contained in this Article shall survive the duration
of this Agreement and thereafter for a period of five(5) years or
until the expiration of all Patents for the said products (including
any extended term), whichever is later.

2.4.

Without prejudice to any other provision of this Agreement, the
Parties acknowledge and agree that any violation of this Article 2
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by a Party would cause the other Party irreparable injury for which
such other would have no adequate remedy at law, and that such
other Party shall be entitled to preliminary and other injunctive
relief against the defaulting Party for any such violation. Such
injunctive relief will be in addition to, and in no way a limitation
of, any and all other remedies or rights that such other Party shall
have at law or in equity.

3.

OBLIGATIONS OF FDC

3.1.

FDC hereby agrees:

a)

That it will take all reasonable care to hold and keep in force all
manufacturing licenses and permission in respect of the said
products and comply with requirements of all laws applicable to the
said products.

b)

To provide SPECTRUM, with all necessary documents required to enable
the regulatory approval of the said products by the FDA and SPECTRUM
shall render all assistance to FDC for registration of the said
products in the name of FDC. All data, information, notes,
documents, dossiers, knowledge, formulae, Intellectual Property
Rights, etc provided by FDC to Spectrum in terms of this Agreement
shall for at all times and forever remain the exclusive property of
FDC.

c)

It is clarified between the parties that all the product
registrations and the ANDA'S for the said Products in the Territory
shall be obtained by Spectrum in the name of FDC and the product
registrations for the said Products, shall for all times and forever
shall remain the sole and exclusive property of FDC, and Spectrum
shall not have any claim, right, title or interest of whatsoever in
the same.
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d)

It is hereby clarified and agreed to by and between the Parties that

the costs of such regulatory approval, incurred in the United
States, for the said products, shall be borne solely and exclusively
by SPECTRUM.
e)

To provide all technical information and documents in respect of the
said products as may be required to facilitate regulatory approval,
distribution and marketing of the said products by SPECTRUM in
United States of America. FDC will also provide to Spectrum a
protocol or method of assay of all ingredients. The stability or
shelf-life of finished products will be for a minimum of 2 years. It
is hereby clarified and agreed to by and between the Parties that
the costs of producing and providing such technical information for
the said products shall be borne solely and exclusively by FDC.

f)

To manufacture the said Products from time to time, either directly
or indirectly through any of its subsidiaries or group companies or
any other third parties in such quantities as may be required to
enable the fulfillment of the orders placed by SPECTRUM from time to
time.

g)

To maintain high standards in manufacturing the said products, and
to produce quality products as per quality specifications
established by FDC, confirming to B.P./U.S.P. Pharmaceutical
specifications.

h)

To comply with the applicable US regulations contained in 21 CFR Sections 210 and 211, to the extent the same is not contrary to
provisions of Indian law.
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(i)

To procure the raw material for the manufacture of the said products
from the suppliers whose manufacturing plants have been approved by
the FDA, as applicable.

j)

FDC will carryout all manufacturing/packaging activities in the
manufacturing facilities duly approved by the FDA, whether such
facilities be of FDC or any subsidiary, group concern or any other
person in India.

k)

Any deficiencies noted during an FDA audit, of the
manufacturing/packaging plant in India will be remedied immediately
by FDC and the total cost of such remediation shall be borne by FDC.

3.2

RECORDS AND REPORTS

a)

FDC shall ensure that all Records that may reasonably be expected to
relate to any regulatory process in the United States that may be
applicable to the said Product from time to time, or that have been
or may reasonably be expected to be used to support any regulatory
submission made by SPECTRUM in the United States or elsewhere
related to the said Product, are maintained as statutorily required,
and in any event for a period of not less than 7 years following the
completion of the applicable regulatory process, unless the parties
hereto unanimously agree otherwise.

b)

FDC agrees to provide SPECTRUM with copies of such Records required
to be maintained under Section 3.2(a) as SPECTRUM may reasonably
request from time to time. All such copies shall be delivered to
SPECTRUM within twenty-one (21) days of receipt of a request for
copies.

c)

FDC and SPECTRUM will jointly identify the drugs/products for the
US market, depending upon the manufacturing/development
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capabilities of FDC and regulatory approval and sales potential in
the US. Once the decision has been made the regulatory process for
filing ANDA will begin by both the companies. FDC will provide to
SPECTRUM all data and information related to such Product or
Products as SPECTRUM shall reasonably request that is in the
possession of FDC or to which FDC has access or rights, in order to

allow SPECTRUM to assess the Product or Products and prepare an ANDA
(Abbreviated New Drug Application).
d)

After the ANDA has been filed and before the ANDA is approved by the
FDA, FDC and SPECTRUM will agree on a price at which FDC will sell
the said Product to SPECTRUM, on terms reasonably acceptable to both
parties, which terms shall be intended to allow each party to obtain
a usual and customary profit margin from the distribution and sale
of the Products. Depending upon the competitive landscape and
pricing by other generic manufacturers flexibility in pricing will
be essential which will have to be reviewed by both companies
periodically depending upon the changes in prices for the said drug
in the market.

4.

OBLIGATIONS OF SPECTRUM

4.1.

SPECTRUM hereby agrees at its own cost:

a)

To comply with all statutory rules, regulations, drug laws and all
other government regulations affecting the importation and sale of
the said Products in United States of America.

b)

To sell/market the said products bought from FDC in accordance with
marketing rules and regulations applicable in United States of
America and for this purpose to adopt high marketing standards and
observe and comply with such reasonable marketing practices as are
common to marketing such products in United States of America by
entities of similar size to SPECTRUM. Without prejudice the
generality of the aforesaid, SPECTRUM shall in its sole
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discretion carry out the sales promotion activities and such other
activities as are necessary to distribute and market the said
products in the United States of America.

c)

To collect and store all market information and data on the sales of
the said products, including the regions and areas in which the
sales are higher/lower, the prices at which the sales are being made
and also to collect such other market data as may be reasonably
required by FDC from time to time. To provide all such market data
to FDC on a monthly basis or on such other earlier frequency as may
be mutually agreed.

d)

To store the said products in accordance with the product storage
specifications.

5.

PRODUCT WARRANTIES AND PRODUCT LIABILITY

5.1.

FDC hereby represents that the products supplied by them shall be in
compliance with the USA CGMP regulations, as defined in Title 21 CFR
parts 210 and 211. FDC represents and warrants that the products,
their packaging and labeling will not, on the date of delivery into
the U.S. be adulterated or misbranded, and will otherwise meet all
applicable specifications established by FDC, confirming to
B.P./U.S.P. Pharmaceutical specifications.

5.2.

SPECTRUM may, but will not have an obligation to, carry out such
tasks or activities as it may desire to test or verify whether the
said products delivered comply with the specifications. In the
event of SPECTRUM or its agent being of the view that the products
do not so comply with the FDA, USA requirements for any reason, then
in such an event SPECTRUM shall ensure that the products found to be
non-compliant are not sold or to the customers and FDC is
immediately notified of
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the same. Such inspection and notification shall be completed within
a reasonable time not exceeding 60 days from the date of receipt of
the said products in USA. However all such notices of
non-compliance shall be subject to verification of the same by the
representatives of FDC. FDC shall not be required to take back any

such goods, unless the same has been confirmed by an independent
laboratory mutually identified to be non-compliant. The decision of
the independent laboratory in this regard shall be final and
binding. For the purpose of making any such inspection and
examination, the representatives of SPECTRUM shall provide full and
complete co-operation to the designated representative of FDC. ALL
THE EXPENSES IN CONNECTION WITH LABORATORY TEST TO BE DONE BY THE
INDEPENDENT LABORATORY WOULD BE BORNE BY THE LOOSING PARTY. SPECTRUM
shall not be liable to make any payments to FDC with respect to
products found to be non-compliant at the time of receipt of the
goods and shall, at FDC's direction, either destroy such products or
return such products to FDC at FDC's expense.
6.

TRADEMARKS, PATENTS AND OTHER INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

6.1

FDC hereby represents and warrants that it is the owner of all
Intellectual Property Rights in respect of the said products.

6.2

In the event that any Patents, Trade Marks, Copyrights, Intellectual
Property Rights related to the said products being challenged or if
any infringement proceedings being initiated in the USA either
against SPECTRUM or FDC in respect of any of the said products, the
same shall be defended by SPECTRUM at FDC's expense. SPECTRUM shall
co-operate and provide FDC with all necessary information as may be
within SPECTRUM'S control and necessary to defend any/all such
proceedings.
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6.3

In the event of SPECTRUM perceiving any threat to any of the
Patents, Trade Marks, Copyrights or Intellectual Property Rights of
FDC or being aware of any third party infringing any of the rights
of FDC under the Patents held by FDC in respect of the
said-products, SPECTRUM shall bring the same immediately to the
attention of FDC. Thereafter, if so reasonably required by FDC,
SPECTRUM shall initiate such proceedings as may be required by FDC
to arrest any such infringements. All such proceedings shall be at
the costs of FDC. In the event that FDC is desirous of taking any
action against such infringement, then SPECTRUM shall provide all
commercially reasonable cooperation as may be required by FDC to
enable FDC to file such proceedings and obtain appropriate reliefs.

6.4.

SPECTRUM recognizes that, as between SPECTRUM and FDC, the
Trademarks and/or Copyrights, Intellectual Property Rights in the
said products as mentioned in the Appendix 'A' are the exclusive
property of FDC and/or its affiliates. SPECTRUM shall use
commercially reasonable efforts not do or cause to be done anything
whereby the rights or reputation of FDC in respect of the said
Trademarks and/or copyrights of the said products are likely to be
adversely affected.

6.5.

Without prejudice to the generality of clause 6.3 above, SPECTRUM
shall not be entitled to use the said Trademarks, copyrights or any
Intellectual Property rights, if any, in any manner whatsoever
without FDC's express permission. SPECTRUM shall also use
commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that the said Trademarks
and Copyrights on the packaging of the products imported from FDC
are not modified, obliterated or altered in any manner whatsoever.
All marketing, sale and distribution of the said products by
SPECTRUM shall be deemed to be "use" of the said Trademarks by FDC
for the purpose of applicable trademark legislation.
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6.6.

Nothing herein contained shall at any time during the term of this
Agreement or upon expiry or earlier termination thereof be deemed to
give SPECTRUM any right, claim, interest in the said Trademarks,
copyright or patent or any Intellectual Property Rights arising in
terms of this Agreement, in respect to the said products. SPECTRUM
shall not be entitled to any benefit or right in the said
Trademarks, copyright or patent as a consequence of any marketing,
sale or distribution of the said products. It is hereby expressly
agreed by and between the parties hereto that SPECTRUM shall have no

right to acquire the said Trademarks, copyright or patent from FDC
under any circumstances whatsoever by virtue of this Agreement.
6.7.

SPECTRUM shall render all commercially reasonable assistance to FDC
as may be required to ensure that the said Trademarks are duly
registered in the USA in the name of FDC.

6.8.

SPECTRUM hereby recognizes that although certain of the Trademarks
related to the said products are unregistered in the USA, as between
SPECTRUM and FDC, FDC is the owner of the said Trademarks,
copyrights or patents. In the event of SPECTRUM being aware of any
infringement of any of the trademarks, copyright or patent or any
passing off, SPECTRUM shall forthwith intimate the same to FDC.
Thereafter, if so reasonably required by FDC, SPECTRUM shall
initiate such proceedings as may be required by FDC to arrest any
such infringements or to prevent any passing off, including such
injunctive actions as may be required. All such proceedings shall be
at the costs of FDC. In the event that FDC is desirous of taking any
action against such infringement or passing off, then SPECTRUM shall
provide all commercially reasonable cooperation as may be required
by FDC to enable FDC to file appropriate proceedings and obtain
reliefs.
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7.

PLACEMENT OF ORDERS

7.1.

SPECTRUM shall place written orders with FDC for supply of the
required said products from time to time, and FDC shall deliver the
ordered said products at the times and places, and in the amounts,
specified in such written orders. FDC will require a reasonable time
of a minimum of 60 days prior estimates of the quantities sought to
be ordered to enable FDC to supply the same to SPECTRUM.

8.

PRICES

8.1.

Generic business is an extremely price sensitive business. Also the
prices of generic drugs can change rapidly due to many factors that
are beyond the control of either FDC or SPECTRUM. It is understood
that FDC will price their drugs in good faith in consultation with
SPECTRUM and in a manner that the drugs can be sold in the United
States at a reasonable profit to both the companies. Prices for the
said products to be supplied will be agreed to after the ANDA has
been filed and before the ANDA is approved by the FDA, the prices
will be at a supply price to be mutually decided between the
parties. Prior to obtaining regulatory approval of each specific
product in the USA, FDC shall supply to SPECTRUM at no cost such
quantities of such specific product as SPECTRUM shall reasonably
require in order to obtain regulatory approval of such specific
product in the USA.

8.2.

All prices as agreed to between the Parties shall be CIF (Cost,
Insurance and Freight Prices). The risk in the said goods shall
stand transferred to SPECTRUM forthwith on delivery of the goods to
the port of entry into the USA, whether landed, by sea or by air.
In the event of any loss of goods in transit, SPECTRUM shall not be
liable for payment and if such event occurs, FDC
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shall make every reasonable effort to replace the lost goods. In the
event of any loss of goods in transit subsequent to arrival at the
USA port of entry, Spectrum shall bear all costs of loss, including
the liability to pay FDC for the goods subsequent to the port of
entry into the USA.

9.

PAYMENTS

9.1.

Payments for the orders shall be made through irrevocable letters of
credit to be opened by SPECTRUM through a bank of International
repute, the branch of which bank is also operating in India, which
bank is acceptable to FDC. The letters of credit shall be opened in
favour of FDC prior to the scheduled date of shipment authorizing

payments to FDC upon presentation of the relevant documents to the
negotiating bank. The letters of credit shall be opened in favour of
FDC Limited, 142-48, S.V. Road, Jogeshwari(West), Mumbai- 400 102
The letters of credit shall be governed by the terms of UCP 500.
10.

FORCE MAJEURE

10.1

Neither Party shall be under any liability whatsoever to the other
for failure or delay in the performance of any of its obligations
hereunder where such performance becomes impractical by reason of
any event of Force Majeure (as hereinafter defined).

10.2. For purposes of this Article, the expression "Force Majeure" shall
mean war, acts of aggression, civil strife and terrorism, labour
disputes, including strikes and lockouts, accidents, acts of God,
shortages of materials, and other inputs, acts of Government,
failure of networking, viruses, or any other bugs in systems or any
matter (whether or not of the same nature as
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the foregoing) which are beyond the control of the Party affected by
such event.
10.3. In the event a Force Majeure event hinders the performance of this
Agreement by a Party, the other Party shall be entitled to suspend
the operation of this Agreement by giving written notice to the
party who is affected by the event of Force Majeure, if the
continuance of this Agreement becomes impractical by reason of such
event of Force Majeure. In the event the event of Force Majeure
does not subside for a period of sixty days after the notice for
suspension as aforesaid, the affected party may in its discretion
choose to forthwith terminate this Agreement by providing notice of
such termination in writing,
11.

ASSIGNMENT

11.1

Neither party shall without the other's prior written consent,
assign any of its rights or duties hereunder. It is however
clarified that nothing in this Agreement shall prevent any of the
parties from performing, sub-contracting any of its obligations
herein to any of its subsidiaries or group companies, provided that
the principal responsibility of performance of the terms and
conditions of this agreement remains and continues to remain on any
of the parties and all such delegation or sub-contracting is in
accordance with the other terms and conditions of this Agreement.

11.2. This Agreement shall be binding on the successors and permitted
assigns of the parties hereto.
12.

DURATION AND TERMINATION
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12.1

This Agreement shall remain in effect unless terminated by mutual
agreement of the Parties; provided, however, that each specific
product addendum may provide that this Agreement shall terminate
earlier with respect to the specific product subject to such
addendum. On termination of this Agreement each parties to the
Agreement, shall perform their obligations to the orders

12.2

This Agreement may be terminated by either party if the other party
commits a breach of any material obligation or any other material
clause or material requirement of the Agreement, and such breach is
not rectified within 30 days by the breaching party.

12.3

This Agreement may be terminated by either party on account of
non-performance by either of the other parties. Non-performance
shall be defined as:
12.3.1. United States Food and Drug Administration (USFDA) approval
not being received within two (2) years of the filing of an
application.

12.3.2. FDC not completing studies necessary and/or not providing
data necessary to file Abbreviated New Drug Applications (ANDAs) for
said products within one year of the signing of this agreement.
12.3.3. Spectrum not filing an ANDA for any said product within six
(6) months of receiving information described in section 12.3.2.
12.3.4. Revenue not being generated from the sale of any said
product within six months of the latter of the approval of the ANDA
by the USFDA for said product or the expiration of the
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patent and/or any exclusivity period for generic marketing of said
product.
12.3.5. If both the Parties mutually are unable to arrive/reach at a
supply price with respect to the said Product. If the Agreement is
terminated under this sub-section, then FDC will be prohibited from
selling the said Product within the Territory, either directly or
indirectly, for a price below the price last offered by FDC to
SPECTRUM hereunder.
13.

APPLICABLE LAW AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

13.1

In the event of any disagreement, dispute or conflict between the
Parties relating to or arising out of the provisions of this
Agreement that cannot otherwise be resolved promptly by the
management of SPECTRUM and FDC within a period of thirty days from
such date of the dispute, disagreement or conflict, the same shall
be resolved by arbitration.

13.2

Arbitration will in London as per ICC rules and will be conducted in
English Language.

14.

INDEMNIFICATION

14.1

FDC hereby indemnifies and agrees to defend, save and hold harmless
SPECTRUM and each of its officers, directors and employees, from and
against any and all Liabilities, which may be imposed upon or
incurred by SPECTRUM by reason of:
(i)

FDC's negligence or willful misconduct in connection with
their activities under this Agreement;

(ii)

FDC's breach of any of the covenants, agreements, warranties
and representations made to Spectrum under this Agreement;
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(iii) FDC's said Products not meeting the required specifications
established by FDC, confirming to B.P./U.S.P. Pharmaceutical
specifications or the requirements of any applicable law or
regulation in the territory
14.2

Spectrum hereby indemnifies and agrees to defend, save and hold
harmless FDC and each of its officers, directors and employees, from
and against any and all Liabilities which may be imposed upon or
incurred by FDC by reason of:
(i)

Spectrum's negligence or willful misconduct in connection
with their activities under this Agreement;

(ii)

Spectrum's breach of any of the covenants, agreements,
warranties and representations made to FDC under this
Agreement;

(iii) SPECTRUM'S importation, handling, storage, use, distribution,
marketing and selling the said Product in the United States of
America in violation of this Agreement or the requirements of
any applicable laws or regulations of the Territory.

14.3

For purposes of this Article 14 Liabilities means any and all
claims, actions, suits, losses, liabilities, penalties, costs,
charges and expenses (including, without limitation, attorney's
fees, expert witness fees and other costs of suit).
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MODIFICATION
This Agreement shall not be subject to modification, except by
modification in writing, signed by the parties, or their legal
agents or representatives. This Agreement may not be varied except
by written agreement duly executed by all parties hereto.
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16.

This Agreement is on a principal to principal basis. Except to the
extent herein expressly provided, neither party is an agent of the
other. The relationship created between FDC and Spectrum under this
Agreement shall be that of seller and purchaser. Except to the
extent Spectrum may act as agent for FDC in connection with the
filing and processing of one or more ANDAs as herein contemplated,
Spectrum and its Affiliates shall under no circumstances be deemed
to be agents, representatives, partners or employees of FDC.

17.

NOTICES
All notices, letters and communications between the Parties shall be
in writing. Any notices, letters or communications to be given
pursuant to this Agreement shall be given only if transmitted by
Telefax or electronic delivery subject to acknowledgement of
electronic delivery by the recipient. The notice shall be deemed to
be received only on the date of acknowledgement of electronic
delivery, on the date of transmission by Telefax if such
transmission is confirmed as having been successfully received ,or
on the date of actual delivery by an internationally known courier
service. Addresses for notice are as follows:
FOR: Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
157 Technology Drive
Irvine, CA
92618
U.S.A.
Attention: Dr. R. Shrotriya Chairman and CEO
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Telephone: (949) 743-9247
Telefax:
(949) 788-6706
Email: rshrotriya@spectrumpharm.com
FOR: FDC Limited
142-48, S.V. Road
Jogeshwari(West)
Mumbai- 400 102
India
Attention: Mr. Nandan M. Chandavarkar
Director
Telephone: (009122) 26780652
Fax.:
(009122) 26788123
Email: nandan_c@vsnl.com
jogfdc@bom3.vsnl.net.in
The parties may from time-to-time change their designated addresses,
telephone numbers and person/s to whom notice should be sent, by
sending to the other party a notice in accordance with the above
sub-paragraph.
[Signature Page Follows]
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Appendix A

[Intentionally Redacted]
[Intentionally Redacted]
[Intentionally Redacted]
[Intentionally Redacted] Certain information on this page has been omitted and
filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Confidential
treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have signed this Agreement on the date
set forth below.
For and on behalf of FDC
By: /s/ M.A. Chandavarkar
-----------------------------------M.A. Chandavarkar, Managing Director
Date: November 20th, 2003
Place: Mumbai, India
For and on behalf of Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc
By: /s/ Rajesh Shrotriya
-----------------------------------Rajesh Shrotriya, Chief Executive Officer
Date: November 20th, 2003
Place: Irvine, California, U.S.A

EXHIBIT 10.45
EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
THIS EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is made and entered
into as of October 22, 2001 by and between, Dr. Luigi Lenaz, currently residing
at 11 Planetree Court, Newton, Pennsylvania 18940 (hereinafter referred to as
"Executive"), and NeoTherapeutics, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as
"Corporation").
WHEREAS:
A.

The Corporation is a corporation organized under the laws of
the State of Delaware, and is engaged in the business of
developing and manufacturing pharmaceutical products and
services ; and

B.

Executive is a person whose skills, experience and training
are required by the Corporation; and

C.

Executive wishes to accept the employment offered by the
Corporation on the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.

NOW THEREFORE, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, do
hereby agree as follows:
1.

EMPLOYMENT
1.1

Position and Duties

The Corporation does hereby employ Executive and
Executive hereby accepts such employment as Vice President
Oncology Division of the Corporation upon the terms and
provisions set forth in this Agreement. Executive shall report
to the President and Chief Operating Officer of the
Corporation subject to the directions of the President and
Chief Operating Officer. Executive shall devote his full
working time and effort to the business and affairs of the
Corporation as necessary to faithfully discharge the duties
and responsibilities of his office.
Executive may participate in other business and act
as a director of any profit or nonprofit corporation, so long
as such activity is not competitive with the business of the
Corporation in any material respect and does not materially
detract from the performance of his duties as a full time
executive of the Corporation.
2.

TERM

This Agreement shall continue in full force and effective for
a period (the "Term") which shall commence as of October 22, 2001 (the
"effective date") and shall continue until July 1, 2003 unless sooner
terminated as hereafter provided. Thereafter, this Agreement will
automatically renew for one (1) year periods, unless either party

gives to the other written notice at least ninety (90) days prior to
the commencement of the next year, of such party's intent not to renew
this Agreement.
3.

COMPENSATION
3.1

Base Salary

As compensation for the services to be performed by
Executive during the continuance of this Agreement, the
Corporation shall pay Executive a base salary of not less than
$200,000 per year for each year of his employment hereunder,
payable in accordance with Corporation practices in effect
from time to time, but not less often than monthly (the "Base
Salary"). Base Salary shall be payable in substantially equal
installments and reduced on a pro rata basis for any fraction

of a year or month during which Executive is not so employed.
3.2

Bonus

The Board of Directors of the Corporation may, at its
sole discretion, award bonuses of cash or stock from time to
time. Any such Bonus earned by Executive shall be paid at
least annually within ninety (90) days after the conclusion of
the Corporation's fiscal year or, upon mutual agreement of the
parties, in another fashion.
3.3

Additional Benefits

Executive shall be entitled to all rights and
benefits for which Executive is otherwise entitled under any
pension plan, profit sharing plan, life, medical, dental, or
benefit the Corporation may provide for senior executives
generally and for employees of the Corporation generally from
time to time in effect during the term of this Agreement
(collectively, "Additional Benefits"). Executive shall receive
participation in the Executive Medical Plan and shall commence
such participation immediately.
3.4

Stock Options

As an additional element of compensation to Executive
in consideration of the services to be rendered hereunder,
Employer shall grant to Executive options to acquire shares of
Corporation's common stock at the sole discretion of the Board
of Directors as follows:
(A) The specific terms of stock options
awarded to Executives shall be as set forth in the
separate option agreements. To the extent that
Corporation does not have available options in its
option plans to grant to Executive as contractually
committed herein above, Corporation agrees to amend
its plans and/or adopt new plans as promptly as
possible to provide sufficient options for such
option grants. Corporation shall use its best
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efforts to prepare and submit for approval by its
directors and its stockholders at the 2002 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders a new option plan which would
provide sufficient options to allow Corporation to
meet its contractual obligations to Executive herein
and to provide for potential grants of stock options
to other key employees.
(B) Executive shall be considered for
additional grants of options, SAR's, phantom stock
rights and any similar option or securities
compensation when and as such grants are considered
for other executives or employees of the Corporation,
but any grant is wholly at the discretion of the
Board.
(C) For all purposes of this Agreement, a
"change of control" shall mean and shall be deemed to
have occurred if:
(1) There shall be consummated (x)
any consolidation or merger of the
Corporation with another corporation or
entity and as a result of such consolidation
or merger, a majority of the outstanding
voting securities of the surviving or
resulting corporation or entity shall be
owned in the aggregate by persons who were
not stockholders of the Corporation prior to
the merger or consolidation (excluding the
affiliates of the acquiror who acquired

their shares within one hundred eighty (180)
days prior to such merger or transfer (or in
one transaction or a series of related
transactions) of all, or substantially all,
of the assets of the Corporation, or
(2) The stockholders of the
Corporation shall have approved any plan or
proposal for the liquidation or dissolution
of the Corporation; or
(3) Any "person" (as such term is
used in the Sections 13(d) and 14 (d) (2) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934), shall
have become the beneficial owner (within the
meaning of Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange
Act) of forty percent (40%) or more of the
Corporation's outstanding common stock,
without the prior approval of the Board, or
(4) During any period of two (2)
consecutive years, individuals who at the
beginning of such period constituted the
entire Board of Directors shall have ceased
for any reason to constitute a majority
thereof unless the election, or the
nomination for election by the Corporation's
stockholders, of each new Director was
approved by vote of the Directors then still
in office who were Directors at the
beginning of the period.
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(D) Retirement of Executive
Any options held by Executive will
become fully vested at the time that
Executive terminates employment due to his
retirement. Retirement is defined as the
voluntary termination of employment by the
Executive as a result of the Executive
having reached age 65, or, subsequent to
thereto, voluntarily terminates his
employment.
3.5

Periodic Review

The Corporation shall review Executive's Base Salary
bonus, Stock Options, and Additional Benefits then being
provided to Executive not less frequently than every twelve
(12) months. Following such review, the Corporation may, in
its discretion, increase the Base Salary, award a Bonus, grant
Stock Options and Additional Benefits.
3.6

Reimbursements
3.6.1 General. Subject to approval of
his/her superior, Executives shall be promptly
reimbursed by the Corporation for amounts actually
expended by Executive in the course of performing
duties for the Corporation where Executive tenders
receipts or other documentation reasonably
substantiating the amounts as required by the
Corporation. As a condition of employment hereunder,
Executive shall entertain business prospects, provide
and maintain an appropriate automobile, maintain and
improve Executive's professional skills by
participating in continuing education courses and
seminars, and maintain memberships in civic groups
and professional societies and Corporation agrees to
reimburse Executive therefore consistent with
criteria under the Internal Revenue Code, subject to
approval by their superior.

3.6.2 Business Expenses. During the term of
this Agreement to the extent that such expenditures
satisfy the criteria under the Internal Revenue Code
for deductibility by the Corporation (whether or not
fully deductible by the Corporation) for federal
income tax purposes as ordinary and necessary
business expenses, Corporation agrees to and shall
reimburse Executive promptly for all reasonable
business expenditures including travel,
entertainment, parking, business meetings,
professional dues and the costs of and dues
associated with maintaining club memberships and
expenses of education, made or substantiated in
accordance with policies, practices and procedures
established from time to time by the Corporation
generally with respect to other senior
executives/managers and other employees of the
Corporation and incurred in the pursuit and
furtherance of the Corporation's business and good
will.
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3.6.3 Travel. In connection with any travel
by Executive in the performance of his duties
hereunder, Corporation shall advance to Executive an
amount equivalent to the reasonable and necessary
expenses of such travel and appropriate to
Executive's position in Corporation pursuant to the
policies and procedures established for this purpose
by this Corporation.
3.6.4 Entertainment. Executive shall be
expected to entertain those with whom the Corporation
conducts business both at Executives' home and at
public restaurants, theatres, etc. The Corporation
shall pay Executive for or promptly reimburse
Executive for the reasonable and necessary costs of
such entertainment.
3.7

Deductions

There shall be deducted from Executive's gross
compensation appropriate amounts for standard employee
deductions (e.g., income tax withholding, social security and
state disability insurance) and any other amounts authorized
for deduction by Executive.
4.

VACATION

Executive shall be entitled to not less than four weeks per
year of paid vacation for each twelve (12) month period of employment
which shall accrue on a pro rata basis from the date employment
commences under this Agreement. Subject to the foregoing minimum
vacation, Executive shall be entitled to paid vacation, holidays and
leave time in accordance with the plans, policies, programs and
practices in effect generally with respect to other senior employees of
the Corporation. Executive shall not forfeit or cease to accrue any
paid vacation, if he is unable to or does not use it, in any year or
period of years during the term hereof, or any extensions thereof.
5.

INDEMNIFICATION

The Corporation shall, to the maximum extent permitted by law,
indemnify and hold Executive harmless from and against any expenses,
including reasonable attorney's fees, judgements, fines, settlements
and other amounts actually and reasonably incurred in connection with
any proceeding arising out of, or related to, Executive's employment by
the Corporation. The Corporation shall advance to Executive any
expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of settlement,
reasonably incurred in defending any such proceeding to the maximum
extent permitted by law. The Corporation will include Executive under
all directors' and officers' liability insurance policies and will use

its best efforts to maintain existing coverage levels, assuming
continuation of insurance availability at commercially reasonable
rates.
6.

TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT
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Employment shall terminate upon the occurrence of any of the
following events:
6.1

Expiration of Term

Upon at least ninety (90) days prior written notice
by Corporation to Executive terminating this Agreement prior
to the expiration of the original term or an extended term as
specified in Section 2; upon such termination, Executive shall
be entitled to the compensation provided in paragraph 6.4
payable as provided therein.
6.2

Mutual Agreement

Whenever the Corporation and Executive mutually agree
in writing to termination;
6.3

Termination for Cause

At any time for cause. For purposes of this
Agreement,"cause" shall be defined as any of the following,
provided however, that the board of directors of the
Corporation by a duly adopted resolution has determined the
presence of such cause in good faith: (i) Executive's material
breach of any of his duties and responsibilities under this
Agreement (other than as a result of incapacity due to
disability); (ii) Executive's conviction by, or entry of a
plea of guilty in, a court of competent jurisdiction for a
felony; or, (iii) Executive's commission of an act of fraud or
willful misconduct or gross negligence in the performance of
his duties
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Executive shall not be
terminated for "cause pursuant to the clauses above, unless
and until Executive has received notice of the proposed
termination for cause including details on the bases for such
termination and has had an opportunity to be heard before at
least a majority of members of the board of directors of the
Corporation. Executive shall be deemed to have had such an
opportunity if written or telephonic notice is given at least
ten (10) days in advance of a meeting.
6.4

Termination Without Cause

Without cause. Notwithstanding any other provision of
this section, the Corporation shall have the right to
terminate Executive's employment with the Corporation without
cause at any time, but any such termination shall be without
prejudice to Executive's rights to receive Base Salary and
Additional Benefits provided; under this Agreement for the
greater of two (2) years or the remaining term, as set forth
in paragraph 2 above, of this Agreement and, except as
provided in the proviso below, Executive shall be vested in
all options granted to him, and shall have one (1) month for
each month of Executive's tenure, with a minimum of six (6)
months and a maximum of one (1) year, to exercise all vested
options; provided, further, if the Board determines that
Executive's employment is being
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terminated for the reason that the shared expectations of
Executive and the Board are not being met; in the Board's
judgement, then Executive's vesting as shall occur during a
period following the date of termination of Executive's

employment equal to the number of months of Executive's tenure
with the Corporation, with a minimum of six (6) months and a
maximum of one (1) year, with the right to exercise for the
same period plus thirty (30) days. The continued vesting and
exercise rights relative to all options granted to Executive
shall be subject to the same limitations as set forth in the
immediately preceding sentence. If Executive is terminated
without cause, Executive may elect to receive a lump sum
payment representing the aggregate cash compensation
(including salary, bonus, auto allowance and any other cash or
equivalent compensation, other than continued vacation
accrual). Such lump sum payment shall be made not later than
ten (10) days after Executive makes such election. In the
event of such lump sum election, all insurance and other
noncash benefits shall cease.
6.5

Death/Disability

The death or disability of Executive. For the
purposes of this Agreement, disability shall mean the absence
of Executive performing Executive's duties with the
Corporation on a full time basis for a period of six (6)
consecutive months, as a result of incapacity due to mental or
physical illness which is determined to be total and permanent
by a physician selected by the Corporation or its insurers and
reasonably acceptable to Executive or Executive's legal
representative. If Executive shall become disabled,
Executive's employment may be terminated; by written notice to
Executive. In the event of the death of Executive, all
compensation hereunder shall be paid based on value at time of
death.
6.6

By Executive Without Cause

By Executive at any time upon ninety (90) days'
notice to Corporation. Executive shall not be entitled to any
severance in the event of such a termination.
7.

CHANGE OF CONTROL

If there should occur a "change of control" of the Corporation
(or any successor), as defined in paragraph 3.4 (C) hereof, and
Executive's employment is terminated (other than by Executive) or
Executive is adversely affected in terms of overall compensation,
benefits, title, authority, reports reporting relationships, location
of employment or similar matters, then Executive, without limitation on
any other rights hereunder, may, within six (6) months after receiving
notice of such event, elect to resign from full time service to the
Corporation. In the event of such election by Executive, Executive
shall be provided with senior executive outplacement services at an
outplacement or executive search firm of Executive's selection (and
reasonably acceptable to Corporation), and the cash compensation and
all benefits to which Executive is entitled hereunder shall be
discontinued twenty-four (24) months after the date of election (or
earlier, if a lump sum payment of cash compensation is specified).
Executive, at his election, shall have the
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right to request and, if requested, shall be paid the full cash value
of all amounts of cash compensation due for the 24-month period
(including salary, approved bonus, auto allowance, and any other cash
or equivalent compensation) in a lump sum, such lump sum payment shall
be made not later than ten (10) days after Executive gives notice to
the Corporation of his lump sum election. In the event of such
election, all insurance and noncash benefits shall cease. All options
granted to Executive shall vest to the extent provided in paragraph 6.4
above. In addition, if an acquirer of 100% of the Corporation stock is
itself a publicly held company, the Corporation shall make reasonable
efforts to negotiate that Executive shall have the right, but not the
obligation, to convert all his Corporation vested options into options
on the acquirer's stock and shall have two (2) years to exercise those
options, but Corporation shall have no obligation to Executive if it
fails to secure such rights or concludes that pursuing such rights

would materially prejudice the interest of the stockholders of the
Corporation.
8.

BREAKUP AND DISPOSITION OF CORPORATION ASSETS

If within the first year of Executive's employment, the Board
determines to maximize stockholder value through disposition of a
significant amount of assets or business units of the Corporation,
Executive shall assist Corporation through such disposition and shall
thereafter be entitled to terminate this Agreement within six (6)
months of such event (completion of such disposition) and receive all
benefits provided under section 6.4 hereof. As used herein, the term
"significant amount of assets or business units of the Corporation"
shall mean either fifty percent (50%) or more of the gross revenues of
Corporation or, in the absence of gross revenues, 50% of the gross
assets of the Corporation including intellectual properties, as
determined by an independent appraisal, or fifty percent (50%) or more
of the operating income by excluding losses from business units of the
Corporation which are operating at a loss.)
9.

BUSINESS DISCLOSURES AND SOLICITATION OF EMPLOYEES

Executive agrees during the term of his employment by the
Corporation and thereafter that he will not disclose, other than to an
authorized employee, officer, director or agent of the Corporation, any
information relating to the Corporation's business, trade, practices,
trade secrets or know-how or proprietary information without the
Corporation's prior express written consent. Following termination of
Executive's employment, Executive shall be permitted to continue in his
usual occupation and shall not be prohibited from competing with the
Corporation except during the two (2) year severance period and in the
specific industry market segments in which the Corporation competes and
which represent twenty percent (20%) or more of its revenues. Executive
agrees that for a period of one (1) year following the termination of
Executive's employment with the Corporation for any reason, Executive
shall not directly or indirectly solicit, induce, recruit or encourage
any of the Corporation's employees to leave their employment or take
away such employees to leave their employment or take away such
employees or attempts to solicit, induce, recruit, encourage or take
away employees of the Corporation.
10. MISCELLANEOUS
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10.1

Arbitration

Any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of or
in respect of this Agreement (or its validity, interpretation
or enforcement), the employment relationship or the subject
matter hereof shall, at the request of either party, be
settled by binding arbitration in Orange County, California in
accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the
American Arbitration Association and judgement upon the award
rendered by the arbitrator(s) may be entered in any court
having jurisdiction thereof. The parties shall have rights to
discovery as provided in section 1283.05 of the California
Code of Civil Procedure. The prevailing party in any such
matter shall recover all of its costs and expenses, including
reasonable attorney's fees.
10.2

No Third-Party Beneficiaries

This Agreement shall not confer any rights or
remedies upon any person other than the parties and their
respective successors and permitted assigns.
10.3

Entire Agreement

This Agreement (including the documents referred to
herein) constitutes the entire agreement between the parties
and supersedes any prior understandings, agreements, or
representations between the parties, written or oral, to the
extent they have related in any way to the subject matter

hereof.
10.4

Succession and Assignment

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the
benefit of the parties named herein and their respective
successors and permitted assigns. No party may assign either
the Agreement or any of his or its rights, interests, or
obligations hereunder without the prior written approval of
the Corporation and Executive; provided, however, that the
Corporation may (i) assign any or all of its rights and
interests hereunder to one or more of its affiliates and (ii)
designate one or more of its affiliates to perform its
obligations hereunder (in any or all of which cases the
Corporation nonetheless shall remain responsible for the
performance of all of its obligations hereunder).
10.5

Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in one or more
Counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but
all of which together will constitute one and the same
instrument.
10.6

Headings
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The section headings contained in this Agreement are
inserted for convenience only and shall not affect in any way
the meaning or interpretation of this agreement.
10.7

Notices

All notices, requests, demands, claims, and other
communications required or permitted hereunder will be in
writing. Any notice, request, demand, claim, or other
communication hereunder shall be deemed duly given if (and
then two business days after) it is sent by registered or
certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, and
addressed to the intended recipient as set forth below:
If to Corporation:
NEOTHERAPEUTICS, INC.
157 TECHNOLOGY DRIVE
IRVINE, CA 92618
If to Executive:
LUIGI LENAZ, M.D.
11 PLANETREE COURT
NEWTON, PA 18940
Any party may send any notice, request, demand,
claim, or other communication hereunder to the intended
recipient at the address set forth above using any other means
(including personal delivery, expedited courier, messenger
service, telecopy, telex, ordinary mail, or electronic mail),
but no such notice, request, demand, claim, or other
communication shall be deemed to have been duly given unless
and until it actually is received by the intended recipient.
Any party may change the address to which notices, requests,
demands, claims, and other communications hereunder are to be
delivered by giving notice in the manner herein set forth.
10.8

Governing Law

This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed
and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of
California without giving effect to any choice or conflict of
law provision or rule (whether of the State of California or
any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of
the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of

California.
10.9

Amendments and Waivers

No amendment of any provision of this Agreement shall
be valid unless the same shall be in writing and signed by
Corporation and the Executive. No waiver by any party of any
default, misrepresentation, or breach of warranty or convenant
hereunder, whether intentional or not, shall be deemed to
extend to any prior or subsequent default, misrepresentation,
or breach of warranty or convenant
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hereunder or affect in any way any rights arising by virtue of
any prior or subsequent such occurrence.
10.10

Severability

Any term or provision of this Agreement that is
invalid or unenforceable in any situation in any jurisdiction
shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the
remaining terms and provisions hereof or the validity or
enforceability of the offending term or provision in any other
situation or in any other jurisdiction.
IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as
of the date first above written.
"CORPORATION"
By: /s/ ALVIN J. GLASKY
----------------------------------Alvin J. Glasky, Ph.D.
Its:

Chief Executive Officer

"EXECUTIVE"
By: /s/ LUIGI LENAZ
----------------------------------Luigi Lenaz, M.D.
Title: Vice President Oncology Division
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EXHIBIT 21
SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT

SUBSIDIARY NAME
---------------

INCORPORATION
-------------

DATE
----

Spectrum Pharmaceuticals GmbH

Switzerland

04/26/97

NeoGene Technologies, Inc.

California

10/01/99

NeoJB LLC

Delaware

4/3/02

EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
As independent public accountants, we hereby consent to the incorporation by
reference into the Company's previously filed Registration Statements on Form
S-3 (Nos. 333-110103, 333-108658, 333-105814, 333-102587, 333-64444, 333-64432,
333-60966, 333-53108, 333-51388, 333-42852, 333-38710, 333-37180, 333-92855,
333-73009, 333-52331, 333-37585) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-106427, 333-54246,
333-30345, 333-30321), of our report dated March 22, 2004, included in Spectrum
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.'s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003.
/s/ Kelly & Company
Kelly & Company
Costa Mesa, California
March 26, 2004

EXHIBIT 23.2

INFORMATION REGARDING CONSENT OF ARTHUR ANDERSON LLP
Section 11(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (Securities
Act), provides that if part of a registration statement at the time it becomes
effective contains an untrue statement of a material fact, or omits a material
fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein
not misleading, any person acquiring a security pursuant to such registration
statement (unless it is proved that at the time of such acquisition such person
knew of such untruth or omission) may assert a claim against, among others, an
accountant who has consented to be named as having certified any part of the
registration statement or as having prepared any report for use in connection
with the registration statement.
In 2002, Arthur Anderson LLP (Anderson) ceased practicing before the
Securities and Exchange Commission (Commission), as a result, we have been
unable to obtain Anderson's written consent to the incorporation by reference
into the Company's previously filed Registration Statements on Form S-3 (Nos.
333-110103, 333-108658, 333-105814, 333-102587, 333-64444, 333-64432,
333-60966, 333-53108, 333-51388, 333-42852, 333-38710, 333-37180, 333-92855,
333-73009, 333-52331, 333-37585) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-106427, 333-54246,
333-30345, 333-30321) of Anderson's audit report with respect to Spectrum
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.'s consolidated financial statements as of December 31,
2001 and for the year ended December 31, 2001. Under these circumstances, Rule
437a under the Securities Act permits us to file this Annual Report on Form
10-K, which is incorporated by reference into the Registration Statements,
without a written consent from Anderson. As a result, with respect to
transactions in our securities pursuant to the Registration Statements that
occur subsequent to the date this Annual Report on Form 10-K is filed with the
Commission, Anderson will not have any liability under Section 11(a) of the
Securities Act for any untrue statements of a material fact contained in the
financial statements audited by Anderson or any omissions of a material fact
required to be stated therein. Accordingly, you would be unable to assert a
claim against Anderson under Section 11(a) of the Securities Act.

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
I, Rajesh C. Shrotriya, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Spectrum
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial
information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for
establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the
registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused
such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

b)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure
controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

c)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed,
based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the
design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management
or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 29, 2004
-------------/s/ RAJESH C. SHROTRIYA

--------------------------------------------------------Rajesh C. Shrotriya, M.D.
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF VICE PRESIDENT FINANCE
I, Shyam K. Kumaria, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Spectrum
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial
information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I am responsible for
establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the
registrant and have:
a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused
such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure
controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and
c)

5.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed,
based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the
design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management
or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 29, 2004
--------------/s/ SHYAM K. KUMARIA
-----------------------------------------Shyam K. Kumaria
Vice President Finance
(Principal Financial Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as created by Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Spectrum
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), hereby
certifies, to such officer's knowledge, that:
(i) the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of the
Company for the year ended December 31, 2003 (the "Report") fully complies with
the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents,
in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

Dated:

March 29, 2004
--------------

/s/ RAJESH C. SHROTRIYA
-------------------------------------------Rajesh C. Shrotriya, M.D.
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President

EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF VICE PRESIDENT FINANCE
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as created by Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Spectrum
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "Company"), hereby certifies, to such officer's
knowledge, that:
(i)
the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of the
Company for the year ended December 31, 2003 (the "Report") fully complies with
the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(ii)
the information contained in the Report fairly presents,
in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

Dated:

March 29, 2004

/s/ SHYAM K. KUMARIA
-------------------------------Shyam K. Kumaria
Vice President Finance

